
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Community Advisory Committee 
Meeting Packet 

 

FOR 
 

April 2, 2015 
At 6:30 PM 

 
 
 

Sherwood Police Facility 
20495 SW Borchers Drive 

Sherwood, Oregon 

 
 

 

 



 

 

Meeting documents may be found online at www.sherwoodoregon.gov/sherwoodwest  
or by contacting the Planning Department at 503-925-2308. 

 
City of Sherwood 

SHERWOOD WEST PRE-CONCEPT PLAN COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
City of Sherwood Police Facility 

20495 SW Borchers Drive 
Sherwood, OR 97140 

 

April 2, 2015 
6:30 – 8:30 PM 

 

AGENDA 

1. Welcome and Announcements 

2. Revised Community Advisory Committee (CAC) Charter  

3. Revised Public Involvement Plan 

4. Updated Existing Conditions 

5. Buildable Lands Inventory and Housing Needs Analysis 

6. Preliminary Draft Evaluation Criteria 

7. Public Comments 

8. Closing Comments (CAC) 

9. Adjourn 

1



 
  

Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan 

Community Advisory Committee Meeting #1 

February 5, 2015 

6:30-8:30 pm 

 

DRAFT MEETING SUMMARY 

 

Members Present 

Patrick Allen 

Hella Betts 

Anthony Bevel 

Dennis Christen 

Nathan Claus 

Tom Day 

Kennedy Hawkins 

Marney Jett 

Jon Kurahara 

Marvin Mandel 

Diann Mathews 

Rick Pannell 

Sally Robinson 

Jean Simson 

John Wyland 

 

Excused Absenses 

Patrick Franco Ida Wilks 

 

Staff Present 

Brad Kilby, Planning Manager 

Connie Randall, Associate Planner 

Bob Galati, City Engineer 

Kirstin Greene, Consultant Team 

Martin Glastra van Loon, Consultant Team 

Anais Mathez, Consultant Team 

 

 

Conversation summarized by agenda item or topic area. 

 

Welcome / Introductions 

 

Brad Kilby welcomed participants to the Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan project. He 

introduced himself as the City project manager, Kirstin Greene as the lead consultant from Cogan 

Owens Greene, and Connie Randall as the deputy project manager. He then introduced the Planning 

Commission Chair, Jean Simson, and the Council Liaison, Sally Robinson who both have agreed to 

serve on the Community Advisory Committee, and to help be project liaisons to their respective 

bodies. 

 

Kirstin asked for brief round of introductions and asked CAC members also to answer the 

foundational question - As we plan for the future, what do we value about Sherwood today?  

 

Values Responses 

 

 Sally Robinson: I live on “this side of town,” and am excited to be here at this school. What is 

most important about the City of Sherwood is family, and how the city supports families. 

Please reach out to your neighbors and bring back any thoughts or ideas. 

 Tom Day: I also live on this side of town, having moved out here from Beaverton 4 years ago. 

I wanted a bit of land for my family and grandkids. I like this area and came out here 

because of farming activities, and my wife loves to garden. Plus, it’s not too far from the city. 

2



2 
 

 Nathan Claus: I’m currently a student at PSU and an accounting major. I’ve lived in the same 

house in Sherwood for all 20 years of my life. 

 Dennis Christen: I have had the property directly the road from here for 60 years. I love living 

and working with my neighbors. 

 Anthony Bevel: As a kid, I moved around a lot because my dad was in the military. I finally 

landed here about 17 years ago, and feel like I have a place to call home. I would like to 

contribute to something I call home. 

 John Wyland: I’m in the real estate industry. I love the community feel of Sherwood, and 

while it’s in close to proximity to the city, it still has a great rural aspect. 

 Jean Simson: In 1991 I moved to Sherwood because my best friend lived here and it was a 

great, small community. I love the livability of a small community. I moved away for a short 

while but then came back here in 1998. I’m excited to be involved in a community process 

like this. 

 Marvin Mandel: I’ve been here for about 51 years. There is a lot of history and heritage here, 

and I like the closeness of the community.  

 Jon Kurahara: I moved here in 1996. There is a great sense of community here, even as the 

city has grown. Part of not having lost that community feel might be due to the natural 

boundaries. It’s great to see the same people and same kids here. 

 Rick Pannell: My family moved here less than 2 years ago. I live in the Sherwood West area. 

One of the things that attracted us to the community was the schools, as we have four 

daughters. The education here is great.  

 Diann Matthews: My family has been here in 100 years. We have a strong heritage here. 

 Marney Jett: I’m on the parks and recreation board. I moved here about 9 years ago, and 

also have two kids in the school system. I feel great about the education here. 

 Kennedy Hawkins: I’ve lived here since 1996, and over the years I’ve bought three homes all 

within a few minutes of each other. I like the community and family feel here. For me it’s 

about livability. When you hear that someone lives in Sherwood, you think, “wow, that’s a 

great community!” I want to make sure we keep that. 

 Patrick Allen: I represent the school board, and have lived in the far south end for about 17 

years. We have 7 great schools. There is a certain distinctness of this place, as opposed to 

other places like Beaverton or Tigard. 

 

All CAC meetings are open to the public. Kirstin invited members of the community who were 

observing the meeting also to introduce themselves.  

 

 

Community Advisory Committee (CAC) Charter  

 

As a first order of business, Kirstin asked CAC members to review the proposed charter for their work 

together. Notes from this discussion include: 

1. The Committee is still waiting on an appointment from Washington County 

2. The Committee would like to strive for consensus over issues, instead of defaulting to a 

vote 

3. The Committee should work to refrain from revisiting discussions that have already 

passed. 

 

Questions and Commentary: 

 Nathan Claus asked what happens if the CAC must replace a member. Brad replied that the 

City will revisit the pool of applicants and the nominating committee (City Councilor, Planning 

Commission and project manager) would appoint a qualified replacement. .  

3



3 
 

 Marney Jett asked whether members who represent a board, like schools or parks and 

recreation, can send in another board member if a meeting will be missed. Kirstin responded 

that a member can send someone in, but that the sub should refer to the member when 

weighing in on a decision.CAC members are encouraged to try to make all meetings. 

 

 

Project Overview and Regulatory Context  

 

Kirstin noted that all planning processes in Oregon are required to abide by federal, state, regional 

and local regulations.  

 

Federal regulations include those governing clean air and water, civil rights, fair housing, and 

endangered species.  

 

State goals include particularly Goal 1 (citizen involvement), 2 (land use planning), 5 (Natural 

Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Spaces), 7 (Natural Hazards), 8 (Recreational 

Needs), 9 (Economic Development), 10 (Housing), 11 (Public Facilities), 12 (Transportation) and 14 

(Urbanization). Metro’s 2040 Functional Urban Growth Plan and the Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) 

associated with Goal 10. At the local level, Kirstin noted the City’s Comprehensive Plan and zoning 

code. 

 

Kirstin reminded the CAC that this is a 50-year long-range plan covering Sherwood’s designated 

urban reserves. She described the several steps between pre-concept planning and development of 

land.  

 

Brad mentioned that this process is working within the context of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, 

which is in the process of an update from its 1991 version. He highlights that this process will not 

get to the level of zoning. Instead, the hope is to look at where development would make most 

sense, if it does at all. The HNA is a snapshot of what types of housing exists in the community, and 

how this might grow in the future. Brad reminded the CAC that every six years, the community must 

revisit the decision to bring in land to the City of Sherwood, and whether the city grows up or out. 

  

Questions and Commentary: 

 Dennis Christen asked when Metro will do its next urban growth report, to which Brad replies 

2020.  

 Patrick Allen asked what the Committee’s output or deliverable will be from this process, 

given that zoning will not be included, and whether they will be informed by financial 

constraints. Brad replied that while no land use maps will come out of this, a map of the 

phasing process would be useful in helping inform decision makers which areas should be 

brought in. This would be followed up with a refinement plan. 

 Jon Kurahara asked if the City was one of the communities that was questioning Metro’s 

latest report on urban reserves, and whether the City is going to take an official stance on 

Metro’s report on urban reserves, given the failed annexation of the Brookman area. Kirstin 

responded by referencing Damascus, and how there was a lack of political will to finance or 

govern all the acreage that was brought in. She underlined that the purpose of the 

preliminary concept plan is to help inform if, how and where land should be incorporated. 

 

 

 

 

 

4



4 
 

Public Involvement Plan 

 

Kirstin reviewed the plan section by section. She reminded the CAC that the Planning Commission 

will conduct public hearings on the plan, and that the CAC’s role is advisory - to help inform the 

plan’s creation per the charter. 

 

The following activities are highlighted: 

 A graphic identity and city website has been created 

 A web-based engagement platform called MindMixer will be launched shortly 

 A list of interested parties will be maintained 

 A short informational video has been created, to which this should be shared widely 

 Three traditional public meetings will be held, with an interactive workshop component 

 Community members are welcome to host “Community Conversation” discussion groups. 

 

Commentary/Questions: 

 

 Patrick notes that there should be a discussion about how to measure the success of the 

public involvement plan. He mentioned that now is the time to define any aspirational goals 

 Jean asked if TAC meetings are open to the public, or where information about those 

meetings can be obtained. She also mentioned that a great way to get youth involved is to 

provide handouts to the kids on Friday afternoons, when they go home with weekly 

announcements. Kirstin responded that TAC meetings, while open to the community, do not 

have room for public comment. TAC meeting summaries and dates will be posted promptly. 

Kirstin suggested exploring the option of having teachers host a charette with their students 

 Patrick asked about social media, noting that it would be fairly easy to build a simple 

facebook page. Kirstin said they will make that change to the plan, and include a note about 

utilizing existing social media to promote this process. 

 Anthony Bevel suggests handing out flyers in front of supermarkets. Kirstin agrees, adding 

opportunities such as fairs and events. 

 

Kirstin reviewed the project timeline and schedule. She noted that findings from the citywide 

Housing Needs Analysis (HNA) will be brought at the second meeting, and that the implementation 

task will pertain to financing and feasibility. The planning process is set to wrap up in December. 

 

Rick Pannell asks when the next meeting will be held. Kirstin responded that they will set the dates 

and send out an outlook calendar invite. 

 

Anthony Bevel asked if a different room could be arranged next time. Kirstin agreed with this, as the 

room’s acoustics were not conducive to conversation. Jean Simson suggested the police station as 

another option, and Anthony Bevel suggested the community center. 

 

Nathan Claus asked if the public workshops are part of the CAC meetings, and whether CAC 

members are in charge of writing articles for news outlets. Kirstin responded that workshops would 

be separate from CAC meetings, and that staff will be responsible for interacting with the media. 

While media is a city-led task, she welcomed suggestions for newsletters. 

 

Before calling a five minute break, Kirstin announced that the CAC should expect meeting packet 

materials a minimum of one week in advance, and made another call to promote the informational 

video.  

 

 

5



5 
 

Existing Conditions 

 

Martin Glastra van Loon, from Otak, presented on the City of Sherwood’s existing conditions. Martin 

began his presentation by showing a map of Sherwood in the 1950s. He walked the CAC through a 

series of historic growth maps, pointing out important natural features and the orientation of the 

town around the railroad. He highlights the population growth by decade. He noted that the maps are 

showing 125 years of growth, but that the small town character was still the City’s descriptor, which 

highlights the dimensions of scale and time. 

 

Quarter-mile radii are presented to show neighborhood nodes. The City of Sherwood encompasses a 

1-mile radius, and the incorporation of Sherwood West would extend that radius to 1.5 miles. Martin 

compared this to other similar cities in the region in order to help illustrate the context. 

 

 Rick Pannell asked how the quarter mile neighborhood circles were determined. Martin 

replied that they generally follow contours and streams, but are arbitrary and only meant for 

illustrative purposes. 

 

Kirstin welcomed CAC member Hella Betts, who had just arrived to the meeting. Hella Betts 

introduced herself, mentioning that she lives outside the area, but that her biggest concern was 

accessibility and transportation.  

 

 When the conversation was brought back to Martin’s presentation, Jean Simson mentioned 

that it would be interesting to compare Sherwood’s density with those of other cities with the 

same radius.  

 Nathan Claus asked what determined the quarter mile radius on Martin’s neighborhood map. 

Martin answered that the quarter mile radius is a planning tool for walkability, and while it is 

arbitrary and subjective, it represents an average walking distance. 

 Anthony Bevel asked Martin what other plans and processes he has been involved with. 

Martin listed West Linn, Gresham, Brookman Road, among a few, as well as some work in 

the Netherlands and in the Middle East. However, he has been on the west coast for the past 

20 years. 

 

Bob Galati, the City of Sherwood’s engineer, presented the infrastructure piece. He noted that the 

Transportation System Plan had just been updated, the Water System Master Plan was almost 

complete, and that the Storm Water and Sanitary Master Plans are currently kicking off.  

 

Water 

Bob notes the reservoir on Kruger Road as a source for any new area in Sherwood West. He points 

out that the green lines on the maps indicate how much area could be served by existing 

infrastructure. 

 

Sanitary 

Bob shows a recent subdivision that will be required to extend the sanitary main, which might help 

serve a portion of the study area. In the southern portion of the site, questions still remain as to how 

to connect a main line to one of the other pumps. 

 

Stormwater 

Bob mentioned that they should think about locating a regional storm water facility, as the area has 

streams and connective points. 

 Diann Matthews asked that a pointer be brought next time in order to help with the 

readability of the PowerPoint presentations. 

6



6 
 

 

Public Comments/Closing Comments (CAC) 

In summary: 

 

 Can we go back to that slide that shows the line graph of the City population and area? 

These lines reverse at some point. How is this measured? Martin responded that he was not 

measuring density but acres of urbanized areas and population in the same time period. 

 I’m glad that the city of Sherwood is being proactive. What is the consultant’s role in this? 

Kirstin answered that COG is leading the planning and community engagement for the 

consulting team. ECONW is providing the implementation tasks and the Housing Needs 

Analysis. Otak is providing urban design and infrastructure planning services. Brink has been 

hired for communication. Pacific habitat Services and DKS are also on this project, but very 

minimally. The City will be doing the transportation analysis. Staff will prepare an 

organizational chart. 

 CAC, you have a critical role here. This town is centered around the wildlife refuge, which is 

the first in the US that was started in an urban area. There is not one mention about the 

critical areas that would sustain that refuge in these analyses. What will we do to keep the 

water and air clean? We need to make sure that the US Wildlife and Fisheries are included in 

this process.  

o Jean Simson followed up with this question and asked if the Raindrops to Refuge are 

represented on the TAC. Brad answered that they had been asked, but have 

subsequently disbanded as an organization since then.  

 

Announcements 

 

Kirstin announced that the next meeting would be April 2nd. She recapped the agenda for that 

meeting, which will include (1) looking at evaluation criteria for the west Sherwood concept plan, (2) 

reviewing the Buildable Lands Inventory and findings of the Housing Needs Analysis, (3) finalizing the 

CAC Charter, and (4) reviewing the updated community engagement plan. Due to acoustical 

challenges, staff will look for a new meeting location.  

 Rick Pannell asked when CAC members should expect meeting materials. Kirstin answered 

that packets will be sent out a minimum of seven days before the meeting, and that the 

materials will also be posted to the website.  

 

With no further comment, Brad adjourned the meeting at 8:30. 

 

 

 

7



Consultant 
Team 

• Cogan Owens Greene 
– Project Management; Kirstin 

Greene, AICP  

• Sera Architects 
– Urban Design; Martin Glastra 

Van Loon  

• Otak  
– Civil Engineering; Kevin 

Timmons, PE  

• ECONorthwest 
– Economics and Housing Needs 

Analysis; Lorelei Juntunen & 
Beth Goodman 

• Pacific Habitat Services  
– Natural Resource Science; John 

Van Staveren 

• DKS 
– Transportation Engineering; Carl 

Springer, PE 

Technical Advisory  
Committee 

• City of Sherwood 
– Community Services Department 
– Engineering Department 
– Police Department 
– Public Works Department 

• OR Department of 
Transportation 

• Washington County Land Use & 
Transportation Department 

• City of Tigard 

• Clean Water Services 

• Sherwood School District 

• OR Department of Fish & 
Wildlife 

• Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue 

• Tualatin River National Wildlife 
Refuge 

• Metro 

Community Advisory 
Committee 

• Sherwood West Area 
Residents/ Property Owners  
(8 members) 

• City of Sherwood 
Residents/Property Owners  
(5 members) 

• City Council Liaison 

• Planning Commission Liaison 

• Parks Board Representative 

• Sherwood School Board 
Representative 

• Washington County Citizen 
Participation Organization 
(CPO) Representative 

• Raindrops to Refuge 
Representative 

Planning Department 
Brad Kilby, AICP; Project Manager 

Connie Randall; Deputy Project Manager 

Planning Commission 
The City of Sherwood Planning Commission consists of seven volunteer members appointed by the City Council.   

City Council 
The City of Sherwood City Council consists of a Mayor and six (6) Councilor positions. 

PUBLIC 

PROJECT ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 

PUBLIC 

8



1 
 

 

Citizen Advisory Committee Charter 

March 24, 2015 

I. Charges and Duties 

a. The Citizen Advisory Committee referred to as the “CAC” shall have no powers except as 

conferred by the City Charter and the Sherwood Municipal Code. 

b. The CAC and its members shall conduct itself in a manner that’s in keeping with 

applicable laws pertaining to conduct and ethics. Any confirmed violation of the 

provisions of such laws shall be grounds for removal from the committee. 

c. The CAC and its members shall conduct their meetings in an open and respectful 

manner.  

d. The CAC is an advisory body that is charged with reviewing technical studies, surveys, 

reports, and providing comments and recommendations to the Sherwood Planning 

Commission (Sherwood Planning Commission). 

II. Membership 

a. The Committee should consist of representation of both the incorporated and 

unincorporated area and should aspire to consist of the following members: 

i. 8 landowners/citizens from the Sherwood West Area 

ii. 5 Citizens of Sherwood 

iii. 1 member of the School Board 

iv. 1 member of the Parks Board 

v. 1 member of the City Council 

vi. 1 member of the City Planning Commission 

vii. 1 member of the Washington County Community Planning Organization 

viii. 1 member of Raindrops to Refuge 

III. Appointments 

a. Members are appointed by a three member committee composed of the City of 

Sherwood Planning Manager, the Chair of the Sherwood Planning Commission, and the 

Sherwood City Council liaison to the Planning Commission after review of the 

applications and participation in a meeting or discussion to ensure that the interested 

individual is available, fair, unbiased, and legitimately represents one of the groups 

listed above. 

b. The appointment will last for the duration of the project which is expected to be 12 

months. 

c. Members shall receive no compensation for their services. Members may be reimbursed 

for incidental meeting expenses on approval of the staff liaison. 

9



2 
 

IV. Organization of the Committee 

a. Staff liaisons are the primary interface between the committee and the City Planning 

Commission, City Council, City Manager, and departments. Besides serving as a technical 

resource, staff liaisons are responsible for meeting logistics, member recruitment and 

recognition, recordkeeping, and monitoring committee effectiveness.  

V. Meetings 

a. Meeting time and locations shall be posted for public notice on the City webpage, in five 

locations throughout the City, and whenever possible within the Sherwood Gazette, the 

Sherwood Archer, or the CPO’s Citizen Involvement Quarterly newsletter. 

i. Meetings will be held in either the Sherwood City Hall, Sherwood Police 

Department, or at one of the Laurel/Edy Ridge school facilities. 

ii. Meetings of the CAC will be held in the evenings no earlier than 6 pm, or on a 

weekend during the day. 

b. A majority of votes of committee members present shall determine the official 

recommendation of the committee on a given issue. 

VI. Membership Responsibilities  

a. Members are expected to: 

i. Consider information presented and regulatory context; 

ii. Regularly attend meetings and contribute constructively to discussions; 

iii. Consider and discuss issues from a subregional perspective, as well as that of 

particular stakeholder or interests;  

iv. Generate and explore all options on the merits with an open mind, listening to 

different points of view with a goal of understanding the underlying interests of 

other CAC members, 

v. Strive to reach consensus on recommendations. 

vi. Self-regulate and help other members abide by these commitments. 

vii. Refrain from revisiting a previously discussed issue unless a majority of CAC 

members agree, and 

viii. Avoid side conversations during meetings, 

ix. When communicating with others, represent your opinion only. For the CAC as a 

whole, direct media or other interested parties to the Planning Manager. 

VII. Attendance 

a. If a member is unable to attend a meeting, he or she is expected to notify the staff 

liaison at least 24 hours prior to the meeting.  

b. Two unexcused absences may necessitate replacement of the committee member.  

VIII. Removal 

a. The committee may remove members, by a vote of the majority of the committee, 

when in its judgment the conduct of the member does not conform to the committees 

responsibilities. 

b. Any member that is removed will be replaced in accordance with Section III of this 

Charter. 

10



 

1 
 

 
Community Engagement Plan 

Updated March 24, 2015 
Project Overview 

The goal of the Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan is to create a roadmap that will 

help inform future possible urban growth expansion decisions, specifically regarding the 

Urban Reserve Area 5B designated by Metro.  This area, known locally as Sherwood West, is 

a 1,291-acre area located just west of the existing City limits.  In order to achieve this goal, a 

robust community engagement process is envisioned to reflect the vision and values of 

Sherwood residents and business owners as well as the residents and property owners in 

the Sherwood West study area.  Additionally, a Housing Needs Analysis is underway to better 

understand Sherwood’s housing needs over the next twenty years.  The City of Sherwood 

has solicited assistance from a Consultant team, led by Cogan Owens Greene, LLC to work 

with City staff, elected and appointed officials to help lead this community planning process. 

 

Draft Community Engagement Objectives 

The purpose of the Community Engagement Plan is to describe ways in which the City will 

engage the Sherwood community in discussions about what is important to them, 

including community values, assets and desired future characteristics.  The community 

engagement process is designed to meet the following objectives: 

 Encourage dialogue and provide opportunities for frequent and meaningful 

participation. 

 Ensure education and understanding of potential pre-Concept Plan benefits. 

 Ensure that communication and educational opportunities are clear so that all 

community members can participate. 

 Ensure that the planning process is clear and transparent. 

 Create a framework for momentum to continue into implementation. 

 

The plan will: 

 Utilize existing City mechanisms for communication and public involvement. 

 Establish public involvement objectives. 

 Identify project stakeholders, their values and concerns. 

 Describe the array of tools and activities best suited to inform and engage 

Sherwood residents, businesses and other stakeholders.  

 Establish a schedule for implementation that includes engagement strategies for 

three phases of public involvement: 

 Phase I: Identify Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan Vision and Goals;  

 Phase II: Citywide Housing Needs and Alternatives Analysis; and 

 Phase III: Preferred Alternative/Draft Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan. 

 Incorporate measures to evaluate success.   

 

 

 

11



 

2 
 

Planning Commission 

The City of Sherwood Planning Commission consists of seven members appointed by the 

City Council, to review and make recommendations on planning issues in the City.  Within 

the context of this program, the Planning Commission is charged with: 

 Ensuring the Plan reflects the community’s core values and implements the vision 

and goals. 

 Advising on and helping implement community engagement strategies. 

 Informing and engaging constituencies, communities and civic organizations. 

 Conducting public hearings on the preferred plan alternatives. 

 Providing the City Council with recommendations on plan alternatives. 

 

Community Advisory Committee 

A broadly-based Community Advisory Committee (CAC) will help inform the Plan’s 

creation. The CAC consists of members who demonstrate a balanced commitment to the 

adopted scope of work and a broad spectrum of the Sherwood community.  They are 

charged with:  

 Reviewing materials from the consultant team. 

 Providing broad perspectives to ensure the Sherwood West Concept Plan reflects 

diverse needs. 

 Participating in public outreach regarding the plan. 

 Providing the Planning Commission with recommendations on plan alternatives. 

 

Technical Advisory Committee 

The Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) consists of the City’s Project Manager and 

representatives from Sherwood, Washington County, Clean Water Services, Tualatin 

Valley Fire & Rescue, the Sherwood School District, Metro, Oregon Department of Land 

Conservation and Development (DLCD), Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) 

and other reviewing agencies.  TAC members review project deliverables for technical 

adequacy, policy and regulatory compliance. 

 

Community Engagement Activities 

Community engagement activities will be designed in a way that fosters a deeper, more 

effective and long-standing relationship with Sherwood residents and property owners.  The 

community engagement process will incorporate wide-ranging activities to reach a broad 

constituency of the Sherwood residents, businesses and property owners.  Community 

engagement tools and activities are expected to include, but are not limited to: 

 A recognizable project look for project-related materials. 

 Informative, accessible Website created and administered by City staff.  The 

Consultant will provide content for the site, links and content for the interactive 

website platform and other key messages and a narrative that describes the status 

of the project, upcoming meetings, and other opportunities for involvement and draft 

and final work products.  The consultant will ensure the language speaks to people in 

common terms rather than “plannereze”. 

 Maintaining an ongoing list of interested parties throughout the process.  

 Short informational video that articulates the purpose of the project and an invitation 

to participate. The video will be posted on the project website, played on the 

12



 

3 
 

Community Access Television channel, and introduced at both the Planning 

Commission and/or City Council.  

 Three interactive and engaging community events. 

 Articles in the Gazette, Archer, other civic organization and school newsletters, flyers, 

FAQ and other outreach materials that provide project information and publicize 

community forums and other activities.  

 A community conversations format that provide an opportunity for community 

members to discuss aspects of the Sherwood West Concept Plan on their “own turf” 

at their community meetings in a modified speakers bureau format. City staff would 

arrange for and lead these conversations.  

 Activities tailored to engage the area’s youth and future leaders. 

 Two community surveys on line and in print including visual preference opportunities 

and programs to allow residents to both help create plan evaluation criteria and 

weigh in on what they like about the range of alternatives as they emerge.  

 Briefings for elected and appointed officials. 

 

Project Schedule 

 

 
 

Evaluation Engagement efforts will be evaluated based on the degree to which objectives 

are achieved: 

 Consistency of messages used and a public understanding of the benefits of concept 

planning. 

 Frequency and effectiveness of community engagement opportunities: 

 Open CAC and TAC meetings; 

 Video views; 

 Community conversation opportunities and participants (e.g., 100 participants 

total at 10 meetings); and 

13



 

4 
 

 Two community workshops (e.g. 80 total participants). 

 Increasing participation over time. 

 Piloting new techniques (e.g. Mindmixer and other social media). 

 50 engaged online in each round associated with each public event. 

 Community concerns identified and addressed. 

 A pre-concept plan that reflects expressed community vision and values for Sherwood 

West and the future of Sherwood as a whole. 

14



EXISTING CONDITIONS SUMMARY 1

Existing Conditions Summary
Updated March 24, 2015

The purpose of this memorandum is to summarize the existing conditions and opportunities of 
the Sherwood West study area. An overview of Sherwood’s population characteristics, land use 
and historic growth patterns is provided. In addition, this memorandum outlines the opportunities 
and constraints for the provision of parks and trails, transportation facilities and public services 
(including water, sanitary sewer, and storm utilities) to the study area. The memorandum includes 
the following sections:

 z Project Description  
 z Study Area 
 z Population and Demographics  
 z Land Use and Buildable Lands 
 z Historic Growth Patterns 
 z Public Facilities 
 z Transportation 
 z Parks and Trails 
 z Environment and Natural Resources 

Project Description
The Sherwood West Preliminary Concept Plan is a comprehensive, long-range community plan for 
the Urban Reserve Area 5B, as designated by the Metro Council in 2011. As a preliminary concept 
plan, this project will help inform future decisions about whether Sherwood grows up or out, where 
housing is built and schools are located, and how infrastructure may be served over the next 50 
years. A key element of a preliminary concept plan is a phasing strategy for incremental inclusion 
in the UGB, to the extent demanded by local and regional growth projections.

Study Area
The study area encompasses approximately 1,291 acres located along the western side of the 
current city limits (Figure 1). The site is bounded on the east by Hwy 99W, SW Elwert Road, and 
SW Roy Rogers Road. It is bounded by SW Chapman Road on the south and SW Lebeau Rd and 
SW Scholls-Sherwood Rd to the north. Site topography generally slopes from west to east, with an 
elevation difference of approximately 150 to 200 feet.

15

Sherwood VVest 
sli~r~ood Preliminary Concept Plan 

Oregon 
A long range look at our future. 



2 SHERWOOD WEST PRELIMINARY CONCEPT PLAN

Figure 1. Sherwood West Study Area

Population and Demographics
As of the 2010 US Census, there were 18,194 people living in the City of Sherwood. The City accounts 
for about 3.4% of Washington County’s total population of 531,335. 

Covering an area of approximately 4.3 square miles, Sherwood’s population density is about 4,217.2 
per square mile. Relative to the nearby cities of Tualatin, Wilsonville and Newberg, Sherwood has a 
slightly higher population density per square mile. As shown in Table 1, Sherwood also has a greater 
number of family households and a higher median household value, as compared to Washington 
County.

16



EXISTING CONDITIONS SUMMARY 3

Table 1. City of Sherwood, and Washington County, 2010

City of Sherwood Washington County
Median Household Value $327,000 $282,400
Median Household Income $81,000 $60,963
Family Households 77.7% 67.1%
Average Commute time 26 minutes 24 minutes
Gender (female) 50.3% 50.8%
Median age 34.2 years 35 years
Hispanic or Latino 7% 15.7%

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010

Land Use and Zoning
The City of Sherwood’s plan and zoning map indicates that the majority of the City is residential 
(Figure 2). Some commercial activity is centered along HWY 99W and within the historic center, 
while industrial uses occupy the northeastern edge of Sherwood. The City has a relatively large 
portion of land zoned for public institutions and civic centers. 

Figure 2. City of Sherwood Plan and Zoning Map, 2013

17



4 SHERWOOD WEST PRELIMINARY CONCEPT PLAN

Whereas City acreage is 2,757.8 (4.3 square miles), the Sherwood West study area encompasses 
1,234 taxable acres across 126 tax lots (Table 2). Besides residential uses, the majority of the land 
use is designated as agricultural or forested. Figure 3 shows the study area’s buildable land by tax 
lot.

Table 2. Sherwood West Study Area Buildable Lands Facts

Total Tax Lots 126
Total Tax Lot Acreage 1,234
Vacant Lots 39 (263.5 buildable acres)
Partially Vacant Lots with dwellings 83 (406.8 buildable acres)
Committed Lots 4 (0 buildable acres)
Total Buildable Land** Acreage 670.3

**Buildable land calculation includes removal of constrained land, deduction of 0.25-acre from lots 
greater than 0.5-acre with a DU, and a percent deduction for future streets.

Figure 3. Sherwood West Buildable Land

C h i c k e n

C h i c k e n
C r e e k
C r e e k EL

W
ER

T 
R

D

CHAPMAN RD

LEBEAU RD
R

O
Y 

R
O

G
ER

S 
R

D

SCHOLLSSHERWOOD RD

KRUGER RD

EDY RD

0 1,000 2,000500 Feet

I
Study Area

Study Area Tax Lot

Vacant Tax Lot

Partially Vacant Tax Lot with DU

"Committed" Tax Lot

Constrained Land*

Building

Creek

BPA ROW

Urban Growth Boundary

Sherwood West Estimated Buildable Lands  2/19/2015

Total# Tax Lots: 126
Total Tax Lot Acreage: 1234
#Vacant Lots: 39 (263.5 buildable acres)
#Partially Vacant Lots with DU: 83 (406.8 buildable acres)
#"Committed" Lots: 4 (0 buildable acres)
Total Buildable Land** Acreage: 670.3

*Constrained area includes Title 13 lands, slopes 25% and greater,
 the 100-year floodplain, and a BPA transmission line corridor.

**Buildable land calculation includes removal of constrained land, deduction of 0.25-acre
  from lots greater than 0.5-acre with a DU, and a percent deduction for future streets.

99W

City of Sherwood

*Constrained area includes Title 13 lands, slopes 25% and greater, the 100-year floodplain, and a BPA 
transmission line corridor.

18

-• .. D 
D 



EXISTING CONDITIONS SUMMARY 5

Historic Growth Patterns
The City of Sherwood was first platted in 1889, and later incorporated in 1893. The city plot was 
oriented around the railroad and subsequently built out from this 45-degree angle. Like most other 
western frontier towns, Sherwood’s economy was largely based off the gold rushes in the 1800s. At 
the time of incorporation in the 1890s, Sherwood’s main industry was a pressed brick yard. 

The geographic distribution of Sherwood’s growth has mostly been defined by creeks and roads. 
From the early 1900s to 1950s, Sherwood’s growth remained relatively compact and primarily 
followed the railroad track (Figure 4). In 1951, Sherwood’s downtown spanned 9 blocks and had 
fewer than 600 people.

Figure 4. City of Sherwood, Historic Growth, 1889-2014

19



6 SHERWOOD WEST PRELIMINARY CONCEPT PLAN

It was only after 1960 that Sherwood began to witness major, consecutive growth spurts, with its 
population and land area nearly doubling (on average) every ten years through present day (Table 3).

Table 3. City of Sherwood, Population and % Change, 1900-2015

1970 Population % Change
1900 111 --
1910 115 3.6
1920 320 178.3
1930 382 19.4
1940 447 17
1950 575 28.6
1960 680 18.3
1970 1,396 105.3
1980 2,386 70.9
1990 3,093 29.6
2000 11,791 281.2
2010 18,194 54.3
Estimated 2015 18,955 3.8

Source: US Census Bureau, 2010

In 1991, with the availability of 1,300 acres of land for construction, the City of Sherwood adopted 
its first Comprehensive Plan. Over the next ten years, Sherwood saw its biggest boom, with its 
population nearly tripling in size. Most of this growth was attributed to the Woodhaven development, 
which added over 1,000 housing units to Sherwood. Today, the City estimates its current population 
at 18,995, up from around 18,195 from the 2010 US Census. Relative to historical patterns, growth 
in the past five years has slowed.

Whereas Sherwood’s population growth has been significant over the past 50 years, the City’s 
major services exist within a one-mile radius, which helps retains the City’s “small-town feel.” With 
the potential incorporation of Sherwood West study area, this radius could extend up to 1.5 miles.

Public Facilities
Water Systems
Existing Conditions
The current Water System Master Plan was completed in August 2005 and is currently being 
updated. The Master Plan considers all areas within the city limits and the urban growth boundary. 
The West Sherwood Concept Plan study area is outside of the urban growth boundary and was not 
included in the Master Plan. The City’s primary water supply is from the Wilsonville Water Treatment 
Plant, supplemented by groundwater wells and by a connection to the Tualatin-Portland supply 
main. The City’s distribution system includes three service zones supplied by two storage reservoirs 

20



EXISTING CONDITIONS SUMMARY 7

and two pumping stations. The Master Plan indicates that additional water supply and storage will 
be necessary to support future growth in the City.

Opportunities and Constraints
Existing water facilities in or near the study area include a water reservoir, a supply line, and 
distribution lines. The Kruger Reservoir is a 3.0 MG reservoir located inside the study area, south 
of SW Kruger Road and approximately one half mile west of Hwy 99 W. The Kruger Reservoir 
serves the 455 pressure zone, which provides water to areas above 250 feet elevation. An 18-inch 
transmission line is located in SW Kruger Road between the reservoir and Hwy 99W. The study area 
south of SW Handley Street is primarily above the 250 foot elevation level. According to the master 
plan, the 455 pressure zone can serve areas up to a maximum elevation of 300 feet; however, 
preliminary calculations by the City Engineer suggest that the Kruger Reservoir could possibly serve 
elevations up to between 340 feet and 370 feet. 

The study area north of SW Handley Street falls primarily within the 380 pressure zone, which serves 
areas below an elevation of 250 feet. The current 380 pressure zone is served by the Main Reservoir, 
which has 2.0 MG of storage. The master plan indicates that additional storage may be required to 
serve future development.

Adjacent to the study area, the 18-inch water main from the Kruger Reservoir extends north in SW 
Elwert Road for approximately 800 feet. The line then reduces to a 12-inch line and continues north 
to SW Handley Street. In addition, a short segment of 12-inch waterline has been constructed in 
Elwert Road in the vicinity of Derby Terrace. Near the north end of the study area, a 16-inch water 
main located in SW Copper Terrace terminates at SW Edy Rd, approximately 840 feet east of the 
study area. These waterlines may be locations where future on-site water systems could connect 
to the existing City of Sherwood water system. See Figure 5 for pressure zone boundaries, existing 
reservoir locations, and existing water line locations. 

21



8 SHERWOOD WEST PRELIMINARY CONCEPT PLAN

Sanitary Sewer System
Existing Conditions
The current Sanitary Sewer Master Plan was completed in July 2007 and is currently being updated. 
The Master Plan considers all areas within the city limits and the urban growth boundary. The West 
Sherwood Concept Plan study area is outside of the urban growth boundary and was not included 
in the Master Plan. 

The City of Sherwood is served by two sanitary sewer trunk lines, the Sherwood Trunk Sewer (24-
inch) which conveys sewage from the Cedar Creek sewage collection basin and the Rock Creek 
Trunk (18-inch) which conveys sewage from the Rock Creek sewage collection basin. Both trunk lines 
convey flows to the Sherwood Pump Station, owned by Clean Water Services (CWS), which sends 
sewage to the Durham Advanced Wastewater Treatment Plant via the Upper Tualatin Interceptor, 
also owned by CWS.

Opportunities and Constraints
Existing sanitary sewer facilities adjacent to or near this site are limited. The Sherwood Interceptor 
crosses the study area near the northeast corner at Cedar and Chicken Creeks; and any sewer 
mainlines would need to cross these creeks in order to connect. A 15-inch line is stubbed to Elwert 
Road at adjacent Derby Terrace. This line connects to a 15-inch line in SW Copper Terrace which 
flows north to SW Edy Road and connects to the Sherwood Interceptor to the east.

Figure 5. Sherwood West Water System

Figure 5

22

Existing Conditions 

Sherwood West 
Water System 

[:::1 Study Area 

- Water Main (12" diameter & greater) 

• WaterReservoir 

+ PotentiaiConnectionPoint 

'""'-' 380' Pressure Zone 

"""""' 455' Pressure Zone Per Master Plan 

""-' t~;·i~~~=~ure Zone Lower Limit 

"'"'-' t~;·i~~~=~ure Zone Upper Limit 

~ 10ftContour 

~ 100ftContour 

~ Stream 

c::::J Taxlot 

c::::JurbanGrowthBoundary 

o 400 000 1,600Feet 

-=-=-



EXISTING CONDITIONS SUMMARY 9

Figure 6

The Brookman Addition is an area within the urban growth boundary on the south end of Sherwood 
between the city limits and SW Brookman Road. In the Sanitary Sewer Master Plan, this area is 
identified as Area 54/55. The City, recently constructed a sewer mainline to the boundary of the 
Brookman Addition. Future projects, which would occur with the development of the Brookman 
Addition, would extend the sewer line into the Brookman Addition, providing sewer access for the 
West Sherwood Concept Plan study area at Brookman Road, east of Hwy 99W. 

Capacity of the Sherwood Trunk line Sewer and the Sherwood Pump Station will need to be 
evaluated as part of the Master Plan update. 

See Figure 6 for a map of existing sanitary sewer facilities.

Figure 6. Sherwood West Sanitary Sewer System

Stormwater
Existing Conditions
The current Storm Water Master Plan was completed in June 2007 and is currently being updated. 
The Master Plan considers all areas within the city limits and the urban growth boundary. The West 
Sherwood Concept Plan study area is outside of the urban growth boundary and was not included 
in the Master Plan.

The West Sherwood Concept Plan study area lies primarily within the Chicken Creek Drainage Basin. 
The basin flows north and northeast along Chicken Creek, which bisects the site. Cedar Creek flows 
into Chicken Creek at the northeast corner of the study area, west of SW Roy Rogers Road. West 

23

Existing Conditions 

Sherwood West 
Sanitary Sewer System 

l:::l Study Area 

-- Sanitary Sewer- Gravity Main 

- Sanitary Sewer- Force Main 

+ PotentiaiConnectionPoint 

• Sanitary Sewer- Pump Station 

~ 10ftContour 

~ 100ftContour 

~ Stream 

c=] Taxlot 

Durban Growth Boundary 

o 400 000 1,600Feet -=-=-



10 SHERWOOD WEST PRELIMINARY CONCEPT PLAN

Fork Chicken Creek enters the site near the northwest boundary, and flows east into Chicken Creek. 

A small portion of the study area in the southeastern corner is part of the Cedar Creek Drainage 
Basin. On-site runoff enters Goose Creek, which flows from west to east, crosses under Hwy 99 W 
and reaches Cedar Creek.

The Stormwater Master Plan notes that Chicken and Cedar Creeks have been identified by the EPA 
as providing habitat for anadromous fish that are listed as threatened under the Federal Endangered 
Species Act. According to the Storm Water Master Plan, on-site soils fall primarily in Hydrologic 
Soils Group C, with small areas of Groups B and D. The study area in the vicinity of Chicken and 
Cedar Creeks and their tributaries have been designated by Metro as riparian corridors, upland 
wildlife habitat, and aquatic impact areas. Some areas within the riparian corridors are also shown 
on the National Wetland Inventory.

Opportunities and Constraints
As the study area is undeveloped, there is no existing stormwater infrastructure on-site. As 
development occurs in the future, stormwater would likely be discharged onto the floodplain of 
the adjacent creeks and tributaries. The City of Sherwood requires that all stormwater facilities 
meet the requirements of Clean Water Services Design and Construction Standards for conveyance, 
water quality treatment, and water quantity treatment. The City has indicated that they prefer to 
use regional stormwater facilities within this study area.

See Figure 7 for a map of storm drainage basins, creeks, and existing storm water facilities.

Figure 7. Sherwood West Stormwater System

Figure 7

24

Existing Conditions 

Sherwood West 
Stormwater System 

l:::J Study Area 

- Storm Facility- Open Conveyance 

- Storm Facility- Closed Conveyance 

~ 10ftContour 

~ 100ftContour 

"'""'-' Stream 

100-yearFioodplain 

c=] Taxlot 

Durban Growth Boundary 

o 4 00 000 1,600 Feet -=-=-



EXISTING CONDITIONS SUMMARY 11

Transportation
Elwert Road from Highway 99W to Scholls-Sherwood Road is currently functioning as a two lane 
rural arterial.  Elwert Road historically was a rural road used primarily for providing transportation 
access for farm equipment and rural residents.  Over time, Elwert Road has become a secondary 
bypass route for commuter traffic (through trips) traveling between Highway 99W and Scholls-
Sherwood Road and Roy Rogers Road, avoiding the intersection signals along the Highway 99W 
route.

Elwert Road’s physical characteristics consist of two 11-foot paved lanes, a straight horizontal 
alignment, and a vertical alignment consisting of rolling hills that include acute vertical sags and 
crests which result in poor vertical sight distances, and intersection sight distances.  Access points 
onto Elwert Road include several private driveways and seven street intersections (both local and 
collector).  The intersecting streets and their classifications are listed below.

 z Kruger Road – Local
 z Orchard Hill Road – Local
 z Edy Road – Collector
 z Schroeder Road – Local
 z Haide Road – Local
 z Handley Road – Collector
 z Conzelmann Road – Local
 z Lebeau Road - Local

The City of Sherwood’s Transportation System Plan (COS TSP) and Washington County’s 
Transportation System Plan (WACO TSP) coordinated the analysis and results for Elwert Road from 
the intersection of Highway 99W to the Scholls-Sherwood Road intersection.

Both WACO’s and COS’s TSP’s identify the future build-out condition of Elwert Road as a 3-lane 
arterial which will include sidewalks and bike lanes on both sides of the road.  Appropriately sized 
arterial roads will allow through trips to remain on the arterial system and discourage use of local 
streets for cut-through traffic routes.

Due to the current adverse vertical alignment condition of Elwert Road, it is anticipated that large 
cut and fill sections and associated acquisition of additional right-of-way may be needed to bring 
Elwert Road’s alignment (both vertical and horizontal) into conformance with adopted roadway 
design standards.

There are a number of existing east-west rural roads that serve the study area. The WACO STP 
identifies one arterial road, Scholls-Sherwood Road, located along the northern boundary of the 
area. Two collector roads are identified: Edy Road, located near the middle of the study area, and 
Chapman Road, located along the southern boundary. Five local, two-lane, rural roads are identified: 
Lebeau Road; Schroder Lane; Conzelmann Road, Haide Road, and Krueger Road.

Figure 8 shows the street functional classification system of the study area in Washington County.

25



12 SHERWOOD WEST PRELIMINARY CONCEPT PLAN

Figure 8. Washington County Street Classification Map - excerpt Sherwood

Parks and Trails
Adopted in October 2006, the Parks and Recreation Master Plan conducted a comprehensive review 
of existing recreation facilities and land resources, and developed goals, objectives, and actions to 
implement long term strategies for future park development, preservation, design, and funding 
mechanisms. Key recommendations of the plan include completion of the community trail system 
and expansion of recreation opportunities such as construction of a skate park.

The Master Plan analyzed lands and facilities in the Sherwood city limits and includes mention of 
the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge (about 1 mile north of the city). At its nearest point, the 
Wildlife Refuge is less than a quarter-mile from the northeast point of the Sherwood West study 
area. Within the city limits, Sherwood manages over 300 acres of open space including most of the 
100-year floodplain along Cedar Creek and portions along Rock Creek. 

In total, 6.5 miles of paved multi-use trails are present in the open space system. Existing hard 
surface trails terminate at Highway 99 just south of Sunset Boulevard and approximately 600 feet 

26

~ SWSCHOL~Q 
•o o0 .,_, .. 

~ Washington County 
Functional Classification 
System and 
Lane Numbers .,.._. .,..,. .. , 
FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION 

PROPOSED EXISTING 
NIA Ff'MW.y 

NIA --
~~ --- c.-

LANE NUMBERS 

- .. L_. 

}il D~~ 



EXISTING CONDITIONS SUMMARY 13

to the north at Highway 99 in the greenway north of the Sherwood YMCA. These are the closest 
multi-use trail connections to the Sherwood West study area. The planned Ice Age Tonquin Trail 
alignment will parallel Roy Rodgers Road at the northeast edge of the study area. The future trail 
will traverse through Sherwood along Cedar Creek and connect to the Tualatin River National 
Wildlife Refuge. The completed Tonquin Trail system will link the cities of Sherwood, Tualatin, and 
Wilsonville. 

There are no formal multi-use trails or parks in Sherwood West. Chicken Creek forms a natural 
greenway flowing southwest to northeast through the study area, eventually draining to the Tualatin 
River via Cedar Creek.  The Cedar Creek greenway through the city connects at Chicken Creek. West 
Fork Chicken Creek and Goose Creek form smaller natural greenways in the central and southeast 
portions of the study area, respectively. Upper Chicken Creek, a 38-acre Metro-owned natural area, 
is located just outside the study area and abuts its western edge south of Kruger Road.

While the Parks Master Plan does not detail needs for the Sherwood West area, Chapter 5 of the 
Sherwood Comprehensive Plan establishes minimum standards for parks and open space. Those 
minimum standards are summarized in the following Table 4.

Table 4. Guidelines for Providing Parks, recreation, and Trail Facilities in Sherwood

Type Size Level of Service
Tot Lots/Mini-Parks 2,400 sq. ft. to 

1 acre in size
Minimum of 1 acre to serve needs of 1,000 
people

Neighborhood Parks 2-5 acres in 
size

Minimum of 1 acre to serve needs of 500 
people or 1 park to a neighborhood of 2,000 
to 4,000 people

Community Park 10-25 acres in 
size

Minimum of 1 acre to serve needs of 1,000 
people or 1 park to a community of 20-25,000 
people

General Open Space – 
Greenway

variable 
depending on 
location

acres per population density is variable but 
intended to serve entire community

Natural Trails and Scenic 
Pathways

average of 
1 to 2 miles 
long with a 
use intensity 
of about 50 
people per 
day

These typically border transportation and 
utility corridors, floodplains and other areas of 
natural and scenic value

Conservation 
Management Area

not specified These generally consist of areas within the 
100-year flood plain that are described as 
wetlands, marsh, bogs, and ponds, and 
includes all creek and natural drainage ways

The Comprehensive Plan emphasizes that park facilities must be accessible and central to the 
population it serves. For example, the service area of a neighborhood park is considered to be 
½-mile in radius.

27



14 SHERWOOD WEST PRELIMINARY CONCEPT PLAN

Environment and Natural Resources
Floodplains
Based on Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) analysis, there is a defined 100-year floodplain for a 
portion of Chicken Creek and up West Fork Chicken Creek within Sherwood West. The floodplain for 
Cedar Creek at its intersection with Chicken Creek is also defined. These floodplain areas currently 
appear to be natural greenways within the study area. The upper reaches of Chicken Creek and 
Goose Creek do not have available flood study data.

Wetlands
National Wetland Inventory (NWI) features in the study area are most prominent along the riparian 
corridor of Chicken Creek. Three smaller wetland areas are also shown outside this corridor—two 
near Chicken Creek and one near the headwaters of Goose Creek. In total, the NWI data comprises 
just over 31 acres within the study area. The local wetland inventory from Metro is identical to the 
NWI.

Slope Hazard
Steep slopes (25% and greater) in Sherwood West are defined along drainage corridors for Chicken 
Creek, West Fork Chicken Creek, Goose Creek, and their tributaries. The steeper slopes are linear 
along the banks of these drainage ways. In addition, a higher point in the southwest portion of the 
study area has slopes that exceed 25%. Generally, the study area has an undulating form but not 
drastic changes in terrain relief. Slope analysis in GIS calculated the results shown below in Table 5 
(acreages clipped to the Sherwood West boundary).

Table 5. Summary of Slope Hazard Area within the Study Area

Slope (%) Area (acres) Portion of Study Area (%)
0-10 862 67
10-15 220 17
15-20 92 7
20-25 54 4
>25 63 5
Total 1,291 100

28



 

ECONorthwest | Portland | Seattle | Boise | Eugene | econw.com 1 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: SHERWOOD HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS 

This is an executive summary of the findings of the Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis for the 

2015 to 2035 period. The housing needs analysis provides Sherwood with a factual basis to 

support future planning efforts related to housing, including Pre-Concept Planning for 

Sherwood West, and prepares to update and revise the City’s Comprehensive Plan policies 

The housing needs analysis is intended to comply with requirements of statewide planning 

policies that govern planning for housing and residential development, Goal 10, it’s 

implementing Metropolitan Housing Rule (OAR 660-007), and Metro’s 2040 Functional Growth 

Management Plan. Taken together, the City’s primary obligations from Goal 10 are to (1) 

designate land in a way that 50% of new housing could be either multifamily or single-family 

attached housing (e.g., townhouses); (2) achieve an average density of six dwelling units per net 

acre; and (3) provide enough land to accommodate forecasted housing needs for the next 20 

years. Sherwood is able to meet these requirements and can accommodate most of the new 

housing forecast, as described in this summary. 

How has Sherwood’s Population Changed in Recent Years? 

The basis for the housing needs analysis is an understanding of the demographic characteristics 

of Sherwood’s residents.1  

Sherwood’s population grew relatively fast in recent years. Sherwood’s population 

increased from 3,000 people in 1990 to nearly 18,600 people in 2013, averaging 8% annual 

growth. Sherwood’s fastest period of growth was during the 1990s, consistent with 

statewide trends. Since 2000, Sherwood grew by 6,600 people, at an average rate of nearly 

3.5% per year. For comparison, Washington County grew at 2.5% annually between 1990-

2013 and the Portland Region grew at 1.6% per year. 

Sherwood’s population is aging. People aged 45 years and older were the fastest growing 

age group in Sherwood between 2000 and 2010, consistent with state and national trends. By 

2035, people 60 years and older will account for 24% of the population in Washington 

County (up from 18% in 2015) and 25% in the Portland Region (up from 19% in 2015). It is 

reasonable to assume that the share of people 60 years and older will grow relatively 

quickly in Sherwood as well. 

Sherwood is attracting younger people and more households with children. In 2010, the 

median age in Sherwood was 34.3 years old, compared to Washington County’s median age 

of 35.3 years and the State median of 38.4. Sherwood has a larger share of households with 

children (47% of households), compared with Washington County (33%) or the Portland 

                                                      

1 The majority of data quoted in this analysis is from the U.S. Census American Community survey, with population 

data from the Population Research Center at Portland State University and development data from the City’s 

Building Permit database. 

29



Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis: Executive Summary ECONorthwest  2 

Region (29%). The Millennial generation—people born roughly between 1980 to 2000—are 

the largest age group in Oregon and will account for the majority of household growth in 

Sherwood over the next 20 years. 

Sherwood’s population is becoming more ethnically diverse. About 6% of Sherwood’s 

population is Latino, an increase from 4.7% in 2000. In comparison to Washington County 

and the Portland Region, Sherwood is less ethnically diverse. In the 2009-2013 period, 16% 

of Washington County residents, and 12% Portland Region residents, were Latino. 

What Factors May Affect Future Growth in Sherwood? 

If these trends continue, population will result in changes in the types of housing demanded or 

“needed” in Sherwood in the future.  

The aging of the population is likely to  result in increased demand for smaller single-

family housing, multifamily housing, and housing for seniors. People over 65 years old 

will make a variety of housing choices, including: remaining in their homes as long as they 

are able, downsizing to smaller single-family homes (detached and attached) or multifamily 

units, or moving into group housing (such as assisted living facilities or nursing homes) as 

they continue to age.  

The growth of younger and diversified households is likely to result in increased 

demand for a wider variety of affordable housing appropriate for families with children, 

such as small single-family housing, townhouses, duplexes, and multifamily housing. If 

Sherwood continues to attract young residents, then it will continue to have demand for 

housing for families, especially housing affordable to younger families with moderate 

incomes. Growth in this population will result in growth in demand for both ownership and 

rental opportunities, with an emphasis on housing that is comparatively affordable.2 

Changes in commuting patterns could affect future growth in Sherwood. Sherwood is 

part of a complex, interconnected regional economy. Demand for housing by workers at 

businesses in Sherwood may change with significant fluctuations in fuel and commuting 

costs, as well as substantial decreases in the capacity of highways to accommodate 

commuting. 

Sherwood households have relatively high income, which affects the type of housing that 

is affordable. Income is a key determinant of housing choice. Sherwood’s median 

household income ($78,400) was more than 20% higher than Washington County’s median 

household income ($64,200). In addition, Sherwood had a smaller share of population below 

the federal poverty line (7.6%) than the averages of Washington County (11.4%) and the 

Portland Region (13.9%).  

                                                      

2 The housing needs analysis assumes that housing is affordable if housing costs are less than 30% of a household’s 

gross income. For a household earning $6,500 (the median household income in Sherwood), monthly housing costs of 

less than $1,960 are considered affordable. 

30



Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis: Executive Summary ECONorthwest  3 

What Are the Characteristics of Sherwood’s Housing Market? 

The existing housing stock in Sherwood, homeownership patterns, and existing housing costs 

will shape changes in Sherwood’s housing market in the future.  

Sherwood’s housing stock is predominantly single-family detached. About 75% of 

Sherwood’s housing stock is single-family detached, 8% is single-family attached (such as 

townhomes), and 18% is multifamily (such as duplexes or apartments). Sixty-nine percent of 

new housing permitted in Sherwood between 2000 and 2014 was single-family detached 

housing.  

Almost three quarters of Sherwood’s residents own their homes. Homeownership rates in 

Sherwood are above Washington County (54%), the Portland Region (60%), and Oregon 

(62%) averages.  

Homeownership costs increased in Sherwood, consistent with national trends. Median 

sales prices for homes in Sherwood increased by about 30% between 2004 and 2014, from 

about $245,000 to $316,5000. The median home value in Sherwood is 3.8 times the median 

household income, up from 2.9 times the median household income in 2000.  

Housing sales prices are higher in Sherwood than the regional averages. As of January 

2015, median sales price in Sherwood was $316,500, which is higher than the Washington 

County ($281,700), the Portland MSA ($269,900), and Oregon ($237,300) median sales prices. 

Median sales prices were higher in Sherwood than in other Portland westside communities 

such as Tigard, Tualatin, and Beaverton, but lower than Wilsonville or West Linn. 

Rental costs are higher overall in Sherwood than the regional averages. The median rent 

in Sherwood was $1,064, compared to Washington County’s average of $852. On a per-

square-foot basis, Sherwood/Tigard/Tualatin’s rents ($1.13 per square foot) were lower than 

the Portland Metro area’s average of $1.22 per square foot.  

More than one-third of Sherwood’s households have housing affordability problems. 

Thirty-eight percent of Sherwood’s households were cost-burdened (i.e., paid more than 

30% of their income on rent or homeownership costs). Renters were more likely to be cost-

burdened (40% of renters were cost-burdened), compared to homeowners (35% were cost-

burdened) in Sherwood. These levels of cost burden are consistent with regional averages.  

In Washington County in the 2009-2013 period, 38% of households were cost burdened, 

compared to 41% in the Portland Region. 

Future housing affordability will depend on the relationship between income and housing 

price. The key question is whether housing prices will continue to outpace income growth. 

Answering this question is difficult because of the complexity of the factors that affect both 

income growth and housing prices. It is clear, however, that Sherwood will need a wider 

variety of housing, especially housing affordable to low- and moderate-income households.  

31



Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis: Executive Summary ECONorthwest  4 

How Much Housing Growth is Forecast, and Can that Growth be 

Accommodated within Sherwood? 

The housing needs analysis in this report is based on Metro’s coordinated forecast of household 

growth in Sherwood. The forecast includes growth in both areas within the city limits, as well 

as areas currently outside the city limits that the City expects to annex for residential uses (most 

notably the Brookman area).  

Sherwood is forecast to add 1,156 new households between 2015 and 2035. Of these, 606 

new households are inside the existing city limits; 550 new households are outside the 

current city limits in the Brookman Area. 

Sherwood’s land base can accommodate the entire forecast for growth. Vacant and 

partially vacant land in the Sherwood Planning Area has capacity to accommodate 1,281 

new dwelling units. Compared to demand, Sherwood has a small surplus of residential 

land.  

Sherwood will need to annex the Brookman Area to accommodate the forecast for 

growth. If Sherwood does not annex the Brookman Area, the city’s options for 

accommodating future growth will be limited to growing within the existing city limits or to 

growing in a different area, such as Sherwood West. The availability of other areas to 

accommodate growth, including Sherwood West, will depend on changes to the Metro 

urban growth boundary and theses changes typically take years to make. 

What if Sherwood Grows Faster? 

The forecast for growth in Sherwood is considerably below historical growth rates. 

Metro’s forecast for new housing in Sherwood shows that households will grow at less than 

1% per year. In comparison, Sherwood’s population grew at 3.4% per year between 2000 

and 2013 and 8% per year between 1990 and 2013. If Sherwood grows faster than Metro’s 

forecast during the 2015 to 2035 period, then Sherwood will not have sufficient land to 

accommodate growth.  

At faster growth rates, Sherwood’s land base has enough capacity for several years of 

growth. At growth rates between 2% to 4% of growth annually, land inside the Sherwood 

city limits can accommodate two to five years of growth. With capacity in the Brookman 

Area, Sherwood can accommodate four to ten years of growth at these growth rates.  

Additional housing growth in Sherwood depends the availability of development-ready 

land. The amount of growth likely to happen in Sherwood is largely dependent on when the 

Brookman Area is annexed, when the Sherwood West area is brought into the City and 

annexed, and when urban services (such as roads, water, and sanitary sewer) are developed 

in each area.  

  

32



Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis: Executive Summary ECONorthwest  5 

What are the Implications for Sherwood’s Housing Policies?  

To provide adequate land supply, Sherwood voters will need to approve/annex the 

Brookman area. If voters continue to reject the Brookman annexation, Sherwood as a 

community will either be unable to accommodate expected growth or will need to identify 

an alternative (more politically acceptable) area for growth. Sherwood West is just one of 

these possibilities. Another alternative would be to develop the existing vacant lands at 

higher densities than what they are zoned.   

Sherwood will need Sherwood West to accommodate future growth beyond the existing 

city limits and Brookman area. The growth rate of Metro’s forecast for household growth 

(0.7% average annual growth) is considerably lower than the City’s historical population 

growth rate over the last two decades (8% average annual growth). Metro’s forecast only 

includes growth that can be accommodated within the Sherwood city limits and Brookman. 

Given the limited supply of buildable land within Sherwood, it is likely that the City’s 

residential growth will slow until Sherwood West is made development-ready. 

Sherwood has a relatively limited supply of land for moderate- and higher-density 

multifamily housing. The limited supply of land in these zones is a barrier to development 

of townhouses and multifamily housing, which are needed to meet housing demand 

resulting from growth of people over 65, young families, and moderate-income households.  

The results of the Housing Needs Analysis highlight questions for the update of the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan and the Pre-Concept Planning of Sherwood West.  

 Providing housing opportunities for first time home buyers and community elders 

(who prefer to age in place or downsize their housing) will require a wider range of 

housing types. Examples of these housing types include: single family homes on 

smaller lots, clustered housing, cottages or townhomes, duplexes, tri-plexes, four-

plexes, garden apartments, or mid-rise apartments. Where should Sherwood 

consider providing a wider range of housing types? What types of housing should 

Sherwood plan for? 

 Changes in demographics and income for Sherwood and regional residents will 

require accommodating a wider range of housing types. How many of Sherwood’s 

needed units should the city plan to accommodate within the city limits? How much 

of Sherwood’s needed units should be accommodated in the Brookman Area and in 

Sherwood West? 

 What design features and greenspaces would be important to consider for new 

housing? 

 What other design standards would be needed to “keep Sherwood Sherwood”? 

33



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Draft Report 

 

Prepared for:  

Cogan Owens Greene &  

City of Sherwood 

March 2015 

 

 

 

Sherwood  

Housing Needs Analysis 

2015 to 2035 

34



 

Contact Information 

Beth Goodman and Robert Parker, AICP, prepared this report as a subcontractor 

to Cogan Owens Greene for the City of Sherwood. ECONorthwest is solely 

responsible for its content, any errors or omissions. 

ECONorthwest specializes in economics, planning, and finance. Established in 

1974, ECONorthwest has over three decades of experience helping clients make 

sound decisions based on rigorous economic, planning, and financial analysis. 

For more information about this report, please contact: 

Brad Kilby, AICP, Planning Manager 
22560 SW Pine Street 
Sherwood, Oregon 97140 
503-625-4206 
kilbyb@sherwoodoregon.gov 

  

35



 

Acknowledgements 

Cogan Owens Greene, ECONorthwest and the City of Sherwood thank the 

many people who helped to develop the Sherwood Draft Housing Needs 

Analysis. 

 

Regional Partners 

Brian Harper, Metro 

State of Oregon 

Anne Debbaut, Regional Representative, DLCD 

Gordon Howard, Urban Planning Specialist, DLCD 

City of Sherwood  

Brad Kilby AICP, Planning Manager 

Michelle Miller AICP Senior Planner 

Connie Randall, Associate Planner 

  

36



 

Table of Contents 
Executive Summary ............................................................................................................. i 

1 Introduction ................................................................................................................... 1 

Background ........................................................................................................................... 1 

Organization of the Report ................................................................................................... 2 

Framework for a Housing Needs Analysis ........................................................................... 3 

Oregon housing policy .......................................................................................................... 4 

2 Historical and Recent Development Trends ............................................................ 8 

3 Housing Need in Sherwood ...................................................................................... 12 

Projection of New Housing Units Needed in the Next 20 Years ....................................... 13 

Demographic and Socioeconomic Factors Affecting Housing 

Choice .................................................................................................................................. 14 

Regional and Local Trends in Housing Costs and Affordability ........................................ 24 

Forecast of Housing by Type and Density of Housing ....................................................... 27 

4 Residential Land Sufficiency .................................................................................... 32 

Residential Buildable Land ................................................................................................ 32 

Residential Development Capacity .................................................................................... 35 

Residential Land Sufficiency .............................................................................................. 39 

Potential growth in Sherwood West ................................................................................... 40 

Conclusions and Recommendations ................................................................................. 41 

Appendix A. Appendix A. Residential Buildable Lands Inventory .............................A-1 

Methodology ....................................................................................................................... A-1 

Results of the Buildable Lands Inventory ......................................................................... A-5 

Appendix B. Trends Affecting Housing Need in Sherwood ....................................... B-1 

Historical and Recent Development Trends ..................................................................... B-1 

National Housing Trends ................................................................................................ B-11 

State Demographic Trends............................................................................................. B-23 

Regional and Local Demographic Trends ...................................................................... B-24 

Manufactured Homes ..................................................................................................... B-35 

Income and Affordability of Housing .............................................................................. B-42 

Appendix C: Alternative Housing Forecasts ................................................................. C-1 
 

 

37



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT i 

Executive Summary 

This is an executive summary of the findings of the Sherwood Housing Needs 

Analysis for the 2015 to 2035 period. The housing needs analysis provides 

Sherwood with a factual basis to support future planning efforts related to 

housing, including Pre-Concept Planning for Sherwood West, and prepares to 

update and revise the City’s Comprehensive Plan policies 

The housing needs analysis is intended to comply with requirements of 

statewide planning policies that govern planning for housing and residential 

development, Goal 10, it’s implementing Metropolitan Housing Rule (OAR 660-

007), and Metro’s 2040 Functional Growth Management Plan. Taken together, the 

City’s primary obligations from Goal 10 are to (1) designate land in a way that 

50% of new housing could be either multifamily or single-family attached 

housing (e.g., townhouses); (2) achieve an average density of six dwelling units 

per net acre; and (3) provide enough land to accommodate forecasted housing 

needs for the next 20 years. Sherwood is able to meet these requirements and can 

accommodate most of the new housing forecast, as described in this summary. 

HOW HAS SHERWOOD’S POPULATION CHANGED IN RECENT YEARS? 

The basis for the housing needs analysis is an understanding of the demographic 

characteristics of Sherwood’s residents.1  

Sherwood’s population grew relatively fast in recent years. Sherwood’s 

population increased from 3,000 people in 1990 to nearly 18,600 people in 

2013, averaging 8% annual growth. Sherwood’s fastest period of growth was 

during the 1990s, consistent with statewide trends. Since 2000, Sherwood 

grew by 6,600 people, at an average rate of nearly 3.5% per year. For 

comparison, Washington County grew at 2.5% annually between 1990-2013 

and the Portland Region grew at 1.6% per year. 

Sherwood’s population is aging. People aged 45 years and older were the 

fastest growing age group in Sherwood between 2000 and 2010, consistent 

with state and national trends. By 2035, people 60 years and older will 

account for 24% of the population in Washington County (up from 18% in 

2015) and 25% in the Portland Region (up from 19% in 2015). It is reasonable 

                                                      

1 The majority of data quoted in this analysis is from the U.S. Census American Community 

survey, with population data from the Population Research Center at Portland State University 

and development data from the City’s Building Permit database. 

38



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT ii 

to assume that the share of people 60 years and older will grow relatively 

quickly in Sherwood as well. 

Sherwood is attracting younger people and more households with 

children. In 2010, the median age in Sherwood was 34.3 years old, compared 

to Washington County’s median age of 35.3 years and the State median of 

38.4. Sherwood has a larger share of households with children (47% of 

households), compared with Washington County (33%) or the Portland 

Region (29%). The Millennial generation—people born roughly between 1980 

to 2000—are the largest age group in Oregon and will account for the 

majority of household growth in Sherwood over the next 20 years. 

Sherwood’s population is becoming more ethnically diverse. About 6% of 

Sherwood’s population is Latino, an increase from 4.7% in 2000. In 

comparison to Washington County and the Portland Region, Sherwood is 

less ethnically diverse. In the 2009-2013 period, 16% of Washington County 

residents, and 12% Portland Region residents, were Latino. 

WHAT FACTORS MAY AFFECT FUTURE GROWTH IN SHERWOOD? 

If these trends continue, population will result in changes in the types of housing 

demanded or “needed” in Sherwood in the future.  

The aging of the population is likely to  result in increased demand for 

smaller single-family housing, multifamily housing, and housing for 

seniors. People over 65 years old will make a variety of housing choices, 

including: remaining in their homes as long as they are able, downsizing to 

smaller single-family homes (detached and attached) or multifamily units, or 

moving into group housing (such as assisted living facilities or nursing 

homes) as they continue to age.  

The growth of younger and diversified households is likely to result in 

increased demand for a wider variety of affordable housing appropriate for 

families with children, such as small single-family housing, townhouses, 

duplexes, and multifamily housing. If Sherwood continues to attract young 

residents, then it will continue to have demand for housing for families, 

especially housing affordable to younger families with moderate incomes. 

Growth in this population will result in growth in demand for both 

39



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT iii 

ownership and rental opportunities, with an emphasis on housing that is 

comparatively affordable.2 

Changes in commuting patterns could affect future growth in Sherwood. 

Sherwood is part of a complex, interconnected regional economy. Demand 

for housing by workers at businesses in Sherwood may change with 

significant fluctuations in fuel and commuting costs, as well as substantial 

decreases in the capacity of highways to accommodate commuting. 

Sherwood households have relatively high income, which affects the type 

of housing that is affordable. Income is a key determinant of housing choice. 

Sherwood’s median household income ($78,400) was more than 20% higher 

than Washington County’s median household income ($64,200). In addition, 

Sherwood had a smaller share of population below the federal poverty line 

(7.6%) than the averages of Washington County (11.4%) and the Portland 

Region (13.9%).  

WHAT ARE THE CHARACTERISTICS OF SHERWOOD’S HOUSING 

MARKET? 

The existing housing stock in Sherwood, homeownership patterns, and existing 

housing costs will shape changes in Sherwood’s housing market in the future.  

Sherwood’s housing stock is predominantly single-family detached. About 

75% of Sherwood’s housing stock is single-family detached, 8% is single-

family attached (such as townhomes), and 18% is multifamily (such as 

duplexes or apartments). Sixty-nine percent of new housing permitted in 

Sherwood between 2000 and 2014 was single-family detached housing.  

Almost three quarters of Sherwood’s residents own their homes. 

Homeownership rates in Sherwood are above Washington County (54%), the 

Portland Region (60%), and Oregon (62%) averages.  

Homeownership costs increased in Sherwood, consistent with national 

trends. Median sales prices for homes in Sherwood increased by about 30% 

between 2004 and 2014, from about $245,000 to $316,5000. The median home 

value in Sherwood is 3.8 times the median household income, up from 2.9 

times the median household income in 2000.  

                                                      

2 The housing needs analysis assumes that housing is affordable if housing costs are less than 30% 

of a household’s gross income. For a household earning $6,500 (the median household income in 

Sherwood), monthly housing costs of less than $1,960 are considered affordable. 

40



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT iv 

Housing sales prices are higher in Sherwood than the regional averages. As 

of January 2015, median sales price in Sherwood was $316,500, which is 

higher than the Washington County ($281,700), the Portland MSA ($269,900), 

and Oregon ($237,300) median sales prices. Median sales prices were higher 

in Sherwood than in other Portland westside communities such as Tigard, 

Tualatin, and Beaverton, but lower than Wilsonville or West Linn. 

Rental costs are higher overall in Sherwood than the regional averages. The 

median rent in Sherwood was $1,064, compared to Washington County’s 

average of $852. On a per-square-foot basis, Sherwood/Tigard/Tualatin’s 

rents ($1.13 per square foot) were lower than the Portland Metro area’s 

average of $1.22 per square foot.  

More than one-third of Sherwood’s households have housing affordability 

problems. Thirty-eight percent of Sherwood’s households were cost-

burdened (i.e., paid more than 30% of their income on rent or 

homeownership costs). Renters were more likely to be cost-burdened (40% of 

renters were cost-burdened), compared to homeowners (35% were cost-

burdened) in Sherwood. These levels of cost burden are consistent with 

regional averages.  In Washington County in the 2009-2013 period, 38% of 

households were cost burdened, compared to 41% in the Portland Region. 

Future housing affordability will depend on the relationship between income 

and housing price. The key question is whether housing prices will continue 

to outpace income growth. Answering this question is difficult because of the 

complexity of the factors that affect both income growth and housing prices. 

It is clear, however, that Sherwood will need a wider variety of housing, 

especially housing affordable to low- and moderate-income households.  

  

41



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT v 

HOW MUCH HOUSING GROWTH IS FORECAST, AND CAN THAT 

GROWTH BE ACCOMMODATED WITHIN SHERWOOD? 

The housing needs analysis in this report is based on Metro’s coordinated 

forecast of household growth in Sherwood. The forecast includes growth in both 

areas within the city limits, as well as areas currently outside the city limits that 

the City expects to annex for residential uses (most notably the Brookman area).  

Sherwood is forecast to add 1,156 new households between 2015 and 2035. 

Of these, 606 new households are inside the existing city limits; 550 new 

households are outside the current city limits in the Brookman Area. 

Sherwood’s land base can accommodate the entire forecast for growth. 

Vacant and partially vacant land in the Sherwood Planning Area has capacity 

to accommodate 1,281 new dwelling units. Compared to demand, Sherwood 

has a small surplus of residential land.  

Sherwood will need to annex the Brookman Area to accommodate the 

forecast for growth. If Sherwood does not annex the Brookman Area, the 

city’s options for accommodating future growth will be limited to growing 

within the existing city limits or to growing in a different area, such as 

Sherwood West. The availability of other areas to accommodate growth, 

including Sherwood West, will depend on changes to the Metro urban 

growth boundary and theses changes typically take years to make. 

WHAT IF SHERWOOD GROWS FASTER? 

The forecast for growth in Sherwood is considerably below historical 

growth rates. Metro’s forecast for new housing in Sherwood shows that 

households will grow at less than 1% per year. In comparison, Sherwood’s 

population grew at 3.4% per year between 2000 and 2013 and 8% per year 

between 1990 and 2013. If Sherwood grows faster than Metro’s forecast 

during the 2015 to 2035 period, then Sherwood will not have sufficient land 

to accommodate growth.  

At faster growth rates, Sherwood’s land base has enough capacity for 

several years of growth. At growth rates between 2% to 4% of growth 

annually, land inside the Sherwood city limits can accommodate two to five 

years of growth. With capacity in the Brookman Area, Sherwood can 

accommodate four to ten years of growth at these growth rates.  

Additional housing growth in Sherwood depends the availability of 

development-ready land. The amount of growth likely to happen in 

Sherwood is largely dependent on when the Brookman Area is annexed, 

42



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT vi 

when the Sherwood West area is brought into the City and annexed, and 

when urban services (such as roads, water, and sanitary sewer) are 

developed in each area.  

WHAT ARE THE IMPLICATIONS FOR SHERWOOD’S HOUSING 

POLICIES?  

To provide adequate land supply, Sherwood voters will need to 

approve/annex the Brookman area. If voters continue to reject the Brookman 

annexation, Sherwood as a community will either be unable to accommodate 

expected growth or will need to identify an alternative (more politically 

acceptable) area for growth. Sherwood West is just one of these possibilities. 

Another alternative would be to develop the existing vacant lands at higher 

densities than what they are zoned.   

Sherwood will need Sherwood West to accommodate future growth 

beyond the existing city limits and Brookman area. The growth rate of 

Metro’s forecast for household growth (0.7% average annual growth) is 

considerably lower than the City’s historical population growth rate over the 

last two decades (8% average annual growth). Metro’s forecast only includes 

growth that can be accommodated within the Sherwood city limits and 

Brookman. Given the limited supply of buildable land within Sherwood, it is 

likely that the City’s residential growth will slow until Sherwood West is 

made development-ready. 

Sherwood has a relatively limited supply of land for moderate- and higher-

density multifamily housing. The limited supply of land in these zones is a 

barrier to development of townhouses and multifamily housing, which are 

needed to meet housing demand resulting from growth of people over 65, 

young families, and moderate-income households.  

The results of the Housing Needs Analysis highlight questions for the 

update of the City’s Comprehensive Plan and the Pre-Concept Planning of 

Sherwood West.  

 Providing housing opportunities for first time home buyers and 

community elders (who prefer to age in place or downsize their 

housing) will require a wider range of housing types. Examples of 

these housing types include: single family homes on smaller lots, 

clustered housing, cottages or townhomes, duplexes, tri-plexes, four-

plexes, garden apartments, or mid-rise apartments. Where should 

Sherwood consider providing a wider range of housing types? What 

types of housing should Sherwood plan for? 

 Changes in demographics and income for Sherwood and regional 

residents will require accommodating a wider range of housing types. 

How many of Sherwood’s needed units should the city plan to 

43



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT vii 

accommodate within the city limits? How much of Sherwood’s 

needed units should be accommodated in the Brookman Area and in 

Sherwood West? 

 What design features and greenspaces would be important to 

consider for new housing? 

 What other design standards would be needed to “keep Sherwood 

Sherwood”? 

 

44



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 1 

1 Introduction 

This report presents the Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis 2015 to 2035. The 

housing needs analysis provides Sherwood with a factual basis to support future 

planning efforts related to housing, including Pre-Concept Planning for 

Sherwood West, and prepares to update and revise the City’s Comprehensive 

Plan policies.  

It is intended to comply with statewide planning policies that govern planning 

for housing and residential development, Goal 10, OAR 660-007, and Metro’s 

Functional Growth Management Plan. The methods used for this study generally 

follow the Planning for Residential Growth guidebook, published by the Oregon 

Transportation and Growth Management Program (1996).  

This report provides Sherwood with a factual basis to support future planning 

efforts related to housing and options for addressing unmet housing needs. It 

provides specific analysis that is required for a jurisdiction in Oregon to comply 

with state policies.  

BACKGROUND 

Sherwood is located at the southwestern edge of the Portland metropolitan 

urban growth boundary (UGB). Over the 2000 to 2014 period, Sherwood had a 

substantial amount of residential growth. Residential development  included all 

of the different housing types with single family detached housing concentrated 

in the 2000 to 2005 period. In part due to this growth and limited land supply for 

new homes, Sherwood is embarking on a Pre-Concept Plan for the Sherwood 

West urban reserve. Concurrently, the City is updating its factual basis for an 

eventual update of its Comprehensive Plan. 

This housing needs analysis provides a factual basis to inform both an update of 

the residential Comprehensive Plan polices and the Pre-Concept Plan for 

Sherwood West. This analysis provides: 

 Information about the characteristics of Sherwood’s housing market, in 

the context of Washington County, the Portland metropolitan region, 

and Oregon,  

 Information about the types and density of housing developed since 

2000, changes in homeownership patterns,  

 Changes in housing cost and affordability, and other housing market 

characteristics; and 

 A forecast of residential growth in Sherwood for the 2015 to 2035 period.  

45



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 2 

As required by OAR 660-024, this forecast is based on Metro’s household forecast 

and demographics and economic trends that will affect housing demand over the 

next 20 years.  

ORGANIZATION OF THE REPORT 

The main body of this report presents a summary of key data and analysis used 

in the housing needs analysis. The appendices present detailed tables and charts 

for the housing needs analysis. This document is organized as follows: 

 Chapter 2. Historical and Recent Development Trends presents a high-

level summary of residential development in Sherwood.  

 Chapter 3. Housing Demand and Need presents a housing needs analysis 

consistent with requirements in the Planning for Residential Growth 

Workbook. Detailed tables and charts supporting the demographic and 

other information discussed in Chapter 4 is presented in Appendix B. 

 Chapter 4. Residential Land Sufficiency estimates the residential land 

sufficiency in Sherwood needed to accommodate expected growth over the 

planning period. 

 Appendix A. Residential Buildable Land Inventory Report 

 Appendix B. Trends Affecting Housing Need in Sherwood 

  

46



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 3 

FRAMEWORK FOR A HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS 

People view homes and communities in a wide range of ways. Economists view 

housing as a bundle of services for which people are willing to pay. Shelter is one 

service, but housing typically also includes: 

 Proximity to other attractions (job, shopping, recreation),  

 Amenities (type and quality of fixtures and appliances, landscaping, 

views), prestige, and  

 Access to public services (quality of schools).  

Because it is impossible to maximize all these services and simultaneously 

minimize costs, households must, and do, make tradeoffs. What individuals can 

purchase for their money is influenced by individuals’ life circumstances as well 

as economic forces and government policy. Among households and income 

levels, preferences vary. Attributes homebuyers and renters seek are a function 

of many factors that may include income, age of household head, number of 

people and children in the household, number of workers and job locations, 

educational opportunities, number of automobiles, neighborhood amenities and 

so on. 

Thus, the housing choices of individual households are influenced in complex 

ways by dozens of factors; and the housing market in the Portland Region, 

Washington County, and Sherwood is the result of the individual decisions of 

thousands of households. These points help to underscore the complexity of 

projecting what types of housing will be built in Sherwood between 2015 and 

2035. 

The complex nature of the housing market was demonstrated by the 

unprecedented boom and bust during the past decade. This complexity does not 

eliminate the need for some type of forecast of future housing demand and need 

and the resulting implications for land demand and consumption. Such forecasts 

are inherently uncertain. Their usefulness for public policy often derives more 

from the explanation of their underlying assumptions about the dynamics of 

markets and policies than from the specific estimates of future demand and need.  

Thus, we begin our housing analysis with a framework for thinking about 

housing and residential markets, and how public policy affects those markets.  

  

47



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 4 

OREGON HOUSING POLICY 

Statewide planning Goal 10 

The passage of the Oregon Land Use Planning Act of 1974 (ORS Chapter 197), 

established the Land Conservation and Development Commission (LCDC), and 

the Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD). The Act 

required the Commission to develop and adopt a set of statewide planning goals. 

Goal 10 addresses housing in Oregon and provides guidelines for local 

governments to follow in developing their local comprehensive land use plans 

and implementing policies.  

At a minimum, local housing policies must meet the requirements of Goal 10 and 

the statutes and administrative rules that implement it (ORS 197.295 to 197.314, 

ORS 197.475 to 197.490, and OAR 600-008).3 Jurisdictions located in the Metro 

UGB are also required to comply with Metropolitan Housing in OAR 660-007 

and Title 7 of Metro’s Urban Growth Management Functional Plan in the Metro 

Code (3.07 Title 7).  

Goal 10 requires incorporated cities to complete an inventory of buildable 

residential lands and to encourage the availability of adequate numbers of 

housing units in price and rent ranges commensurate with the financial 

capabilities of its households.  

Goal 10 defines needed housing types as “housing types determined to meet the 

need shown for housing within an urban growth boundary at particular price 

ranges and rent levels.” ORS 197.303 defines needed housing types: 

(a) Housing that includes, but is not limited to, attached and detached single-

family housing and multiple family housing for both owner and renter 

occupancy; 

(b) Government assisted housing;4 

(c) Mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks as provided in ORS 197.475 

to 197.490; and 

(d) Manufactured homes on individual lots planned and zoned for single-

family residential use that are in addition to lots within designated 

manufactured dwelling subdivisions. 

                                                      

3 ORS 197.296 only applies to cities with populations over 25,000. 

4 Government assisted housing can be any housing type listed in ORS 197.303 (a), (c), or (d). 

Sherwood’s primarily 

obligations under Goal 

10 are to:  

 Designate land in a 

way that 50% of new 

housing could be 

either multifamily or 

single-family attached 

housing (e.g., 

townhouses) 

 Provide opportunities 

to achieve an average 

density of six dwelling 

units per net acre 

 Provide opportunities 

for development of 

needed housing types: 

single-family detached, 

single--family attached, 

and multifamily 

housing.  

48



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 5 

In summary, Sherwood must identify needs for all of the housing types listed 

above as well as adopt policies that increase the likelihood that needed housing 

types will be developed. 

The Metropolitan Housing Rule 

OAR 660-007 (the Metropolitan Housing rule) is designed to “assure opportunity 

for the provision of adequate numbers of needed housing units and the efficient 

use of land within the Metropolitan Portland (Metro) urban growth boundary.” 

OAR 660-0070-005(12) provides a Metro-specific definition of needed housing:  

"Needed Housing" defined. Until the beginning of the first 
periodic review of a local government's acknowledged 
comprehensive plan, "needed housing" means housing types 
determined to meet the need shown for housing within an urban 
growth boundary at particular price ranges and rent levels.  

The Metropolitan Housing Rule also requires cities to develop residential plan 

designations: 

(1) Plan designations that allow or require residential uses shall be 
assigned to all buildable land. Such designations may allow 
nonresidential uses as well as residential uses. Such designations 
may be considered to be "residential plan designations" for the 
purposes of this division. The plan designations assigned to 
buildable land shall be specific so as to accommodate the varying 
housing types and densities identified in OAR 660-007-0030 
through 660-007-0037.  

OAR 660-007 also specifies the mix and density of new residential construction 

for cities within the Metro Urban Growth Boundary (UGB): 

“Provide the opportunity for at least 50 percent of new residential 
units to be attached single family housing or multiple family 
housing or justify an alternative percentage based on changing 
circumstances” (OAR 660-007-0030 (1). 

OAR 660-007-0035 sets specific density targets for cities in the Metro UGB. 

Sherwood average density target is six dwelling units per net buildable acre.5  

  

                                                      

5 OAR 660-024-0010(6) defines Net Buildable Acres as follows: “Net Buildable Acre” consists of 

43,560 square feet of residentially designated buildable land after excluding future rights-of-way 

for streets and roads. 

49



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 6 

Metro Urban Growth Management Functional Plan 

The Metro Urban Growth Management Functional Plan describes the policies 

that guide development for cities within the Metro UGB to implement the goals 

in the Metro 2040 Plan. 

Title 1: Housing Capacity 

Title 1 of Metro’s Urban Growth Management Functional Plan is intended to 

promote efficient land use within the Metro UGB by increasing the capacity to 

accommodate housing capacity. Each city is required to determine its housing 

capacity based on the minimum number of dwelling units allowed in each 

zoning district that allows residential development, and maintain this capacity.  

Title 1 requires that a city adopt minimum residential development density 

standards by March 2011. If the jurisdiction did not adopt a minimum density by 

March 2011, the jurisdiction must adopt a minimum density that is at least 80% 

of the maximum density.  

Title 1 provides measures to decrease development capacity in selected areas by 

transferring the capacity to other areas of the community. This may be approved 

as long as the community’s overall capacity is not reduced. 

Metro’s 2013 Compliance Report concludes that Sherwood is in compliance for the 

City’s Title 1 responsibilities.  

Title 7: Housing Choice 

Title 7 of Metro’s Urban Growth Management Functional Plan is designed to 

ensure the production of affordable housing in the Metro UGB. Each city and 

county within the Metro region is encouraged to voluntarily adopt an affordable 

housing production goal.  

Each jurisdiction within the Metro region is required to ensure that their 

comprehensive plans and implementing ordinances include strategies to:  

 Ensure the production of a diverse range of housing types,  

 Maintain the existing supply of affordable housing, increase 

opportunities for new affordable housing dispersed throughout their 

boundaries, and  

 Increase opportunities for households of all income levels to live in 

affordable housing (3.07.730) 

Metro’s 2013 Compliance Report concludes that Sherwood is in compliance for the 

City’s Title 7 responsibilities.  

Metro’s 2013 

Compliance Report 

concludes that Sherwood 

is in compliance for the 

City’s Title 1 

responsibilities. 

Metro’s 2013 

Compliance Report 

concludes that Sherwood 

is in compliance for the 

City’s Title 7 

responsibilities. 

50



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 7 

Title 11: Planning for New Urban Areas 

Title 11 of Metro’s Urban Growth Management Functional Plan provides 

guidance on the conversion of land from rural to urban uses. Land brought into 

the Metro UGB is subject to the provisions of section 3.07.1130 of the Metro Code, 

which requires lands to be maintained at rural densities until the completion of a 

concept plan and annexation into the municipal boundary.  

The concept plan requirements directly related to residential development are to 

prepare a plan that includes:  

(1) A mix and intensity of uses that make efficient use of public systems and 

facilities,  

(2) A range of housing for different types, tenure, and prices that addresses the 

housing needs of the governing city, and  

(3) Identify goals and strategies to meet the housing needs for the governing city 

in the expansion area.  

Metro’s 2013 Compliance Report concludes that Sherwood is in compliance for the 

City’s Title 11 responsibilities.  

In addition, the City needs to comply with the Fair Housing Act, administered by 

the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Service (HUD). Complying with this 

Act requires meeting the Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) goal of 

the Fair Housing Act. The City must comply with these regulations to qualify for 

federal grant funds for housing.   

  

51



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 8 

2 Historical and Recent Development Trends 

Analysis of historical development trends in Sherwood provides insights into 

how the local housing market functions. The intent of the analysis is to 

understand how local market dynamics may affect future housing—particularly 

the mix and density of housing by type. The housing mix and density by type are 

also key variables in forecasting future land need. The specific steps are 

described in Task 2 of the DLCD Planning for Residential Lands Workbook:  

1. Determine the time period for which the data must be gathered. 

2. Identify types of housing to address (at a minimum, all needed housing 

types identified in ORS 197.303). 

3. Evaluate permit/subdivision data to calculate the actual mix, average 

actual gross density, and average actual net density of all housing types. 

The period used in the analysis of housing density and mix is 2000 to 2014, which 

includes both times of high housing production and times of low housing 

production. The reasons for choosing this period were:  

(1) The 2000 to 2014 period includes more than one economic cycle, with extreme 

highs and extreme lows in the housing market and  

(2) Data prior to 2005 was less easily available and obtaining and compiling data 

for 2000 to 2004 was difficult to acquire.   

The housing needs analysis presents information about residential development 

by housing types. For the purposes of this study, we grouped housing types 

based on: (1) whether the structure is stand-alone or attached to another 

structure and (2) the number of dwelling units in each structure. The housing 

types used in this analysis are:  

 Single-family detached: single-family detached units and manufactured 

homes on lots and in mobile home parks. 

 Single-family attached: all structures with a common wall where each 

dwelling unit occupies a separate lot, such as row houses or townhouses. 

 Multifamily: all attached structures other than single-family detached 

units, manufactured units, or single-family attached units. Multifamily 

units include duplexes, tri-plexes, quad-plexes, and structures with more 

than five units (such as apartments).  

52



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 9 

The reason for choosing these categories of housing type for the analysis is that 

they meet the requirements definition of needed housing types in ORS 197.303.6 

In general, this report uses data from the 2009-2013 American Community 

Survey (ACS) for Sherwood, as described in Appendix B. Where information is 

available, we report information from the 2010 Decennial Census. This section 

summarizes historical and recent development trends, described in detail in 

Appendix B.  

The primary geographies used throughout this report are: 

 Sherwood. This generally refers to the Sherwood city limits. Census 

data for Sherwood uses this geography. 

 Sherwood Planning Area. This is the Sherwood city limits and land 

that is within the Metro urban growth boundary but outside of the 

Sherwood city limits, primarily the Brookman Area. 

 Sherwood West. The urban reserve to the west of Sherwood that may 

be brought into the Metro urban growth boundary when needed 

regionally and determined beneficial locally. Of note, Sherwood is a 

voter-approved annexation community. All lands annexed to the City 

must be approved by a majority vote of registered voters. 

Residential development trends7 

Single-family detached housing makes up the largest share of Sherwood’s 

housing stock (Figure B- 1). Currently:  

 Single-family detached housing accounts for about 75% of Sherwood’s 

housing stock. 

 Single-family attached housing accounts for about 8% of Sherwood’s 

housing stock.  

 Multifamily housing accounts for about 18% of Sherwood’s housing 

stock. 

                                                      

6 The analysis of development in Sherwood attempts to separate single-family detached and 

single-family attached housing. However, the City’s building permit system does not distinguish 

between these two types of housing. City staff manually identified single-family attached 

housing where there was a concentration of it developed (i.e., a development of townhouses). 

City staff were unable to identify small-scale single-family attached development that was 

scattered throughout the city.  

7 Except where otherwise noted, data in this section is from the U.S. Decennial Census (for 2010 

data) or the U.S. Census’s American Community Survey for 2009-2013. 

Three-quarters of 

Sherwood’s housing is 

single-family detached 

housing.  

53



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 10 

The majority of housing developed in Sherwood between 2000 and 2014 was 

single-family detached housing (Table B- 1 and Figure B- 2).8  

 Over the 2000 to 2014 period, Sherwood issued permits for nearly 2,225 

dwellings, with about 148 units permitted each year. 

 Sixty-nine percent of new housing permitted in Sherwood between 

2000 and 2014 was single-family. Roughly 1,721 single-family dwelling 

units were permitted over the 15-year period. 

 Nine percent of the building permits issued in Sherwood over 2000 to 

2014 were single-family attached (i.e., townhouses) and 23% were for 

multifamily housing. 

 The majority of new housing in Sherwood was built between 2000 and 

2006, before development decreased with the national housing crisis.  

 The majority of new multifamily housing in Sherwood was permitted 

in 2006, 2009, and 2014. The majority of new single-family attached 

housing was permitted in 2004 and 2005.  

Almost three quarters of Sherwood’s residents own their homes (Figure B- 3, 

Figure B- 4, and Figure B- 5). Homeownership rates in Sherwood are above 

Washington County and Oregon’s averages.  

 Homeownership rates declined slightly over the last decade. Roughly 

79% of housing in Sherwood was owner-occupied in 2000 compared to 

about 75% in 2010. 

 Most owner-occupied housing is single-family detached, about 89%. 

 Renter-occupied housing is a mixture of multifamily (57%), single-

family detached (35%), and single-family attached (9%). 

Sherwood’s vacancy rate is lower than Multnomah, Washington, and 

Clackamas counties, and lower than the State average (Table B- 2 and Figure B- 

6). 

 In 2010, Sherwood’s vacancy rate (3.9%) was below that of Multnomah 

(6.2%), Washington (5.4%), and Clackamas (7.1%) counties, and lower 

than Oregon’s (9.3%). 

 The vacancy rates for apartments in the Tigard/Tualatin/Sherwood area 

varied from a high of 5.8% in Spring 2010 to a low of 2.6% in Fall 2013 

and were within 1% of the vacancy rate for the Portland/Vancouver 

metro area.9 

                                                      

8 Building permit data is from the City of Sherwood Building Permit Database. 

9 Multifamily NW Apartment Reports, Spring 2010 – Fall 2014. 

Over the 2000-2014 

period, 69% of new 

housing permitted by 

Sherwood was single-

family detached housing. 

54



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 11 

Sherwood’s residential development between 2000 and 2014 averaged 8.2 

dwelling units per net acre, above the State’s requirement in OAR 660-007 for 

six dwelling units per net acre (Table B- 3 Table B-4).10 

 Average density in Sherwood was 8.2 dwelling units per net acre over 

the 2000 to 2014 period. 

 Density was lowest in the Very Low Density Residential Zone (2.9 

dwelling units per net acre) and Medium Density Residential Low Zone 

(6.1 dwelling units per net acre). 

 Density was highest in Office Commercial (24.4 dwelling units per net 

acre) and High Density Residential (19.1 dwelling units per net acre). 

  

                                                      

10 City of Sherwood Building Permit Database. 

55



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 12 

3 Housing Need in Sherwood 

This chapter presents the analysis of housing needs in Sherwood over the 2015 to 

2035 period. Estimates of needed units by structure type and by density range 

follows. 

Chapter 1 described the framework for conducting a housing "needs" analysis. 

The specific steps in conducting a housing needs analysis are: 

1. Project number of new housing units needed in the next 20 years. 

2. Identify relevant national, state, and local demographic and economic 

trends and factors that may affect the 20-year projection of structure type 

mix.  

3. Describe the demographic characteristics of the population and, if 

possible, housing trends that relate to demand for different types of 

housing. 

4. Determine the types of housing that are likely to be affordable to the 

projected households based on household income. 

5. Estimate the number of additional needed units by structure type. 

6. Determine the needed density ranges for each plan designation and the 

average needed net density for all structure types. 

This chapter presents information for these steps for Sherwood’s housing needs 

analysis.  

  

56



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 13 

PROJECTION OF NEW HOUSING UNITS NEEDED IN THE NEXT 20 

YEARS 

As required by OAR 660-024, the housing needs analysis in this report is based 

on a coordinated forecast from Metro (the November 2012 “Gamma” forecast), 

which is a necessary prerequisite to estimate housing needs. The projection of 

household growth includes areas currently within the city limits, as well as areas 

currently outside the city limits that the City expects will someday be annexed 

for residential uses (most notably the Brookman area). We call these areas 

combined the “Sherwood planning area.”  

While the housing needs analysis presents information for Sherwood West, this 

area is currently outside of the regional UGB. Housing need in Sherwood West is 

not considered part of Sherwood’s overall housing need for the purposes of this 

study. The information in this report, however, can inform the ongoing Pre-

Concept Planning for Sherwood West. 

Table B-6 in Appendix B presents Metro’s forecast for housing in Sherwood for 

the 2010 to 2035 period. Table 1 presents ECONorthwest’s extrapolation of 

Metro’s forecast for Sherwood to the 2015 to 2035 period. Table 1 shows that the 

Sherwood planning area is expected to add 1,156 new households between 

2015 and 2035. Regional models and informed projections suggest just over 600 

(606) new households will be accommodated inside the existing city limits. 

Approximately 550 new households are expected to be accommodated outside 

the current city limits in the Brookman Area. 

Table 1. Extrapolated Metro forecast for household growth,  

Sherwood planning area, 2015 to 2035 

 
Source: Metro Gamma Forecast, November 2012  

Extrapolation from the 2010 forecast (the base year in the Metro forecast) to 2015 (not shown in  

Metro’s forecast) by ECONorthwest 

  

Year

Sherwood 

City Limits

Brookman 

Area

Sherwood 

Planning 

Area

Sherwood 

West

2015 6,663           101              6,764           270              

2035 7,269           651              7,920           5,114           

Change 2010 to 2035

Households 606              550              1,156           4,844           

Percent 9% 545% 17% 1794%

AAGR 0.4% 9.8% 0.8% 15.8%

Households

The housing needs 

analysis in this report is 

based on the Metroscope 

forecast of household 

growth in Sherwood over 

the next 25 years. 

The housing needs 

analysis focuses on 

housing growth in 

Sherwood over the 2015 

to 2035 period.  

 

The forecast shows that 

Sherwood will add 1,156 

new households over the 

20-year period. 

57



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 14 

DEMOGRAPHIC AND SOCIOECONOMIC FACTORS AFFECTING 

HOUSING CHOICE 

Demographic trends are important to a thorough understanding of the dynamics 

of the Sherwood housing market. Sherwood exists in a regional economy; trends 

in the region impact the local housing market. This section documents national, 

state, and regional demographic, socioeconomic, and other trends relevant to 

Sherwood. 

The Factors that Affect Housing Choice  

Analysts typically describe housing demand as the preferences for different 

types of housing (i.e., single-family detached or apartment), and the ability to 

pay for that housing (the ability to exercise those preferences in a housing market 

by purchasing or renting housing—in other words, income or wealth).  

Metro, the agency responsible for regional planning within the Portland 

metropolitan UGB, uses a decision support tool called Metroscope to model 

changes in measures of economic, demographic, land use, and transportation 

activity. Metroscope includes a residential location model, which projects the 

locations of future households based on factors such as land availability and 

capacity, cost of development, changes in demographics, changes in 

employment, and changes in transportation and transit infrastructure. The 

housing needs analysis in this report is based on the Metroscope forecast of 

household growth in Sherwood over the next 25 years.  

Many demographic and socioeconomic variables affect housing choice. 

However, the literature about housing markets finds that age of the householder, 

size of the household, and income are most strongly correlated with housing 

choice.11 

                                                      

11 The research in this chapter is based on numerous articles and sources of information about 

housing, including: 

The Case for Multi-family Housing. Urban Land Institute. 2003 

E. Zietz. Multi-family Housing: A Review of Theory and Evidence. Journal of Real Estate 

Research, Volume 25, Number 2. 2003. 

C. Rombouts. Changing Demographics of Homebuyers and Renters. Multi-family Trends. 

Winter 2004. 

J. McIlwain. Housing in America: The New Decade. Urban Land Institute. 2010. 

D. Myers and S. Ryu. Aging Baby Boomers and the Generational Housing Bubble. Journal of the 

American Planning Association. Winter 2008. 

M. Riche. The Implications of Changing U.S. Demographics for Housing Choice and Location in 

Cities. The Brookings Institution Center on Urban and Metropolitan Policy. March 2001. 

 

The factors that have the 

largest impact on a 

household’s housing 

choice are: age of the 

householder, household 

size and composition, 

and income. 

58



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 15 

 Age of householder is the age of the person identified (in the Census) as 

the head of household. Households make different housing choices at 

different stages of life.  

 Size of household is the number of people living in the household. 

Younger and older people are more likely to live in single-person 

households. People in their middle years are more likely to live in 

multiple person households (often with children). 

 Income is the household income. Income is probably the most important 

determinant of housing choice. Income is strongly related to the type of 

housing a household chooses (e.g., single-family detached, duplex, or a 

building with more than five units) and to household tenure (e.g., rent or 

own).  

This section focuses on these factors, presenting data that suggests how changes 

to these factors may affect housing need in Sherwood over the next 20 years.  

National housing trends 

Appendix B presents a full review of national housing trends. This brief 

summary builds on previous work by ECONorthwest, Urban Land Institute 

(ULI) reports, and conclusions from The State of the Nation’s Housing, 2014 report 

from the Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University. The Harvard 

report summarizes the national housing outlook as follows: 

“With promising increases in home construction, sales, and prices, 
the housing market gained steam in early 2013. But when interest 
rates notched up at mid-year, momentum slowed. This 
moderation is likely to persist until job growth manages to lift 
household incomes. Even amid a broader recovery, though, many 
hard-hit communities still struggle and millions of households 
continue to pay excessive shares of income for housing.” 

Several challenges to a strong domestic housing market remain. Demand for 

housing is closely tied to jobs and incomes, which are taking longer to recover 

than in previous cycles. While trending downward, the number of underwater 

homeowners, delinquent loans, and vacancies remains high. The State of the 

Nation’s Housing report projects that it will take several years for market 

conditions to return to normal and, until then, the housing recovery will likely 

unfold at a moderate pace. 

                                                                                                                                                 

L. Lachman and D. Brett. Generation Y: America’s New Housing Wave. Urban Land Institute. 

2010. 

59



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 16 

National housing market trends include: 12 

 Post-recession recovery slows down. Despite strong growth in the 

housing market in 2012 and the first half of 2013, by the first quarter 

of 2014, housing starts and existing home sales were both down by 3% 

from the same time a year before, while existing home sales were 

down 7% from the year before. Increases in mortgage interest rates 

and meager job growth contributed to the stall in the housing market. 

 Continued declines in homeownership. After 13 successive years of 

increases, the national homeownership rate declined each year from 

2005 to 2013, and is currently at about 65%. The Urban Land Institute 

projects that homeownership will continue to decline to somewhere 

in the low 60% range. 

 Housing affordability. In 2012, more than one-third of American 

households spent more than 30% of income on housing. Low-income 

households face an especially dire hurdle to afford housing. Among 

those earning less than $15,000, more than 80% paid over 30% of their 

income and almost 70% of households paid more than half of their 

income. For households earning $15,000 to $29,000, more than 60% 

were cost burdened, with about 30% paying more than half of their 

income on housing. 

 Changes in housing characteristics. National trends show that the 

size of single-family and multifamily units, and the number of 

household amenities (e.g., fireplace or two or more bathrooms) has 

increased since the early 1990s. Between 1990 and 2013 the median 

size of new single-family dwellings increased 25% nationally from 

1,905 square feet to 2,384 square feet and 18% in the western region 

from 1,985 square feet to 2,359 square feet. Moreover, the percentage 

of units smaller than 1,400 square feet nationally decreased from 15% 

in 1999 to 8% in 2013. The percentage of units greater than 3,000 

square feet increased from 17% in 1999 to 29% of new one-family 

homes completed in 2013. In addition to larger homes, a move 

towards smaller lot sizes is seen nationally. Between 2009 and 2013, 

the percentage of lots less than 7,000 square feet increased from 26% 

of lots to 30% of lots. Similarly, in the western region, the share of lots 

less than 7,000 square feet increased from 43% to 48% of lots.  

                                                      

12 These trends are based on information from: (1) The Joint Center for Housing Studies of 

Harvard University’s publication “The State of the Nation’s Housing 2013,” (2) Urban Land 

Institute, “2011 Emerging Trends in Real Estate,” and (3) the U.S. Census.  

In 2012, more than one-

third of households 

across the US had 

housing affordability 

problems, with the lowest 

income households 

having the most difficulty 

finding affordable 

housing. 

Since 1990, the average 

size of new dwelling units 

increased both for single-

family and multifamily 

housing. At the same 

time, the average lot size 

for new housing 

decreased. 

60



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 17 

 Long-term growth and housing demand. The Joint Center for 

Housing Studies forecasts that demand for new homes could total as 

many as 13.2 million units nationally between 2015 and 2025. Much of 

the demand will come from Baby Boomers, Millennials,13 and 

immigrants. 

 Changes in housing preference. Housing preference will be affected 

by changes in demographics, most notably the aging of the Baby 

Boomers, housing demand from the Millennials, and growth of 

foreign-born immigrants. Baby Boomers’ housing choices will affect 

housing preference and homeownership, with some boomers likely to 

stay in their home as long as they are able and some preferring other 

housing products, such as multifamily housing or age-restricted 

housing developments. 

 

In the near-term, Millennials and new immigrants may increase 

demand for rental units. The long-term housing preference of 

Millennials and new immigrants is uncertain. They may have 

different housing preferences as a result of the current housing 

market turmoil and may prefer smaller, owner-occupied units or 

rental units. On the other hand, their housing preferences may be 

similar to the Baby Boomers, with a preference for larger units with 

more amenities. Recent surveys about housing preference suggest 

that Millennials want affordable single-family homes in areas that 

that offer transportation alternatives to cars, such as suburbs or small 

cities with walkable neighborhoods. 14 

  

                                                      

13 Millennials are, broadly speaking, the children of Baby Boomers, born from the early 1980’s 

through the early 2000’s. 

14 The American Planning Association, “Investing in Place; Two generations’ view on the future of 

communities.” 2014. “Survey Says: Home Trends and Buyer Preferences,” National Association 

of Home Builders International Builders Show, accessed January, 2015, 

http://www.buildersshow.com/Search/isesProgram.aspx?id=17889&fromGSA=1. “Access to 

Public Transportation a Top Criterion for Millennials When Deciding Where to Live, New 

Survey Shows,” Transportation for America, accessed January 2015, http://t4america.org/wp-

content/uploads/2014/04/Press-Release_Millennials-Survey-Results-FINAL-with-embargo.pdf. 

Future housing 

preferences will be 

affected by demographic 

changes, such as the 

aging of the Baby 

Boomers, growing 

housing demand from 

Millennials, and growth 

of foreign-born 

immigrants. 

61



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 18 

State Trends 

Oregon’s 2011-2015 Consolidated Plan includes a detailed housing needs analysis 

as well as strategies for addressing housing needs statewide.15 The plan 

concludes that “Oregon’s changing population demographics are having a 

significant impact on its housing market.” It identified the following population 

and demographic trends that influence housing need statewide. Oregon is: 

 Facing housing cost increases due to higher unemployment and lower 

wages, as compared to the nation.  

 Since 2005, is experiencing higher foreclosure rates compared with the 

previous two decades. 

 Losing federal subsidies on about 8% of federally-subsidized Section 8 

housing units. 

 Losing housing value throughout the State. 

 Losing manufactured housing parks, with a 25% decrease in the number 

of manufactured home parks between 2003 and 2010. 

 Increasingly older, more diverse, and has less affluent households.16 

Regional and Local Demographic Trends 

Sherwood has a growing population (Table B- 5). Sherwood’s growing 

population will drive future demand for Sherwood over the planning period. 

 Sherwood grew by more than 15,000 people, a 501% increase in 

population, at an average annual rate of 8.1% over the 1990 to 2013 

period. 17 

 Sherwood grew at a faster rate than the nation as a whole (1.0% per 

year), Oregon (1.4% per year), and the Portland Region (1.6%) over this 

period. 

 Metro forecasts that the number of households in the Sherwood 

Planning Area will grow by about 1,156 households over the 2015-2035 

period, at an average annual growth rate of 0.8%. About 600 new 

households will be within Sherwood’s existing city limits and about 550 

will be in the Brookman Area, an area that has not yet annexed into 

Sherwood. 18 

                                                      

15 http://www.ohcs.oregon.gov/OHCS/HRS_Consolidated_Plan_5yearplan.shtml 

16 State of Oregon Consolidated Plan 2011 to 2015. 

http://www.oregon.gov/ohcs/hd/hrs/consplan/2011_2015_consolidated_plan.pdf 

17 2013 Population Estimates in Oregon come from Portland State University’s Population 

Research Center. 

18 Metro Gama Forecast, November 2012. 

62



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 19 

 Metro forecasts that Sherwood West, an area that is adjacent to 

Sherwood but currently outside of the Metro Urban Growth Boundary, 

will grow by 4,844 households. Growth in Sherwood West will not begin 

until the area is included in the Metro UGB and annexed into Sherwood.   

 Metro’s forecast of household growth considers residential capacity 

within Sherwood’s city limits to accommodate growth. Much of 

Sherwood’s future growth depends on bringing new land into the city 

limits, including the Brookman Area and Sherwood West. 

Sherwood’s population is younger than the state, on average (Table B- 7, Table 

B- 8, and Figure B- 8). Sherwood has a larger share of people younger than 30 

years of age, and a relatively small share of people over 50 years. If Sherwood 

continues to attract young residents, then it will continue to have demand for 

housing for families, especially housing affordable to younger families with 

moderate incomes. Recent studies suggest that growth in younger residents (e.g., 

Millennials) will result in increased demand for both affordable single-family 

detached housing, as well as increased demand for affordable townhouses and 

multifamily housing. Growth in this population will result in growth in demand 

for both ownership and rental opportunities, with an emphasis on housing that 

is comparatively affordable. 

 In 2010, the median age in Sherwood was 34.3 years old, compared to 

the State median of 38.4. 

 A higher percentage of Sherwood’s population is younger than 30 years 

(44%) compared to the state as a whole (39%). Furthermore, a smaller 

share of Sherwood’s population is younger than 50 years (21%), 

compared to the state as a whole (34%).  

Sherwood’s population is growing older (Figure B- 9). Although Sherwood has 

a smaller share of people over 50 years old than the State average, Sherwood’s 

population is growing older, consistent with State and national trends. Demand 

for housing for retirees will grow over the planning period, as the Baby Boomers 

continue to age and retire. However, Sherwood’s demand for housing for seniors 

may grow at a slower rate than across the State.  

Growth of seniors will have the biggest impacts on demand for new housing 

through demand for housing types specific to seniors, such as assisted living 

facilities or age-restricted developments. These households will make a variety of 

housing choices, including: remaining in their homes as long as they are able, 

downsizing to smaller single-family homes (detached and attached) or 

multifamily units, or moving into group housing (such as assisted living facilities 

or nursing homes), as their health fails. 

 The fastest-growing age group over the 2000 to 2010 period in Sherwood 

was people aged 45 years and older, with the most growth in the 

number of people aged 45 to 64.  

The growth of younger 

and diversified 

households will result in 

increased demand for a 

wider variety of 

affordable housing 

appropriate for families 

with children, such as 

small single-family 

housing, townhouses, 

duplexes, and multifamily 

housing. 

The aging of the 

population will result in 

increased demand for 

smaller single-family 

housing, multifamily 

housing, and housing for 

seniors. 

63



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 20 

 In Sherwood, people aged 45 to 64 grew by 102%, from 1,936 to 3,917 

people between 2000 and 2010.  

 By 2035, people 60 years and older will account for 24% of the 

population in Washington County (up from 18% in 2015). The percent of 

total population in each age group younger than 60 years old will 

decrease. The age distribution in the Portland Region will change in a 

similar pattern.19 

 Given the growth of people 45 years and older in Sherwood and the 

forecast for growth of people 60 years and older between 2015-2035 in 

Washington County and the Portland Region, it is reasonable to expect 

that Sherwood will have growth in the senior population.  

Sherwood is becoming more ethnically diverse (Figure B- 10). Growth in 

Hispanic and Latino population will affect Sherwood’s housing needs in a 

variety of ways. Growth in first and, to a lesser extent, second and third-

generation Hispanic and Latino immigrants tend to increase demand for larger 

dwelling units to accommodate the on average larger household sizes for these 

households. Households for Hispanic and Latino immigrants are more likely to 

include multiple generations, requiring more space than smaller household sizes. 

As Hispanic and Latino households integrate over generations, household size 

typically decreases and housing needs become similar to housing needs for all 

households.  

Growth in Hispanic and Latino households will result in increased demand for 

housing of all types, both for ownership and rentals, with an emphasis on 

housing that is comparatively affordable.  

 Sherwood’s Hispanic and Latino population grew by 99% from 2000 to 

the 2009-2013 period, from 557 to 1,107 people, increasing its share of the 

population from 4.7% to 6.0%.  

 Nonetheless, Sherwood’s percentage of Hispanic or Latino population 

remains below that of the state as a whole. In the 2009-2013 period, 

Hispanic and Latino population accounted for 12% of the state’s 

population, compared to Sherwood’s average of 6.0%. 

Sherwood’s household size is larger than State averages (Table B- 9). The larger 

household size is indicative of a larger share of households with children or 

multigenerational households.  

 Sherwood’s average household size was 2.89 persons per household, 

compared with the regional average of 2.54 persons per household, and 

the state average of 2.49 persons per household.  

                                                      

19 Demographic forecast for Washington County by the Oregon Office of Economic Analysis. 

64



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 21 

 The size of households in Sherwood grew from 2000 to the 2009-2013 

period (2.77 to 2.89). Over the same period, the average household size 

in the Portland Region rose slightly from 2.53 to 2.54, while the State’s 

average fell from 2.51 to 2.49. 

Sherwood has a relatively high share of households with children (Figure B- 

11). Households with children are more likely to prefer single-family detached 

housing, if it is relatively affordable.  

 Sherwood has a larger share of households with children (47%) than the 

State average (27%), the Portland Region (29%), or Washington County 

(33%). 

 In the 2009-2013 period, Sherwood had a smaller share of single-person 

households (19%) than the regional average (29%).  

 In the 2009-2013 period, Sherwood had a smaller share of non-family 

households (23%) than the regional average (38%).  

Sherwood is part of a complex, interconnected regional economy (Figure B- 12, 

Table B- 11, and Table B- 12). Most people working at businesses in Sherwood do 

not live in Sherwood. Demand for housing by workers at businesses in 

Sherwood may change with fluctuations in fuel and commuting costs, as well as 

the capacity of highways to accommodate commuting. 20 

 Commuting is typical throughout the region: 91% of Sherwood’s 

working residents commuted outside the city, and about 85% of those 

who work in the city live outside the city itself. 

Summary of the Implications of Demographic and Socioeconomic 

Trends on Housing Choice 

The purpose of the analysis thus far has been to provide background on the 

kinds of factors that influence housing choice, and in doing so, to convey why 

the number and interrelationships among those factors ensure that 

generalizations about housing choice are difficult and prone to inaccuracies.  

There is no question that age affects housing type and tenure. Mobility is 

substantially higher for people aged 20 to 34. People in that age group will also 

have, on average, less income than people who are older. They are less likely to 

have children. All of these factors mean that younger households are much more 

likely to be renters, and renters are more likely to be in multifamily housing. 

The data illustrate what more detailed research has shown and what most people 

understand intuitively: life cycle and housing choice interact in ways that are 

                                                      

20 US Census Bureau, LED on the Map, http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/themap3/. 

65

http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/themap3/


ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 22 

predictable in the aggregate; age of the household head is correlated with 

household size and income; household size and age of household head affect 

housing preferences; income affects the ability of a household to afford a 

preferred housing type. The connection between socioeconomic and 

demographic factors and housing choice is often described informally by giving 

names to households with certain combinations of characteristics: the "traditional 

family," the "never marrieds," the "dinks" (dual-income, no kids), the "empty 

nesters."21 Thus, simply looking at the long wave of demographic trends can 

provide good information for estimating future housing demand. 

Thus, one is ultimately left with the need to make a qualitative assessment of the 

future housing market. The following is a discussion of how demographic and 

housing trends are likely to affect housing Sherwood over the next 20 years: 

 Growth in housing will be driven by growth in population. Between 

2000 and the 2009-2013 period, the number of housing units in 

Sherwood increased by 47% from about 4,500 to 6,600 (Figure B- 4), 

while its population grew by roughly 55% from 11,963 to 18,575 from 

2000 to 2013 (Table B- 5).22 

 On average, future housing will look a lot like past housing. That is 

the assumption that underlies any trend forecast, and one that allows 

some quantification of the composition of demand for new housing. As 

a first approximation, the next three to five years of residential growth 

will look a lot like the last three to five years. 

 If the future differs from the past, it is likely to move in the direction 

(on average) of smaller units and more diverse housing types. Most of 

the evidence suggests that the bulk of the change will be in the direction 

of smaller average house and lot sizes for single-family housing.  

Key demographic trends that will affect Sherwood’s future housing 

needs are: (1) the aging of the Baby Boomers, (2) aging of the 

Millennials, (3) growth of family households, and (4) continued growth 

in Hispanic and Latino population. 

 The Baby Boomer’s population is continuing to age. By 2035, people 60 

years and older will account for 24% of the population in 

Washington County (up from 18% in 2015). The changes that 

affect Sherwood’s housing demand as the population ages are that 

household sizes decrease and homeownership rates decrease. 

                                                      

21 See Planning for Residential Growth: A Workbook for Oregon's Urban Areas (June 1997). 

22 2013 Population Estimates come from come from the Portland State University Population 

Research Center’s Annual Population Estimates. 

66



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 23 

 Millennials will continue to age. By 2035, Millennials will be roughly 

between about 35 years old to 55 years old. As they age, generally 

speaking, their household sizes will increase and homeownership 

rates will peak by about age 55. Between 2015 and 2035, 

Millennials will be a key driver in demand for housing for families 

with children. 

 Growth of households with children. Sherwood has an unusually high 

percentage of households with children, compared to the regional 

averages. If Sherwood continues to attract families with children, 

demand for housing for families, such as affordable single-family 

detached or townhouses, will increase. 

 Hispanic and Latino population will continue to grow. The U.S. Census 

projects that by about 2040, Hispanic and Latino population will 

account for more than one-quarter of the nation’s population. The 

share of Hispanic and Latino population in the western U.S. is 

likely to be higher. Growth in Hispanic and Latino population will 

drive demand for housing for families with children. Given the 

lower income for Hispanic and Latino households,23 growth in 

this group will also drive demand for affordable housing, both for 

ownership and renters. 

In summary, an aging population, increasing housing costs, housing 

affordability concerns for Millennials and the Hispanic and Latino 

populations, and other variables are factors that support the conclusion 

of smaller and less expensive units and a broader array of housing 

choices. 

Millennials and immigrants will drive demand for affordable housing 

types, including demand for small, affordable single-family units (many 

of which may be ownership units) and for affordable multifamily units 

(many of which may be rental units).  

 No amount of analysis is likely to make the distant future any more 

certain: the purpose of the housing forecasting in this study is to get 

an approximate idea about the future so policy choices can be made 

today. Economic forecasters regard any economic forecast more than 

                                                      

23 The following article describes household income trends for Hispanic and Latino families, 

including differences in income levels for first, second, and third generation households. In 

short, Hispanic and Latino households have lower median income than the national averages. 

First and second generation Hispanic and Latino households have median incomes below the 

average for all Hispanic and Latino households. 

 

Pew Research Center. Second-Generation Americans: A Portrait of the Adult Children of Immigrants, 

February 7, 2012 

67



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 24 

three (or at most five) years out as highly speculative. At one year, one is 

protected from being disastrously wrong by the shear inertia of the 

economic machine. But a variety of factors or events could cause growth 

forecasts to be substantially different.  

REGIONAL AND LOCAL TRENDS IN HOUSING COSTS AND 

AFFORDABILITY 

Sherwood’s income is higher than state averages (Figure B- 19). Income is a key 

determinant of housing affordability. Since 2000, Sherwood’s income has 

decreased (in inflation-adjusted dollars), consistent with state trends.  

 Sherwood’s median household income ($78,400) was about 55% higher 

than the state median ($50,229) in the 2009-2013 period.  

 Inflation-adjusted income for households in Sherwood decreased by 

about 10% from about $87,500 in 2000 to $78,400 (in 2013 dollars) from 

2000 to the 2009-2013 period. This is consistent with state and regional 

trends. 

 Poverty rates increased in Sherwood from 2.7% of the population below 

poverty in 2000 to 7.6% in 2010. The increase is consistent with state and 

regional trends. 

 Sherwood had a smaller share of population below the federal poverty 

line in the 2009-2013 period (7.6%) than the state average (16.2 %). 

Homeownership costs have increased in Sherwood (Figure B- 13, Figure B- 14, 

Figure B- 15 and Figure B- 16). Sales prices for single-family housing increased 

over the period from 2004 to 2014, consistent with national trends. While housing 

prices peaked in 2007, before falling during the recession, sales prices grew by 

about 30% from 2004 to 2014.  

The increases in housing costs have made Sherwood less affordable than most 

other communities on the southwest side of Portland. 

 Median sales prices for homes in Sherwood increased by about 30% 

between 2004 and 2014, from about $245,000 to $318,000.24 

 As of January 2015, median sales prices in Sherwood were about 

$316,500, higher than in Washington County ($281,700), the Portland 

MSA ($269,900), and Oregon ($237,300). Median sales prices were higher 

in Sherwood than in other Portland westside communities such as 

                                                      

24 Recent median home sale price, including price per square foot, comes from Zillow Real Estate 

Research. 

Housing costs in 

Sherwood increased by 

30% since 2000. 

 

Sales prices in Sherwood 

are higher than the 

regional averages. 

68



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 25 

Tigard, Tualatin, and Beaverton but lower than Wilsonville or West 

Linn.  

 Prices per square foot rose in Sherwood from $130 per square foot in 

October 2004 about $170 dollars in October 2014, comparable to the price 

in Washington County and the Portland Region (both about $170). The 

cost of housing per square foot was comparable in Sherwood to other 

cities on the southwest side of Portland, such as Tigard, Tualatin, 

Beaverton, and Wilsonville. 

 The sales price data suggest that, overall, owner-occupied housing being 

produced in Sherwood was more expensive because it is larger than 

housing built in other cities in the southwestern Portland area. 

 The ratio of home value to income increased by 32% from 2000 to 2009-

2013. In 2000, the median home value was 2.9 times the median 

household income. By 2009-2013, the median home value was 3.8 times 

the median household income. In comparison, in 2009-2013, the typical 

value of an owner-occupied house in Washington County was 4.4 times 

the median income and the state average was 4.74 times the median 

income. 

Rental costs are higher in Sherwood than the average in Washington County, 

with a slightly lower rental cost on a cost per square foot basis (Table B- 14, 

and Figure B- 17 and Figure B- 18).   

 The median contract rent in Sherwood in the 2009-2013 period was 

$1,064, compared to Washington County’s average of $852. 

 Average rent in the Tigard/Tualatin/Sherwood area submarket was $1.13 

per square foot in Fall 2014, lower than the regional average of $1.22 per 

square foot. Between Spring 2010 and Spring 2013, average rent in 

Tigard/Tualatin/Sherwood area increased by 38%, consistent with the 

regional increase of 36%. 

More than one-third of Sherwood’s households have housing affordability 

problems (Figure B- 20 and Figure B- 21).  

 Thirty-eight percent of Sherwood’s households were cost burdened (i.e., 

paid more than 30% of their income on rent or homeownership costs) in 

the 2009-2013 period. This is consistent with the state averages. 

 Roughly 40% of Sherwood’s renter households were cost burdened in 

the 2009-2013 period. About one-fifth of renters were severely cost 

burdened (i.e., pay more than 50% of their income on rent).  

 About 35% of Sherwood’s homeowners were cost burdened in the 2009-

2013 period. Only about 1% of homeowners were severely cost 

burdened (i.e., paid more than 50% of their income on homeownership 

costs).  

Rental costs are about 

25% higher than the 

regional average. 

More than one-third of 

Sherwood’s households 

have housing 

affordability problems, 

similar to regional 

averages. 

69



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 26 

Future housing affordability will depend on the relationship between income 

and housing price. The key question, which is difficult to answer when based on 

historical data, is whether housing prices will continue to outpace income 

growth.  

 

 

  

70



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 27 

FORECAST OF HOUSING BY TYPE AND DENSITY OF HOUSING 

Table 2 shows the forecast of needed housing units in Sherwood based on the 

total estimate of housing need shown in Table 1. The forecast in Table 2 assumes: 

that the forecast for new housing will be: 50% single-family detached, 10% 

single-family attached, and 40% multifamily. This forecast is consistent with the 

requirements of OAR 660-007-0035. 

The forecast shows increased demand for lower-cost housing types such as 

single-family attached and multifamily units, which meets the needs resulting in 

the changing demographics in Sherwood and the Portland region. The changes 

in demographics are the aging of the Baby Boomers, growth in Millennial 

households, and increases in ethnic diversity. The previous section described 

these trends and the implications for housing need in Sherwood.  

Table 2. Forecast of needed housing units by mix,  

Sherwood planning area, 2015-2035 

 
Source: ECONorthwest 

The assumed housing mix meets the requirement of OAR 660-007-0030 to 

“designate sufficient buildable land to provide the opportunity for at least 50 

percent of new residential units to be attached single family housing or multiple 

family housing.” 

The needed density in Sherwood is consistent with the densities achieved in 

residential zones Sherwood over the 2000-2014 period (Table B-4). These 

densities are: 

 Very Low Density Residential (VLDR): 2.9 dwelling units per net acre 

 Low Density Residential (LDR): 6.5 dwelling units per net acre25 

 Medium Density Residential – Low (MDRL): 6.1 dwelling units per net 

acre 

                                                      

25 The historical density achieved in LDR, 6.5 dwelling units per acre, is higher than the maximum 

allowable density in LDR, 5 dwelling units per net acre. This fact can be explained in large part 

by the fact that 60% of new development in LDR was part of a Planned Unit Development 

(PUD), which averaged 7.6 dwelling units per acre.  

Housing Type

New 

Dwelling 

Units (DU) Percent

Single-family detached 578              50%

Single-family attached 116              10%

Multifamily 462              40%

Total 1,156           

71



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 28 

 Medium Density Residential – High (MDRH): 7.7 dwelling units per net 

acre 

 High Density Residential (HDR): 19.1 dwelling units per net acre 

These densities, when applied to Sherwood’s supply of buildable land in the 

capacity analysis (Table 6) results in an overall density of 7.3 dwelling units per 

net acre. This housing density meets the requirements of OAR 660-007-0035 to 

“provide for an overall density of six or more dwelling units per net buildable 

acre.” 

Table 3 allocates the needed housing units to Sherwood’s zones. The allocation is 

based on allowed uses in Sherwood’s zoning code, historical development 

trends, and Sherwood’s inventory of vacant buildable residential land. 

Table 3. Allocation of needed housing units to zones, Sherwood planning area, 2015-2035 

 
Source: ECONorthwest 

Needed housing by income level 

Step four of the housing needs analysis is to develop an estimate of need for 

housing by income and housing type. This requires an estimate of the income 

distribution of current and future households in the community. The estimates 

presented in this section are based on (1) secondary data from the Census, and 

(2) analysis by ECONorthwest. 

The analysis in Table 4 based on American Community Survey data about 

income levels in Sherwood, using income information shown in Table B- 17. 

Income is categorized into market segments consistent with HUD income level 

categories, using the Portland Region’s 2014 Median Family Income (MFI) of 

$69,400. Table 4 is based on current household income distribution, assuming 

approximately that the same percentage of households will be in each market 

segment in the future.  

Based on Sherwood’s current household income distribution, Table 4 shows that 

about 31% of households in Sherwood have incomes below 80% of the MFI. 

Very Low 

Density 

Residential

Low Density 

Residential

Medium 

Density 

Residential-

Low

Medium 

Density 

Residential-

High

High Density 

Residential

Dwelling Units

Single-family detached 63                121              301              81                12                

Single-family attached -               -               -               70                46                

Multifamily -               -               58                160              244              

Total 63                121              359              311              302              

Percent of Units

Single-family detached 5% 10% 26% 7% 1%

Single-family attached 0% 0% 0% 6% 4%

Multifamily 0% 0% 5% 14% 21%

Total 5% 10% 31% 27% 26%

Zone

Total

578                

116                

462                

1,156              

50%

10%

40%

100%

72



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 29 

These households will need a range of housing, such as lower-cost single-family 

detached housing, townhouses, manufactured homes, or multifamily housing. 

These households will predominantly be renters. Sixty-nine percent of 

households have incomes above 80% of MFI. These households will be a mix of 

owners and renters. Their housing needs will include single-family detached, 

townhouses, and multifamily housing.   

Growth in lower-income demographic groups, such as the Millennials, or in 

Baby Boomers who want to downsize their homes, may increase demand for 

smaller single-family detached houses, townhouses, and multifamily housing.  

Table 4. Estimate of needed new dwelling units by income level, Sherwood, 2015-2035 

 
Source: ECONorthwest 

MFI is Median Family Income 

  

Market Segment by 

Income

Income 

Range

Number of 

households

Percent of 

Households Owner-occupied

Renter-

occupied

High (120% or more of 

MFI)

$83,280 or 

more

485           42% All housing 

types; higher 

prices

All housing 

types; higher 

prices

Upper Middle (80%-

120% of MFI)

$55,520 to 

$83,280

312           27% All housing 

types; lower 

values

All housing 

types; lower 

values

Primarily New 

Housing

Lower Middle (50%-80% 

of MFI)

$34,700 to 

$55,520

155           13%  Single-family 

attached; 

condominiums; 

duplexes; 

manufactured 

on lots

Single-family 

attached; 

detatched; 

manufactured 

on lots; 

apartments

Primarily 

Used Housing

Lower (30%-50% of less 

of MFI)

$20,820 to 

$34,700

78             7% Manufactured in 

parks

Apartments; 

manufactured 

in parks; 

duplexes

Very Low (Less than 

30% of MFI)

Less than 

$20,820

126           11% None Apartments; 

new and used 

government 

assisted 

housing

Commonly Financially 

Attainable 

73



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 30 

Need for government assisted and manufactured housing 

ORS 197.303 requires cities to plan for government-assisted housing, 

manufactured housing on lots, and manufactured housing in parks. 

 Government-assisted housing. Government subsidies can apply to all 

housing types (e.g., single family detached, apartments, etc.) Sherwood 

allows development of government-assisted housing in all Residential 

zones, with the same development standards for market-rate housing. This 

analysis assumes that Sherwood will continue to allow government-

assisted housing in all its Residential zones. Because government-assisted 

housing is similar in character to other housing (with the exception of the 

subsidies), it is not necessary to develop separate forecasts for government-

assisted housing.  

 Manufactured housing on lots. Sherwood allows manufactured housing 

in all residential zones as a permitted use. As manufactured homes are 

allowed as a permitted use in all zones, it is not necessary to develop 

separate forecasts for manufactured housing on lots.  

 Manufactured housing in parks (Table B- 13). OAR 197.480(4) requires 

cities to inventory the mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks sited 

in areas planned and zoned or generally used for commercial, industrial or 

high-density residential development. According to the Oregon Housing 

and Community Services’ Manufactured Dwelling Park Directory,26 

Sherwood has four manufactured dwelling parks: 

 Carriage Park Estates with 58 spaces, all occupied 

 Crown Court with 14 spaces, except for one vacancy 

 Orland Villa with 24 spaces, all occupied 

 Smith Farm Estates with 90 spaces, all occupied 

ORS 197.480(2) requires Sherwood to project need for mobile home or 

manufactured dwelling parks based on: (1) population projections, (2) 

household income levels, (3) housing market trends, and (4) an inventory of 

manufactured dwelling parks sited in areas planned and zoned or 

generally used for commercial, industrial, or high-density residential.  

 Table 1 shows that the Sherwood planning area will grow by 1,156 

dwelling units over the 2015 to 2035 period.  

                                                      

26 Oregon Housing and Community Services, Oregon Manufactured Dwelling Park Directory, 

http://o.hcs.state.or.us/MDPCRParks/ParkDirQuery.jsp 

74



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 31 

 Analysis of housing affordability (in Table 4) shows that about 18% of 

Sherwood’s new households will be low income, earning 50% or less 

of the County’s median family income. One type of housing 

affordable to these households is manufactured housing. 

 Manufactured housing in parks accounts for about 2.4% (258 dwelling 

units) of Sherwood’s current housing stock, according to 2009-2013 

Census data.  

 National, state, and regional trends during the 2000 to 2010 period 

showed that manufactured housing parks were closing, rather than 

being created. For example, between 2003 and 2010, Oregon had a 

statewide decrease of 25% in the number of manufactured home 

parks. The trend of closing of manufactured housing parks slowed 

during the housing recession but is likely to increase as housing 

prices and land prices increase. 

 The longer-term trend for closing manufactured home parks is the 

result of manufactured home park landowners selling or 

redeveloping their land for uses with higher rates of return, rather 

than lack of demand for spaces in manufactured home parks. 

Manufactured home parks contribute to the supply of lower-cost 

affordable housing options, especially for affordable home ownership. 

The trend in closure of manufactured home parks increases the 

shortage of manufactured home park spaces. Without some form of 

public investment to encourage continued operation of existing 

manufactured home parks and construction of new manufactured 

home parks, this shortage will continue. 

 

Table 4 shows that the households most likely to live in manufactured 

homes in parks are those with incomes between $20,820 and $34,700 

(30 to 50% of median family income). Assuming that about 1.5% to 

2.5% of Sherwood’s new households (1,156 new dwellings) choose to 

live in manufactured housing parks, the City may need 20 to 34 new 

manufactured home spaces. At an average of 8 dwelling units per net 

acre, this results in demand for 2.5 to 4.2 acres of land. 

 

The City allows development of manufactured housing parks in 

MDRL zones, where the City has 66 vacant suitable buildable acres of 

land. Development of a new manufactured home park in Sherwood 

over the planning period seems unlikely. The land needed for 

development of a manufactured housing park is part of the forecast in 

Table 2.  

 

75



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 32 

4 Residential Land Sufficiency 

This chapter presents an evaluation of the sufficiency of vacant residential land 

in Sherwood to accommodate expected residential growth over the 2015 to 2035 

period. This chapter includes an estimate of residential development capacity 

(measured in new dwelling units) and an estimate of Sherwood’s ability to 

accommodate needed new housing units for the 2015 to 2035 period. The chapter 

also includes conclusions and recommendations based on the results of the 

housing needs analysis.  

RESIDENTIAL BUILDABLE LAND 

Table 5 presents the City’s inventory of buildable land. The buildable lands 

inventory is based on City of Sherwood and Metro GIS data. Appendix A 

presents a complete description of the methodology used to develop the 

buildable lands inventory. The key assumptions in the inventory are: 

 Vacant land was defined as land that is fully vacant (as determined by 

Metro’s Regional Land Information System (RLIS) GIS data and local data), 

or tax lots that are at least 95% vacant, or tax lots that have less than 2,000 

square feet developed, with development covering less than 10% of the 

entire lot.  

 Unbuildable land was removed from the inventory, including land with: 

public tax exemptions (i.e., land owned by the city or state), schools, 

churches, and other tax-exempt social organizations, private streets, rail 

properties, parks, and tax lots that do not meet the City’s requirements for 

infill development. 

 Environmental resources and constraints were deducted from the 

inventory of vacant land, including floodways and slopes over 25%.  

 Future rights-of-way were accounted for based on lot sizes, with tax lots 

larger than one acre assumed to have 18.5% of land set aside for future 

rights-of-way.  

Table 5 shows that Sherwood has 175 net acres of suitable buildable residential 

land. Fifty-five percent of Sherwood’s vacant land (96 acres) is within the city 

limits and 45% (79 acres) is within the Brookman Area or other unincorporated 

areas within the current Urban Growth Boundary. 

76



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 33 

Table 5. Inventory of suitable buildable residential land, net acres, Sherwood  

city limits and areas within the UGB, 2014 

 
Source: City of Sherwood 

*Note: There is one lot split between MDRL and MDRH.  

 

Map 1 shows the inventory of vacant and partially vacant land in Sherwood. 

Zone

Gross 

Acres

Percent of 

Total

Land within City Limits

Very Low Density Residential (VLDR) 24          14%

Very Low Density Residential Planned Unit Development (VLDR-PUD) 1            1%

Low Density Residential (LDR) 22          13%

Medium Density Residential-Low (MDRL) 14          8%

Medium Density Residential-High (MDRH) 21          12%

High Density Residential (HDR) 14          8%

Subtotal 96          55%

Brookman and Other Unincorporated Areas

Very Low Density Residential (VLDR) 1            1%

Medium Density Residential-Low (MDRL) 52          30%

Medium Density Residential-High (MDRH) 8            4%

Medium Density Residential- Low/High* (MDRL/H) 15          8%

High Density Residential (HDR) 3            2%

Subtotal 79          45%

Total 175        100%

77



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 34 

Map 1. Inventory of suitable buildable residential land, net acres, Sherwood city limits and areas within the UGB, 2014 

 
Source: City of Sherwood 

78

Sherwood Residential Buildable Lands Inventory 



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 35 

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT CAPACITY 

This section presents a summary of the analysis used to estimate Sherwood’s 

residential development capacity.  

The capacity analysis estimates the number of new dwelling units that can be 

accommodated on Sherwood’s residential land supply.27 The capacity analysis 

evaluates ways that vacant suitable residential land may build out by applying 

different assumptions.  

In short, land capacity is a function of buildable land, housing mix (as 

determined by plan designation or zoning), and density. The basic form of any 

method to estimate capacity requires (1) an estimate of buildable land, and (2) 

assumptions about density. The arithmetic is straightforward: 

 Buildable Land (ac) * Density (du/ac) = Capacity (in dwelling units) 

For example: 

 100 acres * 8 du/ac = 800 dwelling units of capacity 

The example is a simplification of the method, which skips some of the nuances 

that can be incorporated into a detailed capacity analysis such as variations in 

densities and housing mix among different Comprehensive Plan Designations.  

Capacity analysis results 

The capacity analysis estimates the development potential of vacant residential 

land to accommodate new housing based a range of density assumptions by 

zoning designation. Table 6 shows the capacity of Sherwood’s residential land 

based on the buildable vacant and partially vacant land in Sherwood and a range 

of potential density assumptions.  

The analysis of capacity in Table 6 is meant to illustrate the potential capacity of 

Sherwood’s land based on current development policies and on historical 

development densities. Table 6 shows development capacity using: (1) the 

minimum allowable densities and (2) the maximum allowable densities 

(ensuring that lots meet the minimum lot size requirements. Table 6 also shows 

capacity based on historical densities. 

                                                      

27  In this report, the term “capacity analysis” is used as shorthand for estimating how many new 

dwelling units the vacant residential land in the UGB is likely to accommodate. 

79



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 36 

 Buildable Acres. The Buildable Lands Inventory identified 175 net acres of 

vacant and partially vacant land, with 96 acres within Sherwood’s city 

limits and 79 acres in the Brookman and other unincorporated areas within 

the Metro UGB.   

 Capacity based on Zoning: Minimum Densities. The analysis considered 

the capacity of Sherwood’s land based on minimum densities in 

Sherwood’s zoning code. This analysis shows that Sherwood has capacity 

of 940 new dwelling units at 5.4 dwelling units per net acre based on 

minimum zoning in all districts. 

 Capacity based on Zoning: Maximum Densities and Minimum Lot Sizes. 

The analysis considered the capacity of Sherwood’s land based on 

maximum densities in Sherwood’s zoning code and the minimum lot size. 

This analysis was developed based on parcel-specific data. The amount of 

buildable land was identified in each parcel and the potential capacity was 

evaluated based on development standards in Sherwood’s zoning code.   

The maximum capacity estimate estimates the capacity of Sherwood’s land 

based on the maximum density allowed by zone by parcel, assuming that 

each parcel of buildable land meets the minimum lot size of the zone it is 

in.  

Table 6 shows that Sherwood’s buildable land has capacity to 

accommodate 1,510 new dwelling units under these assumptions. This 

estimate results in an overall average of 8.6 dwelling units per net acre. 

About 44% of Sherwood’s development capacity is in the Brookman area 

and other unincorporated areas within the Metro UGB. 

 Historical Development Densities. The analysis considered the capacity of 

Sherwood’s land based on historical development density by zone. In this 

analysis, we applied the historical density to the total vacant land in each 

zone to estimate the number of dwelling units that could be 

accommodated.  

Table 6 shows that Sherwood’s buildable land has capacity to 

accommodate 1,286 new dwelling units based on historical development 

densities. This estimate results in an overall average of 7.3 dwelling units 

per net acre. About 44% of Sherwood’s development capacity is in the 

Brookman area and other unincorporated areas within the Metro UGB. 

80



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 37 

Table 6. Range of capacity estimates, Sherwood vacant and partially vacant land, gross acres and 

gross densities, 2015 

 
Source: Sherwood buildable lands inventory; Sherwood zoning code; Analysis of historical development densities; and Analysis by 

ECONorthwest 

Table 6 compares the difference in the capacity estimates for the “maximum 

density (and minimum lot size) capacity” estimate and the “historical 

development density” estimate. Table 6 shows that the capacity estimate based 

on historical development densities results in 224 fewer dwelling units than the 

capacity based on maximum densities. The average density using the historical 

development densities is 1.3 dwelling units per acre lower than the maximum 

density analysis.  

This difference shows that development in Sherwood is generally occurring at 

lower than the maximum allowed densities, showing underbuild in Sherwood. 

Further analysis shows that residential development between 2000 and 2014 

occurred at between 70% to 80% of the maximum allowable densities. The 

exception is Low Density Residential, where development occurred at higher 

than allowable densities approximately 60% of LDR development between 2000 

and 2014 was in Planned Unit Developments – neighborhoods that were 

approved to provide a more compact development option.  

Underbuild is expected as a result of development constraints that lower 

development capacity, such as slopes. In addition, parcel configuration 

contributes to underbuild, with parcels that are oddly shaped or have more land 

than the minimum requirement but not enough for additional housing. 

Table 6 demonstrates that development in Sherwood occurred at considerably 

higher densities than the minimum allowable densities in each zone. 

Based on the analysis in Table 6, we conclude that both the maximum density 

(and minimum lot size) and the historical development density estimates 

Dwelling 

units

Derived 

Density

Dwelling 

units

Derived 

Density

Density 

Assumption

Dwelling 

units

Difference in 

Dwelling 

Units

Difference in 

Density

Land within City Limits

VLDR 24         19            0.8           94               3.9           2.9            69            25                1.0                

VLDR_PUD 1           -           -           4                 3.8           2.9            3              1                  0.9                

LDR 22         71            3.2           113             5.1            6.5            144          (31)               (1.4)               

MDRL 14         75            5.2           112             7.8            6.1            88            24                1.7                

MDRH 21         111          5.3           223             10.7          7.7             161           62                3.0                

HDR 14         224          16.0         303             21.7          19.1          266          37                2.6                

Subtotal 96         500          5.2           849             8.8           731          118              8.8                

Brookman and Other Unincorporated Areas

VLDR 1           2              1.6           4                 3.2           2.9            3              1                  0.3                

MDRL 52         275          5.3           401             7.7            6.1            317           84                1.6                

MDRH 8           36            4.7           62               8.1            7.7             58            4                  0.4                

MDRL/H* 15         78            5.3           117             8.0           8.0            117           -               -                

HDR 3           49            15.4         70               22.1          19.1          60            10                3.0                

Subtotal 79         440          5.6           661             8.4           555          106              8.4                

Total 175        940          5.4           1,510           8.6           7.3             1,286        224              1.3                

Capacity based on 

Historical Development 

Densities

Buildable 

AcresZone

Capacity based on 

Zoning: Maximum 

Densities and Minium Lot 

Sizes

Difference in Capacity 

between Maximum Densities 

and Historical Densitites

 Capacity based on 

Zoning: Minimum 

Densities

81



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 38 

exceed the State requirement (OAR 660-007-0035(2)) to “provide for an overall 

density of six or more dwelling units per net buildable acre.” The estimate results 

in an average density of between 7.3 to 8.6 dwelling units per net acre. 

The conclusion of the housing needed analysis is that Sherwood’s historical 

densities meet Sherwood’s future housing needs. 

In addition to the capacity shown in Table 6, Sherwood could have additional 

residential development capacity resulting in development of housing in 

commercial zones and from redevelopment of residential properties with 

existing development (where redevelopment results in a net increase in the 

number of dwelling units on the property).  

About 9% of Sherwood’s residential development over the 2000 to 2014 period 

occurred in commercial zones. It is reasonable to assume that some residential 

development over the next 20 years would occur in commercial zones, as long as 

housing is considered a secondary use to the commercial use, as required by 

Sherwood’s development code.  

Sherwood has limited opportunities for redevelopment because much of 

Sherwood’s housing stock was developed over the last two decades. In addition, 

residential land in Sherwood is parcelized and meeting existing density 

requirements in areas with existing development would be difficult. 

  

82



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 39 

RESIDENTIAL LAND SUFFICIENCY 

The last step in the analysis of the sufficiency of residential land within 

Sherwood is to compare the demand for land by zone (Table 3) with the capacity 

of land by zone based on historical development densities (Table 6). Table 7 

shows that Sherwood has a small surplus of capacity in each zone.  

Table 7. Comparison of capacity of existing residential land with demand for new 

dwelling units, dwelling units, Sherwood planning area, 2015-2035 

 
Source: ECONorthwest 
Note: DU is dwelling unit. 

  

Zone

Capacity 

(Needed 

Densities)

Housing 

Demand

Comparison 

Capacity 

minus 

Demand

Very Low Density Residential 76 63 13

Low Density Residential 144 121 23

Medium Density Residential-Low 416 359 57

Medium Density Residential-High 318 311 7

High Density Residential 327 302 25

Total 1,281 1,156 125

83



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 40 

POTENTIAL GROWTH IN SHERWOOD WEST 

The Pre-Concept Planning work for Sherwood West is ongoing. The results of 

the Pre-Concept Planning work and later concept and master planning phases 

will determine more precisely the type and amount of housing in Sherwood 

West. Table 8 presents estimates of capacity in Sherwood West based on a range 

of density assumptions, from an average of 6.0 to 12.0 dwelling units per acre. 

The purpose of the information in Table 8 is to provide some idea of potential 

development capacity in Sherwood West. Additional information will be 

developed through the Pre-Concept Planning process.  

 

Table 8. Potential residential development capacity, Sherwood West 

 
Source: Buildable Lands Estimate from OTAK and analysis by ECONorthwest 
*Note: Historical Development Density includes only development in residential zones over the 2000-2014 period. 

  

Dwelling 

Units Notes

Estimate of Buildable Land

Gross Acres 670

Net Acres 546
We assumed an average net-to-gross factor of 18.5% for rights-of-

way, regardless of parcel size. 

Potential Capacity based on 

Density Assumptions

Required average from OAR 

660-007 - 6 DU/net acre
3,276     

Under this assumption, Sherwood West would be primarily built-out 

with single-family detached housing. Given Sherwood's historical 

development densities and the City's requirement to provide 

opportunity that half of new development is single-family attached 

and multifamily, this density seems too low for Sherwood West. 

Issues related to costs of services and development density will be 

discussed in the pre-concept planning process (and again in the 

concept planning process) may indicate that this density assumption 

is too low to support development costs for Sherwood West. 

 Historical Development 

Density* - 7.8 DU/net acre
4,259     

 Issues related to costs of services and development density will be 

discussed in the pre-concept planning process (and again in the 

concept planning process) may indicate that this density assumption 

is too low to support development costs for Sherwood West. 

10 DU/net acre 5,460     

Metro's forecast for capacity in Sherwood West (4,844) would be 

accommodated at an average of 10 dwelling units per acre, with 

some additional capacity for other development.

12 DU/net acre 6,552     

Development capacity in 

Sherwood West will vary 

from 3,300 to 6,500 

dwelling units. The Pre-

Concept Plan will begin 

to identify housing types 

and development 

scenarios that fit with the 

community’s vision for 

Sherwood West and that 

are possible, given likely 

development and 

infrastructure costs 

84



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 41 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

The key findings and recommendations from the housing needs analysis are as 

follows:  

 Sherwood is able to meet state requirements. The City’s primarily 

obligations are to (1) designate land in a way that 50% of new housing 

could be either multifamily or single-family attached housing (e.g., 

townhouses); (2) achieve an average density of six dwelling units per net 

acre; and (3) provide enough land to accommodate forecasted housing 

needs for the next 20 years. Put another way, the City is required to plan 

that 50% of their new housing will be multifamily or single-family 

attached housing (e.g., townhouses), with all housing at an average 

density of 6 dwelling units per net acre. Sherwood is able to meet these 

requirements and can accommodate the forecast for new housing.  

 Sherwood is meeting its obligation to plan for needed housing types for 

households at all income levels. Sherwood’s residential development 

policies include those that allow for development of a range of housing 

types (e.g., duplexes, manufactured housing, and apartments) and that 

allow government-subsidized housing. This conclusion is supported by 

the fact that Metro’s 2013 Compliance Report concluded that Sherwood was 

in compliance with Metro Functional Plan and Title 7 (Housing Choice). 

Sherwood will have an ongoing need for providing affordable housing to 

lower-income households. 

 To provide adequate supply, Sherwood voters will need to 

approve/annex the Brookman area. Sherwood will need to annex the 

Brookman area in order to accommodate the City’s forecast of residential 

growth. If voters continue to reject the Brookman annexation, Sherwood 

as a community will either be unable to accommodate expected growth or 

will need to identify an alternative (more politically acceptable) area for 

growth. Sherwood West is just one of these possibilities. A first step 

would be appealing for inclusion into the Metropolitan Urban Growth 

Boundary. These processes can take several years. 

 Sherwood will need Sherwood West to accommodate future growth 

beyond the existing city limits and Brookman Area. The growth rate of 

Metro’s forecast for household growth (0.7% average annual growth) is 

considerably lower than the City’s historical population growth rate over 

the last two decades (8% average annual growth). Metro’s forecast only 

includes growth that can be accommodated with the Sherwood Planning 

area, which does not include Sherwood West.  

Sherwood is able to 

accommodate the 

forecast for growth within 

the Sherwood Planning 

Area. 

If the Brookman Area is 

not annexed, Sherwood 

will either unable to 

accommodate expected 

growth or will need to 

identify an alternative 

area for growth.  

85



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 42 

Given the limited supply of buildable land within Sherwood, it is likely 

that the City’s residential growth will slow, especially if Sherwood West is 

not brought into the Metro UGB in the earlier part of the 20-year planning 

period. It is likely that Sherwood’s future growth over the 2015-2035 

period would be considerably slower than its historical growth rate, if for 

no other fact than it is mathematically more difficult to maintain a high 

growth rate with a larger population. In addition, Sherwood’s fast growth 

during the last two decades was driven by historically fast in-migration in 

to the Portland region, a trend that Metro’s forecast shows slowing, and 

the availability of vacant buildable residential land in Sherwood. 

 Sherwood has a relatively limited supply of land for moderate- and 

higher-density multifamily housing. Sherwood has 41 vacant acres of 

MDRH land and 17 acres of HDR land. If the City wants more multifamily 

housing growth in core areas of Sherwood, the City should evaluate 

whether to make policy changes that either increase the capacity of MDRH 

and HDR land or designate more land for these uses. Some specific 

considerations: 

 MDRH allows up to 11 dwelling units per acre. However the lot 

development requirements28 for multifamily make it difficult to achieve 

the maximum development density. The City should evaluate the 

implications of changing MDRH development standards to allow 

densities of at least 11 dwelling units per acre or a moderate increase in 

the maximum allowable densities in MDRH. 

 The City’s supply of HDR land is very limited, with 17 vacant acres of 

HDR. As part of the Comprehensive Plan update, the City may choose 

to evaluate opportunities to upzone land to HDR, to allow more 

multifamily land in areas such as centers or along transportation 

corridors.  

 Sherwood’s development code does not provide opportunities for 

development of housing at moderate multifamily densities of 11.1 to 

16.7 dwelling units per acre, the gap in densities between MDRH and 

HDR. As part of the Comprehensive Plan update, the City may choose 

to evaluate the need for a zone that allows development in this density, 

which might include townhouses and moderate-sized apartment or 

condominium buildings. 

 About 9% of Sherwood’s residential development over the 2000 to 2014 

period occurred in commercial zones, such as Office Commercial and 

                                                      

28 Sherwood has an 8,000 square foot minimum lot size for the first two multifamily units, with a 

requirement for 3,200 additional square feet for each multifamily unit beyond the first two units.  

Sherwood’s fast growth 

during the last two 

decades was driven by 

historically fast in-

migration in to the 

Portland region, a trend 

that Metro’s forecast 

shows slowing, and the 

availability of vacant 

buildable residential land 

in Sherwood. 

 

Sherwood will need 

Sherwood West to 

accommodate future 

growth beyond the 

existing city limits and 

Brookman Area. 

Sherwood’s development 

code does not provide 

opportunities for 

development of housing 

at moderate multifamily 

densities between 11 to 

16 dwelling units per 

acre. 

 

Providing opportunities 

for housing in these 

densities may address 

may provide 

opportunities for 

development of a wider 

range of affordable 

housing types. 

86



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 43 

Mixed-use Commercial and Condo. Sherwood may be able to 

accommodate additional multifamily residential development in these 

zones. The City may choose to evaluate and identify opportunities for 

additional multifamily development in commercial zones, as part of the 

Comprehensive Plan update.  

 Sherwood should monitor residential development. City may wish to 

develop a monitoring program that will allow Sherwood to understand 

how fast land is developing. The monitoring program will inform Metro’s 

UGB planning process by providing more detailed information about 

housing growth and development capacity in Sherwood. This information 

can help City staff and decision-makers make the case to Metro staff and 

decision-makers about the need for residential expansion areas. We 

recommend using the following metrics to monitor residential growth: 

 Population. The City already routinely monitors population growth by 

using the annual population estimates prepared by the Center for 

Population Research at Portland State University. 

 Building permits. The Housing Needs Analysis included a review of 

building permits by dwelling type, plan designation, zone, and net 

density. Because the City collects most of the data used in the analysis 

of historical development density, we recommend that city staff update 

this analysis on an annual basis.  

 Subdivision and partition activity. This metric is intended to measure 

the rate and density of land divisions in Sherwood. Specific data to 

include with subdivision and partition activity are the area of the 

parent lot, the area in child lots, the number of child lots, the average 

size or density of lots, and the area in dedicated right-of-way. 

 Land consumption. This metric relates closely to the building permit 

data. The building permit data should include tax lot identifiers for 

each permit. The City should match each permit to data in the 

buildable lands inventory and report how much land is being used by 

plan designation, zone, and land classification (e.g., vacant, 

redevelopable, infill, etc.). Additionally, we recommend the City map 

the location of development on an annual basis. 

  

87



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT 44 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

88



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT A-1  

Appendix A. Appendix A. Residential 

Buildable Lands Inventory 

This appendix presents the methodology used to develop the buildable lands 

inventory and the results of the buildable lands inventory. The information in 

this appendix was developed by City of Sherwood staff.29 

METHODOLOGY 

Definitions used in the inventory 

Vacant land 

 Any tax lot that is fully vacant as determined by RLIS GIS Data30, aerial 

photography, field checks and local records.  

 Tax lots that are at least 95% vacant are considered vacant land.  

 Tax lots that are less than 2,000 sq. feet developed AND developed part 

is under 10% of entire lot 

Developed land 

 Part vacant/part developed tax lots are considered developed and will 

be treated in the redevelopment filter 

Steps in developing the buildable land inventory 

Step 1: Inventory and map fully vacant residential lands  
a. Sort City tax lot data by zoning designation within the City boundary. 

The residential zones including any planned unit development overlay utilized 

within this study include:  

 Very Low Density Residential (VLDR) 

 Low Density Residential (LDR) 

 Medium Density Residential Low (MDRL) 

 Medium Density Residential High (MDRH) 

 High Density Residential (HDR) 

                                                      

29 Michelle Miller, AICP, Senior Planner at the City of Sherwood developed the buildable lands 

inventory.  

30 Metro's Data Resource Center collaborates with local partners to develop and deliver the 

Regional Land Information System (RLIS) – more than 100 layers of spatial data that supports 

strategic decision-making for governments, businesses and organizations across the region. 

89



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT A-2  

b. Identify parcels that are fully vacant. 

1. Remove developed parcels using most recent Metro’s RLIS GIS data.  

2. Planning staff review based on current aerial photography, field checks, 

and local records 

  

Step 2: Subtract unbuildable acres  
a. Remove tax lots that d/n have potential to provide residential growth. 

1. Tax exempt with property codes for City, State, Federal and Native 

American designations 

2. Schools 

3. Churches and social organizations-based solely on tax exempt codes 

4. Private streets 

5. Rail properties 

6. Tax lots under the minimum lot size of the zone or 4,250 sq. ft. for 

residential land due to infill standards 

7. Parks 

 

b. Calculate deductions for environmental resources31. 

1. Remove Floodways-100% removed 

2. Recognize environmental constraints such as slopes over 25 % and 

constrained areas as defined by Cities and Counties under Metro 

Functional Plan Title 13-Riparian Corridors (Class I and II) and Upland 

Wildlife Habitat (Class A and B) -100%  

3. By assumption, allow one dwelling unit per residentially zoned tax lot 

if environmental  encumbrances would limit development such that 

by internal calculations no dwelling units  would otherwise be 

permitted.. 

 

c. Calculate for future streets. 32 

This methodology sets aside a portion of the vacant land supply (not 

redevelopment supply) in order to accommodate future streets and sidewalks. 

This assumption is calculated on a per tax lot basis. 

1. Tax lots less than 3/8 acre assume 0% set aside future streets.33 

                                                      

31 Environmental resources are considered to include Title 3, Title 13 FEMA floodway and slopes 

over 25 %. 

32 The BLI accounts for future streets on a tax lot by tax lot basis. The buildable area of each tax lot 

is reduced based on individual tax lot size. 

33 The basis for these net street deduction ratios derive from previous research completed 

by the Data Resource Center and local jurisdictions for the 2002 UGR. 
 

90



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT A-3  

2. Tax lots between 3/8 acre and 1 acre assume a 10% set aside for future 

streets 

3. Tax lots greater than an acre assume an 18.5% set aside for future streets 

4. Industrial zoning assumes a 10% set aside regardless of size. 

 

Step 3: Inventory and map re-developable  lands  
a. Definition:  

 Re-developable: applies to lots that are classified as developed that are 

now likely to redevelop or during the 20-year planning period. 

 

b. Query performed that identifies previously developed lots that have 

potential to redevelop  over time due to the relationship between the size 

of the lot and the value of improvements.  

1. Sites between .26-.54 acres with improvements less than $ 50 K 

2.  Sites over .55 acres with improvement between $50,001-100 K 

3. Sites over 1 acre with improvement values between $ 100,001-150 K 

4. Results of this query include land that is wholly re-developable, 

meaning existing improvements would be replaced, and land that is 

partially vacant, meaning the lot could be divided to allow for 

additional development. 

 

Step 4: Planning staff review of draft map-(Investigative step) 
a.  Remove under construction or pending construction as of October 1, 2014 

b.  Added back and redefined areas of special concern (Areas like Brookman 

for example)34 

c.  Review and add City owned properties that are developable and not held 

for public purpose 

d.  For parcels zoned MDRH and HDR determine densities based on 

location and likelihood that parcel will develop with multifamily or 

single-family dwelling units and base densities on minimum lot size for 

single-family and maximum density for multifamily. 

e. Re-developable or partially vacant sites that include: 

 Properties currently for sale 

 Lots that are more than twice the minimum lot size required to 

support the number of  existing dwelling units including tax lots 

that have land division potential 

 Sites that should have been identified as partially vacant but not 

caught earlier 

 Lands with single-family development zoned for multifamily 

development 

                                                      

34 Assume Brookman Concept Plan Zoning 

91



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT A-4  

f. Remove from Map and defined the following as Not Likely to Redevelop 

 Sites occupied by active religious institutions 

 Sites with known deed restrictions 

 Sites currently under development 

 Sites occupied by utility infrastructure 

 Commercially zoned land greater than ½ mile from either residential 

or town center lots-most likely won’t be mixed use with residential 

 

g. Redevelop Strike Price Analysis 

  Perform on all tax lots planned for residential and commercial 

development, to identify Multifamily and Commercial sites with a 

market redevelopment strike price of less than $10 per square foot.35 

  

 Strike Price = (Improvement value + land value) 

    Total Sq. Ft of lot 

  

h. Identify possible rezone properties that would either be added or 

subtracted from the  inventory over time. 

 

  

                                                      

35 This formula is part of the draft proposed Metro methodology for identifying sites zoned for 

Multifamily and Mixed Use Development that are likely to redevelop. $10/sq.ft. is the estimated 

threshold for the market supporting redevelopment of suburban sites that are zoned for 

multifamily development. 

92



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT A-5  

RESULTS OF THE BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY 

Table A- 1 presents the City’s inventory of buildable land. The buildable lands 

inventory is based on City of Sherwood and Metro GIS data. Table A- 1 shows 

that Sherwood has 175 net acres of suitable buildable residential land. Fifty-five 

percent of Sherwood’s vacant land (96 acres) is within the city limits and 45% (79 

acres) is within the Brookman Area or other unincorporated areas within the 

current Urban Growth Boundary. 

Table A- 1. Inventory of suitable buildable residential land, net acres, Sherwood  

city limits and areas within the UGB, 2014 

 
Source: City of Sherwood 

*Note: There is one lot split between MDRL and MDRH.  

Map A-1 shows vacant and partially vacant land in Sherwood.

Zone

Gross 

Acres

Percent of 

Total

Land within City Limits

Very Low Density Residential (VLDR) 24          14%

Very Low Density Residential Planned Unit Development (VLDR-PUD) 1            1%

Low Density Residential (LDR) 22          13%

Medium Density Residential-Low (MDRL) 14          8%

Medium Density Residential-High (MDRH) 21          12%

High Density Residential (HDR) 14          8%

Subtotal 96          55%

Brookman and Other Unincorporated Areas

Very Low Density Residential (VLDR) 1            1%

Medium Density Residential-Low (MDRL) 52          30%

Medium Density Residential-High (MDRH) 8            4%

Medium Density Residential- Low/High* (MDRL/H) 15          8%

High Density Residential (HDR) 3            2%

Subtotal 79          45%

Total 175        100%

93



ECONorthwest      Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT A-1  

Map A-1. Inventory of suitable buildable residential land, net acres, Sherwood city limits and areas within the UGB, 2014 

 
Source: City of Sherwood 

94



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-1  

Appendix B. Trends Affecting Housing Need in 

Sherwood 

HISTORICAL AND RECENT DEVELOPMENT TRENDS 

Analysis of historical development trends in Sherwood provides insights into 

how the local housing market functions. The intent of the analysis is to 

understand how local market dynamics may affect future housing—particularly 

the mix and density of housing by type. The housing mix and density by type are 

also key variables in forecasting future land need. The specific steps are 

described in Task 2 of the DLCD Planning for Residential Lands Workbook:  

 Determine the time period for which the data must be gathered. 

 Identify types of housing to address (at a minimum, all needed 

housing types identified in ORS 197.303). 

 Evaluate permit/subdivision data to calculate the actual mix, average 

actual gross density, and average actual net density of all housing 

types. 

The period used in the analysis of housing density and mix is 2000 to 2014, which 

includes both times of high housing production and times of low housing 

production. This reasons for choosing this period were: (1) the 2000 to 2014 

period includes more than one economic cycle, with extreme highs and extreme 

lows in the housing market and (2) data prior to 2005 was less easily available 

and obtaining data for 2000 to 2004 required a considerable amount of work by 

City staff to compile the data.   

The housing needs analysis presents information about residential development 

by housing types. For the purposes of this study, we grouped housing types 

based on: (1) whether the structure is stand-alone or attached to another 

structure and (2) the number of dwelling units in each structure. The housing 

types used in this analysis are:  

 Single-family detached: single-family detached units and manufactured 

homes on lots and in mobile home parks. 

 Single-family attached: all structures with a common wall where each 

dwelling unit occupies a separate lot, such as row houses or townhouses. 

Multifamily: all attached structures other than single-family detached units, 

manufactured units, or single-family attached units.  

95



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-2  

These categories of housing type were chosen for the analysis because they meet 

the requirements of needed housing types in ORS 197.303.36 

Data used in this analysis 

Throughout this analysis, we use data from multiple well-recognized and 

reliable data sources. One of the key sources for data about housing and 

household data is the U.S. Census. This report primarily uses data from two 

Census sources: 

 The Decennial Census, which is completed every ten years and is a 

survey of all households in the U.S. The Decennial Census is considered 

the best available data for information such as demographics (e.g., 

number of people, age distribution, or ethnic or racial composition); 

household characteristics (e.g., household size and composition); and 

housing occupancy characteristics. As of the 2010 Decennial Census, it 

does not collect more detailed household information, such as income, 

housing costs, housing characteristics, and other important household 

information. Decennial Census data is available for 1990, 2000, and 2010.  

 The American Community Survey (ACS), which is completed every year 

and is a sample of households in the U.S. The 2009-2013 ACS sampled 

about 16.2 million households, or about 2.8% of the households in the 

nation. The ACS collects detailed information about households, such as 

demographics (e.g., number of people, age distribution, ethnic or racial 

composition, country of origin, language spoken at home, and 

educational attainment); household characteristics (e.g., household size 

and composition); housing characteristics (e.g., type of housing unit, year 

unit built, or number of bedrooms); housing costs (e.g., rent, mortgage, 

utility, and insurance); housing value; income; and other characteristics. 

In general, this report uses data from the 2009-2013 ACS for Sherwood. Where 

information is available, we report information from the 2010 Decennial Census.  

Trends in housing mix in Sherwood 

According to the American Community Survey, Sherwood had more than 6,500 

housing units in the 2009-2013 period. Figure B- 1 shows that Sherwood’s 

                                                      

36 The analysis of development in Sherwood attempts to separate single-family detached and 

single-family attached housing. However, the City’s building permit system does not distinguish 

between these two types of housing. City staff manually identified single-family attached 

housing that was developed with a concentration of single-family attached housing. City staff 

were unable to identify small-scale, single-family attached development scattered throughout 

the city.  

96



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-3  

housing stock is predominantly single-family detached housing. In 2000, 79% of 

Sherwood’s housing stock was single-family detached and 77% was single-

family detached in 2009-2013. The share of multifamily units increased from 17% 

of Sherwood’s housing stock in 2000 to 18% in 2009-2013.  

Figure B- 1. Mix of Housing Types, Sherwood, 2000 to 2009-2013 

 
Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF3 Table H030, American Community Survey 2009-2013, Table B25024. 

Table B- 1 and Figure B- 2 show that the mix of housing developed over the 2000 

to 2014 period was predominantly single-family housing (including single-family 

detached, single-family attached, and manufactured housing), accompanied by 

intermittent growth in multifamily.  

Over the entire 2000 to 2014 period, Sherwood issued permits for nearly 2,225 

dwelling units, with about 148 permits issued per year. About 69% of dwellings 

permitted were single-family detached, 9% were single-family attached, and 23% 

were multifamily.  

79% 
75% 

4% 
8% 

17% 18% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

 2000  2009-2013 

Single-family Detached Single-family Attached Multifamily 

97



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-4  

Table B- 1. Building permits by type of unit, Sherwood, 2000-2014 

 
Source: City of Sherwood Building Permit Database. 

Notes: Single-Family Detached includes manufactured housing.  

Figure B- 2. Building permits by type of unit, Sherwood, 2000 to 2014 

 
Source: City of Sherwood Building Permit Database. 

Notes: Single-Family Detached includes manufactured housing.  

  

Housing Type
New Units 

Permitted

Average of New 

Units Permitted 

Annually

Mix of New 

Units

Single-Family Detached 1,525 102 69%

Single-Family Attached 196 13 9%

Multifamily 504 34 23%

Total 2,225 148 100%

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

450 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

U
n

it
s
 B

u
il
t 

Single-Family Detached Single-Family Attached Multifamily 

98



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-5  

Trends in Tenure 

Figure B- 3 shows housing tenure in Oregon, Washington County, and Sherwood 

for the 2009-2013 period. Sherwood has a higher rate of ownership (74%) than 

the county (54%) and the state (62%). 

Figure B- 3. Housing Tenure, Oregon, Washington County, Sherwood, 2009-2013 

 
Source: American Community Survey 2009-2013, Table B25003. 

Figure B- 4 shows change in tenure (owner versus renter-occupied housing units) 

for the City of Sherwood over the 2000 to 2009-2013 period. The overall 

homeownership rate declined, from 79% to 74% between 2000 to 2009-2013, 

while renting increased by 5%. This change is consistent with national and 

statewide trends in homeownership.  

99



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-6  

Figure B- 4. Tenure, occupied units, Sherwood, 2000 to 2009-2013 

 
Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF3 Table H032, American Community Survey 2009-2013 Table B25003. 

Figure B- 5 shows the types of dwelling in Sherwood in 2009-2013 by tenure 

(owner/renter-occupied). The results indicate that in Sherwood, single-family 

housing types are most frequently owner-occupied (70% of all housing is single-

family, owner-occupied housing) and multifamily housing is most frequently 

renter-occupied (15% of all housing is multifamily renter-occupied housing).  

 79% 

 74%  

21% 

 26%  

0 

2,000 

4,000 

6,000 

8,000 

2000 2009-2013 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 U

n
it

s
 

Owner Occupied Renter Occupied 

100



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-7  

Figure B- 5. Housing units by type and tenure, Sherwood, 2009-2013 

 
Source: American Community Survey 2009-2013 Table B25032. 

Housing Vacancy Rates 

Table B- 2 shows vacancy rates in Oregon, Multnomah, Washington, and 

Clackamas counties, and Sherwood between 2000 and 2009-2013. Vacancy rates 

increased in in Oregon, and Clackamas counties, but fell in Multnomah and 

Washington counties, and in Sherwood. As the 2009-2013 period, Sherwood had 

a relatively low vacancy rate (2.7%) compared to the regional counties, whose 

rates ranged from 5.5% to 7.0%, and to Oregon (9.6%). 

Table B- 2. Housing vacancy rate, Oregon, Multnomah, Washington and Clackamas 

Counties, and Sherwood, 2000 to 2009-2013 

 
Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF1 Table H003, American Community Survey 2009-2013 Table B25002. 

Multifamily NW tracks trends in the Portland area rental market and publishes a 

semi-annual report. Figure B- 6 shows average market vacancy rates for 

apartments for the Portland/Vancouver region and selected submarkets in the 

south-central Portland Region. The vacancy rates in the 

4% 

57% 

18% 7% 

9% 

7% 

89% 

35% 

74% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Owner Occupied Renter Occupied All Dwellings 

Multi-family Single-family attached Single-family detached 

Oregon
Multnomah 

County

Washington 

County

Clackamas 

County
Sherwood

2000 8.2% 6.4% 5.7% 5.5% 3.6%

2009 - 2013 9.6% 5.9% 5.5% 7.0% 2.7%
Change 2000 

to 2009-2013 17.1% -7.5% -3.6% 28.3% -24.7%

101



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-8  

Tigard/Tualatin/Sherwood area varied from a high of 5.8% in Spring 2010 to a 

low of 2.6% in Fall 2013. The vacancy rate in this area was within 1% (above or 

below) the vacancy rate for the Portland /Vancouver metro area. According to 

the Fall 2014 Apartment Report, the vacancy rate for apartments in the 

Tigard/Tualatin/Sherwood area was 3.8%, slightly higher than the regional 

average of 3.7%. 

Multifamily vacancy rates vary, in part, as a result of building new multifamily 

developments. When a new multifamily development comes on the market, it 

may take months (or longer) for the new units to be absorbed into the housing 

market through rental of new units. During this absorption period, the vacancy 

rate will generally increase for multifamily housing. 

Figure B- 6. Average market vacancy rates for apartments, Portland/Vancouver Metro area and selected 

submarkets, 2010-2014 

 
Multifamily NW Apartment Reports, Spring 2010 – Fall 2014.  

  

3.7% 

1.6% 

4.5% 

3.7% 

2.9% 

2.3% 

3.8% 

0.0% 

1.0% 

2.0% 

3.0% 

4.0% 

5.0% 

6.0% 

7.0% 

8.0% 

Portland / 

Vancouver Metro 

Lake Oswego / 

West Linn 

Wilsonville / Canby Beaverton Oregon City / 

Gladstone 

Milwaukie Tigard / Tualatin / 

Sherwood 

A
ve

ra
g

e
 m

a
rk

e
t 

va
c
a

n
c
y 

ra
te

 

Spring 2010 Fall 2010 Spring 2011 Fall 2011 Spring 2012 Fall 2012 Spring 2013 Fall 2013 Spring 2014 Fall 2014 

102



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-9  

Density 

Housing density is the density of housing by structure type, expressed in 

dwelling units per net or gross acre.37 The U.S. Census does not track residential 

development density.  

This study analyzes housing density based on new residential development 

within Sherwood between 2000 and 2014, similar to the analysis of achieved mix. 

The analysis of housing density uses data from the City of Sherwood’s building 

permits database.  

Table B- 3 shows that development that was permitted between 2000 and 2014 

achieved overall average densities of 8.2 dwelling units per net acre. The 

majority of permitted housing was single-family detached housing, which 

averaged 6.5 dwelling units per net acre. Multifamily housing achieved an 

average of 20.5 and single-family attached achieved and average of 17.9 dwelling 

units per net acre. 

Table B- 3. Estimated density by type of unit, net acres, Sherwood, 2000-2014 

 
Source: City of Sherwood Building Permit Database. 

Note: Single-Family Detached includes manufactured housing 

Note: The number of new single-family detached housing is higher in Table B- 3 than in Table B- 1 because Table B- 3 

includes 116 existing manufactured dwellings in manufactured housing parks. These dwellings were included as part 

of the density calculation to correctly calculate the densities of manufactured housing in the manufactured housing 

parks with one or more newly permitted dwellings over the 2000 to 2014 period.  

Table B-4 shows an analysis of residential development density (dwelling units 

per net acre) over the 15-year period for Sherwood by zoning designation. Table 

B-4 shows: 

 Ninety-two percent of residential development was in residential zones, 

which had an overall density of 7.8 dwelling units per net acre. 

 Density in residential zones varied from 2.9 dwelling units per net acre 

in the Very Low Density Residential zone to 19.1 dwelling units per net 

acre in the High Density Residential zone. 

                                                      

37 OAR 660-024-0010(6) uses the following definition of net buildable acre. “Net Buildable Acre” 

“…consists of 43,560 square feet of residentially designated buildable land after excluding future 

rights-of-way for streets and roads.” While the administrative rule does not include a definition 

of a gross buildable acre, using the definition above, a gross buildable acre will include areas 

used for rights-of-way for streets and roads. Areas used for rights-of-way are considered 

unbuildable. 

Housing Type
New and 

Existing Units
Acres

Density 

(dwelling unit 

per acre)

Single-Family Detached 1,641 251 6.5

Single-Family Attached 196 11 17.9

Multifamily 504 25 20.5

Total 2,341 286 8.2

103



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-10  

 Density in the Low Density Residential zone averaged 6.5 dwelling units 

per net acre. Development in Planned Unit Developments (PUD) in this 

zone achieved an average of 7.6 dwelling units per net acre, which 

explains the relatively high density in this zone. 

 Density in Commercial and Mixed-Use zones averaged 15.6 dwelling 

units per net acre.  

Table B-4. Housing density by Zone, net acres, Sherwood, 2000 to 2014 

 
Source: City of Sherwood Building Permit Database 

 

  

Zone

New and 

Existing 

Units

Acres

Density 

(dwelling unit 

per acre)

Residential Zones

Very Low Density Residential 53 18 2.9

Low Density Residential 807 124 6.5

PUD 487 64 7.6

Non-PUD 320 59 5.4

Medium Density Residential-High 301 39 7.7

Medium Density Residential-Low 368 60 6.1

High Density Residential 605 32 19.1

Residential subtotal 2,134 273 7.8

Commercial and Mixed Use Zones

Office Commercial 150 6 24.4

Mixed-use Commercial and Condo 55 7 7.9

Retail Commercial 2 0 17.4

Commercial subtotal 207 13 15.6

Total 2,341 286 8.2

104



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-11  

NATIONAL HOUSING TRENDS 

The overview of national, state, and local housing trends builds from previous 

work by ECONorthwest, Urban Land Institute (ULI) reports, and conclusions 

from The State of the Nation’s Housing, 2014 report from the Joint Center for 

Housing Studies at Harvard University.38 The Harvard report summarizes the 

national housing outlook as follows: 

“With promising increases in home construction, sales, and prices, 
the housing market gained steam in early 2013. But when interest 
rates notched up at mid-year, momentum slowed. This 
moderation is likely to persist until job growth manages to lift 
household incomes. Even amid a broader recovery, though, many 
hard-hit communities still struggle and millions of households 
continue to pay excessive shares of income for housing.” 

Several challenges to a strong domestic housing market remain. Demand for 

housing follows trends in jobs and incomes, which are taking longer to recover 

than in previous cycles. While trending downward, the numbers of underwater 

homeowners, delinquent loans, and vacancies remain high. The State of the 

Nation’s Housing report projects that it will take several years for market 

conditions to return to normal and, until then, the housing recovery will likely 

unfold at a moderate pace. 

Trends in housing development 

The single-family housing market began strong in 2013, but by the arrival of 

2014, housing starts were down 3% and new home sales had fallen 7% from the 

year before. The State of the Nation’s Housing Report attributes most of the decline 

to increases in mortgage interest rates and meager improvements in employment 

and wages.  

Thirty-year mortgage interest rose in 2014, bucking a downward trend. After 

falling to a low of around 3.4% in 2013, rates rose to around 5% in 2014. The rise 

of mortgage interest rates increased the cost of investment in a home and 

contributed to the fall in the rate of housing starts. In addition to the rise of 

mortgage interest rates, “steady but unspectacular job growth” presented a 

fundamental obstacle to the housing market’s progress, according to the report. 

Employment grew, but slowly, and incomes continued to fall. As long as job and 

wage growth remain slow, potential homebuyers will not create sufficient 

demand for robust growth in the housing market. 

                                                      

38 The State of the Nation’s Housing, Harvard University, 2014, accessed January 2014. 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/research/state_nations_housing 

105



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-12  

Other recent trends in the housing market included: home inventories remained 

low (homes now spend less than six months on the market), investors purchased 

fewer distressed properties, the renter market grew, and a larger share of young 

people chose to live with their parents. 

Supplies of existing homes for sale remained low in 2013, which may reflect the 

unwillingness or inability of owners to sell at current prices (Figure A- 1). As 

home prices return to levels that are more acceptable to sellers, more homes will 

go on the market. 

Figure A- 1. Inventories of Homes for Sale Against Months Supply, 2002-2013 

 
Source: The State of The Nation’s Housing, 2014, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 10. 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/sonhr14-color-full.pdf. 

Multifamily home construction continued robust growth for a third consecutive 

year. Multifamily starts increased 25% to over 300,000 in 2013, approaching pre-

recession levels of around 350,000. In contrast to strong multifamily housing 

growth, single-family home starts grew slowly, at only about 15%, well below 

pre-recession levels of production: less than 620,000 starts in 2013, compared to 

over 1.5 million in 2006. These growth trends are shown in Figure A- 2. 

106



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-13  

Figure A- 2. Housing Starts, 2003-2014 

 
Source: The State of The Nation’s Housing, 2014, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 10. 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/sonhr14-color-full.pdf. 

Long run trends in home ownership and demand 

The housing market downturn and foreclosure crisis had an immediate and 

potentially lasting impact on homeownership. After 13 successive years of 

increases, the national homeownership rate declined each year from 2005 to 2013, 

and is currently at approximately 65%. However, while the rate declined again in 

2013, it was the smallest drop since 2008. As seen in Figure A- 3, the US 

homeownership rate fell only 0.3 percentage points. 

107



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-14  

Figure A- 3. Homeownership Rates and the Number of Homeowner Households, 

2000-2013 

 

Source: The State of The Nation’s Housing, 2014, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 10. 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/sonhr14-color-full.pdf. 

The long-term market outlook shows that homeownership is still the preferred 

tenure. While further homeownership gains are likely during the next decade, 

they are not assured. Additional increases depend, in part, on the effect of 

foreclosures on potential owner’s ability to purchase homes in the future, as well 

as whether the conditions that have led to homeownership growth can be 

sustained.  

The Joint Center for Housing Studies indicates that demand for new homes 

could total as many as 13 million units nationally between 2015 and 2025. The 

location of these homes may differ from recent trends, which favored lower-

density development on the urban fringe and suburban areas. The Urban Land 

Institute identifies the markets that have the most growth potential as “global 

gateway, 24-hour markets,” which are primary coastal cities with international 

airport hubs (e.g., Washington D.C., New York City, San Francisco, or Seattle). 

Development in these areas may be nearer city centers, with denser infill types of 

development.39  

The Joint Center for Housing Studies also indicates that demand for higher 

density housing types exists among certain demographics. They conclude that 

                                                      

39 Urban Land Institute, “2011 Emerging Trends in Real Estate” and “2012 Emerging Trends in 

Real Estate”  

108



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-15  

because of persistent income disparities, as well as the movement of the 

Millennials into young adulthood, housing demand may shift away from single-

family detached homes toward more affordable multifamily apartments, town 

homes, and manufactured homes.  

Home rental trends 

Nationally, the rental market continues to grow. In 2013, the number of 

households living in rental units increased by half a million, marking the ninth 

consecutive year of expansion. In addition to growth in rentals in 2013, the 

million-plus annual increases observed in 2011 and 2012 puts current growth 

rates on pace to easily surpass the record 5.1 million gain in the 2000s. 

Rental markets across the country have been tightening, pushing up rents across 

the majority of markets. Rental vacancy rates also continued to drop in 2013, 

both nationwide and in most metros. The US rental vacancy rate stood at 8.3% in 

2013 and, while this is the lowest level observed since 2001, this was still high 

relative to the 7.6% averaged in the 1990s. 

Over the longer term, the Joint Center for Housing expects demand for rental 

housing to continue to grow. Minorities will be the largest driver of rental 

demand because they are on average younger and less likely to own homes than 

whites. Demographics will also play a role. Growth in young adult households 

will increase demand for moderately priced rentals, in part because the oldest 

Millennials reached their late-20s around 2010. Meanwhile, growth among those 

between the ages of 45 and 64 will lift demand for higher-end rentals.  

As the homeownership market recovers, the growth in renter households will 

likely slow. Since much of the increased demand for rental housing has been met 

through the conversion of single-family homes to rentals, future market 

adjustments may come from a return of these units to owner-occupancy. 

Additionally, the echo-boom generation should provide strong demand for 

rental units in the coming years. 

  

109



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-16  

Trends in housing affordability 

Many homeowners pay a disproportionate share of their income on housing, 

with 35% of households in the U.S. who are cost burdened.40 While the share of 

households that are cost burdened fell by about 4% in 2012, the share of 

households that were cost burdened increase between 2001 and 2011 (Figure A- 

4). More than 15% of U.S. households are severely cost burdened. 

Figure A- 4. Share of Cost-burdened Households, 2001-2012 

 

Source: The State of The Nation’s Housing, 2014, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 10. 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/sonhr14-color-full.pdf. 

The Joint Center for Housing Studies points to widening income disparities, 

decreasing federal assistance, and depletion of inventory through conversion or 

demolition as three factors exacerbating the lack of affordable housing. While the 

Harvard report presents a relatively optimistic long-run outlook for housing 

markets and for homeownership, it points to the significant difficulties low- and 

moderate-income households face in finding affordable housing and preserving 

the affordable units that do exist. 

According to the Joint Center for Housing Studies, these statistics understate the 

true magnitude of the affordability problem because they do not capture the 

tradeoffs people make to hold down their housing costs. For example, these 

figures exclude people who live in crowded or structurally inadequate housing 

                                                      

40 Households are considered cost burdened if they spent 30% or more of their gross income on 

housing costs. Households who spent 50% or more of their gross income on housing costs are 

considered severely cost burdened. 

110



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-17  

units. They also exclude the growing number of households that move to 

locations distant from work where they can afford to pay for housing, but must 

spend more for transportation to work. Among households in the lowest 

expenditure quartile, those living in affordable housing, spent an average of $100 

more on transportation per month in 2010 than those who are severely housing 

cost-burdened. With total average monthly outlays of only $1,000, these extra 

travel costs could amount to roughly 10 percent of the entire household budget.  

Demographic trends in housing preference 

Demographic changes likely to affect the housing market and homeownership 

are: 

 The aging of the Baby Boomers, the oldest of whom were in their late-60’s 

in 2012. 

 Housing choices of younger Baby Boomers, who were in their early to mid-

50’s in 2010. 

 The children of Baby Boomers, called the Millennials, who ranged from 

their late teens to late twenties in 2012. 

 Immigrants and their descendants, who are a faster growing group than 

other households in the U.S. 41 

The aging of the Baby Boomers will affect housing demand over the next 

decades. People prefer to remain in their community as they age.42 The 

challenges that aging seniors face in continuing to live in their community 

include: changes in healthcare needs, loss of mobility, the difficulty of home 

maintenance, financial concerns, and increases in property taxes.43 Not all of 

these issues can be addressed through housing or land use policies. 

Communities can address some of these issues through adopting policies that: 

 Diversify housing stock to allow development of smaller, comparatively 

easily-maintained houses in single-family zones, such as single-story 

townhouses, condominiums, and apartments. 

 Allow commercial uses in residential zones, such as neighborhood 

markets.  

                                                      

41 Urban Land Institute, “2011 Emerging Trends in Real Estate” 

42 A survey conducted by the AARP indicates that 90% of people 50 years and older want to stay 

in their current home and community as they age. See http://www.aarp.org/research.  

43 “Aging in Place: A toolkit for Local Governments” by M. Scott Ball.  

111

http://www.aarp.org/research


ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-18  

 Allow a mixture of housing densities and structure types in single-family 

zones, such as single-family detached, single-family attached, 

condominiums, and apartments. 

 Promote the development of group housing for seniors that are unable or 

do not choose to continue living in a private house. These facilities could 

include retirement communities for active seniors, assisted living facilities, 

or nursing homes. 

 Design public facilities so that they can be used by seniors with limited 

mobility. For example, design and maintain sidewalks so that they can be 

used by people in wheelchairs or using walkers. 

Household formation fell to around 600,000 to 800,000 in the 2007-2013 period, 

well below the average rate of growth in previous decades. Despite sluggish 

growth recently, several demographic factors indicate increases in housing 

growth to come.  The Millennial generation (those born after 1985) is the age 

group most likely to form the majority of new households. While low incomes 

have kept current homeownership rates among young adults below their 

potential, Millennials may represent pent-up demand that will release when the 

economy fully recovers. As Millennials age, they may increase the number of 

households in their 30s by 2.4 to 3.0 million over the through 2025.  

While the population of young adults between 20 and 29 years grew in the 2003-

2013 decade by more than 4 million from the previous decade, the rate at which 

members of this age group formed their own households fell. As a result, 

household growth has not kept pace with overall population growth. Even if 

today’s low household formation rates were to persist, however, the aging of the 

Millennials into their 30s will likely raise household headship rates due to 

lifecycle effects. About 60% of all 35–44 year-olds head an independent 

household, compared with less than 42% of all 25–34 year-olds. Thus, the 

Millennial generation, more populous than the Baby Boomers, is expected to be 

the primary driver of new household formation over the next twenty years. 

112



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-19  

Figure A- 5. Homeownership Rates and Incomes for Young and Middle-Aged Adults, 1994-2012 

 
Source: The State of The Nation’s Housing, 2014, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 10. 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/sonhr14-color-full.pdf. 

It is currently unclear what housing choices the Millennials will make. Some 

studies suggest that their parents’ negative experience in the housing market, 

with housing values dropping so precipitously and so many foreclosures, will 

make Millennials less likely to become homeowners. In addition, high 

unemployment and underemployment may decrease Millennials’ earning power 

and ability to save for a down payment. It is not clear, however, that Millennials’ 

housing preferences will be significantly different from their parents over the 

long run.  

Recent surveys suggest that as Millennials age and form families, they will 

increasingly prefer to live in single-family homes in suburban locations. A recent 

survey by the National Association of Homebuilders finds that roughly three-

quarters of Millennials want to live in a single-family home and would prefer to 

live in a suburb, compared to just 10% that would prefer to live in a city center.  

Other recent surveys suggest that Millennials prefer to live in walkable 

communities, where there are alternatives to driving. According to surveys from 

the American Planning Association and Transportation For America, at least 

three quarters of Millennials want their city to offer opportunities to live and 

work without relying on a car. While Millennials may choose housing that 

satisfies these preferences, the cost of living will place parameters on their 

housing choices. According to the APA survey, 71% percent of Millennials rated 

affordable housing as a high priority for metro areas. 

In coming years Millennials will pursue homes that provide a combination of 

space, “walkability,” and affordability. They will demonstrate these preferences 

113



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-20  

in the market soon: according to the APA survey, more than half of Millennials 

consider themselves at least somewhat likely to move within the next five years.44 

From 2004 to 2013, homeownership rates for 25-34 year olds and 35-44 year olds 

fell by around 8% and 9% respectively, with ownership rates for people 25 to 54 

years old at the lowest point since recordkeeping started in 1976 (Figure A- 5).   

Nonetheless, the 25 and 34 year-old age group still makes up the majority of first-

time homebuyers. Young adults in this cohort make up 54.3 percent of first-time 

homebuyers. Their majority among first-time homebuyers means that their 

ability to buy homes will play an important role in growth of the housing market 

in the near future. 

The fall in homeownership among young adults results largely from the decline 

in income. Approximately 6 million more individuals between 20 and 29 years 

earned less than $25,000 than in 2003, while the number of those earning between 

$25,000 and $50,000 fell by over a million. Furthermore, the share of households 

younger than 30 years with student loan debt increased by more than 7% since 

2007, from 33.9% to 41.0%. 

According to the Joint Center for Housing Studies, immigration and increased 

homeownership among minorities will also play a key role in accelerating 

household growth over the next 10 years. Current Population Survey estimates 

indicate that the number of foreign-born households rose by nearly 400,000 

annually between 2001 and 2007, and accounted for nearly 30 percent of overall 

household growth. Beginning in 2008, the influx of immigrants was staunched by 

the effects of the Great Recession. After a period of declines, however, the foreign 

born are again contributing to household growth. Census Bureau estimates of net 

immigration in 2011–12 indicate an increase of 110,000 persons over the previous 

year, to a total of nearly 900,000. Furthermore, as shown in Figure A- 6, the 

Harvard report forecasts that minorities will make up about 76% of the 

household growth between 2015 and 2025. The greater diversity among young 

adults partly explains the increased share of growth that will belong to 

minorities. For example, about 45% of Millennials are minorities, compared to 

28% of Baby Boomers.   

                                                      

44 The American Planning Association, “Investing in Place; Two generations’ view on the future of 

communities.” 2014. “Survey Says: Home Trends and Buyer Preferences,” National Association 

of Home Builders International Builders Show, accessed January, 2015, 

http://www.buildersshow.com/Search/isesProgram.aspx?id=17889&fromGSA=1. “Access to 

Public Transportation a Top Criterion for Millennials When Deciding Where to Live, New 

Survey Shows,” Transportation for America, accessed January 2015, http://t4america.org/wp-

content/uploads/2014/04/Press-Release_Millennials-Survey-Results-FINAL-with-embargo.pdf.  

114



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-21  

Figure A- 6. Share of Households by Racial/Ethnic Group, 2012 and 2015-25 

Source: The State of The Nation’s Housing, 2014, The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University, p. 10. 

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/jchs.harvard.edu/files/sonhr14-color-full.pdf. 

The growing diversity of American households will have a large impact on the 

domestic housing markets. Over the coming decade, minorities will make up a 

larger share of young households, and constitute an important source of demand 

for both rental housing and small homes. This makes the growing gap in 

homeownership rates between whites and blacks and whites and Hispanics 

troubling. Since 2001, the difference in homeownership rates between whites and 

blacks rose from 25.9 to 29.5 in 2013. Similarly the gap between white and 

Hispanic homeownership rates increased since 2008, from below 26%, to over 

27% in 2013. This growing gap between racial and ethnic groups will hamper the 

country’s homeownership rate as minority households constitute a larger share 

of the housing market.   

Trends in Housing Characteristics 

The U.S Census Bureau’s Characteristics of New Housing Report (2013) presents 

data that show trends in the characteristics of new housing for the nation, state, 

and local areas. Several long-term trends in the characteristics of housing are 

evident from the New Housing Report:45 

                                                      

45 https://www.census.gov/construction/chars/highlights.html 

115



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-22  

 Larger single-family units on smaller lots. Between 1990 and 2013 the 

median size of new single-family dwellings increased 25% nationally from 

1,905 sq. ft. to 2,384 sq. ft., and 19% in the western region from 1,985 sq. ft. 

to 2,359 sq. ft. Moreover, the percentage of units fewer than 1,400 sq. ft. 

nationally decreased by almost half, from 15% in 1999 to 8% in 2012. The 

percentage of units greater than 3,000 sq. ft. increased from 17% in 1999 to 

29% of new one-family homes completed in 2013. In addition to larger 

homes, a move towards smaller lot sizes is seen nationally. Between 1990 

and 2013, the percentage of lots less than 7,000 sq. ft. increased from 27% of 

lots to 36% of lots. 

 Larger multifamily units. Between 1999 and 2013, the median size of new 

multiple family dwelling units increased by 2% nationally and 3% in the 

western region. The percentage of new multifamily units with more than 

1,200 sq. ft. increased from 28% in 1999 to 32% in 2013 nationally, and 

increased from 25% to 32% in the western region. 

 More household amenities. Between 1990 and 2013, the percentage of 

single-family units built with amenities such as central air conditioning, 2 

or more car garages, or 2 or more baths all increased. The same trend in 

increased amenities is seen in multifamily units. 

During the recession, the trend towards larger units with more amenities 

faltered. Between 2007 and 2009, for example, the median size of new single-

family units decreased by 6% throughout the nation, including in the West. In 

addition, the share of new units with amenities (e.g., central air conditioning, 

fireplaces, 2 or more car garages, or 2 or more bath) all decreased slightly during 

this time. With the recovery, however, housing sizes have been increasing 

annually; median housing sizes increased by 12% between 2009 and 2013 

nationwide, and 10% in the western region. The short term, post-recession trends 

regarding amenities are mixed, but generally appear to be increasing (albeit more 

slowly than housing sizes). 

It appears that the decreases in unit size and amenities were a short-term trend, 

resulting from the housing crisis. However, numerous articles and national 

studies suggest that these changes may indicate a long-term change in the 

housing market, resulting from a combination of increased demand for rental 

units because of demographic changes (e.g., the aging of the baby boomers, new 

immigrants, and the echo-boomers), as well as changes in personal finance and 

availability of mortgages.46  

                                                      

46 These studies include “Hope for Housing?” by Greg Filsram in the October 2010 issue of 

Planning and “The Elusive Small-House Utopia” by Andrew Rice in the New York Times on 

October 15, 2010. 

116



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-23  

These studies may be correct and the housing market may be in the process of a 

long-term change, with some fluctuations over time in unit size and amenities. 

On the other hand, long-term demand for housing may not be substantially 

affected by the current housing market. The echo-boomers and new immigrants 

may choose single-family detached housing and mortgages may become easier 

to obtain.  

Studies and data analysis have shown a clear linkage between demographic 

characteristics and housing choice. This is more typically referred to as the 

linkage between lifecycle and housing choice and is documented in detail in 

several publications. Analysis of data from the Public Use Microsample (PUMS) 

in the 2000 Census helps to describe the relationship between selected 

demographic characteristics and housing choice. Key relationships identified 

through this data include: 

 Homeownership rates increase as income increases; 

 Homeownership rates increase as age increases; 

 Choice of single-family detached housing types increases as income 

increases; 

 Renters are much more likely to choose multiple family housing types than 

single-family; and 

 Income is a stronger determinate of tenure and housing type choice for all 

age categories. 

STATE DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS 

Oregon’s 2011-2015 Consolidated Plan includes a detailed housing needs analysis 

as well as strategies for addressing housing needs statewide.47 The plan 

concludes that, “Oregon’s changing population demographics are having a 

significant impact on its housing market.” It identified the following population 

and demographic trends that influence housing need statewide. Oregon is: 

 Facing housing cost increases due to higher unemployment and lower 

wages, when compared to the nation.  

 Experiencing higher foreclosure rates since 2005, compared with the 

previous two decades. 

 Losing federal subsidies on about 8% of federally subsidized Section 8 

housing units. 

 Losing housing value throughout the State. 

                                                      

47 http://www.ohcs.oregon.gov/OHCS/HRS_Consolidated_Plan_5yearplan.shtml 

117



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-24  

 Losing manufactured housing parks, with a 25% decrease in the number 

of manufactured home parks between 2003 and 2010. 

 Increasingly older, more diverse, and has less affluent households.48 

REGIONAL AND LOCAL DEMOGRAPHIC TRENDS 

Regional demographic trends largely follow the statewide trends discussed 

above, but provide additional insight into how demographic trends might affect 

housing in Sherwood. Demographic trends that might affect the key assumptions 

used in the baseline analysis of housing need are: (1) the aging population, (2) 

changes in household size and composition, and (3) increases in diversity. This 

section describes those trends. 

The following section presents data tables. In a few places, additional 

explanatory text is included. For the most part, the text describing the 

implications of the tables is in the main part of the document.  

Growing population 

Sherwood has a growing population. Table B- 5 shows population growth in the 

U.S., Oregon, the Portland Region, Washington County, and Sherwood, between 

1990 and 2013.  

Table B- 5. Population in U.S., Oregon, the Portland Region, Washington County, and 

Sherwood, 1990-2013 

 
Source: US Census Bureau Decennial Census 1990 and 2000; Portland State University, Population Research Center 

Note: AAGR is average annual growth rate. 

The housing needs analysis in this report is based on a coordinated household 

forecast from Metro (the November 2012 “Gamma” forecast), which is a 

necessary prerequisite to estimate housing needs. The projection of household 

growth includes areas currently within the city limits, as well as areas currently 

outside the city limits that the City expects to annex for residential uses (most 

notably the Brookman area). We call these areas combined the “Sherwood 

planning area.” 

                                                      

48 State of Oregon Consolidated Plan 2011 to 2015. 

http://www.oregon.gov/ohcs/hd/hrs/consplan/2011_2015_consolidated_plan.pdf 

Area 1990 2000 2013 Number Percent AAGR

U.S. 248,709,873 281,421,906 311,536,594 62,826,721 25% 1.0%

Oregon 2,842,321 3,421,399 3,919,020 1,076,699 38% 1.4%

Portland Region 1,174,291 1,444,219 1,693,600 519,309 44% 1.6%

Population Change 1990 to 2013

Washington County 311,554 445,342 550,990 239,436 77% 2.5%

Sherwood 3,093 11,963 18,575 15,482 501% 8.1%

118



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-25  

Table B-6 presents Metro’s forecast for household growth and new housing 

development in the Sherwood planning area for the 2010 to 2035 period. The 

table shows Metro’s forecast for the Sherwood city limits, areas currently outside 

the city limits that are expected to be annexed by 2035, which are together the 

Sherwood planning area. Table B-6 shows Metro’s forecast for the number of 

households in each of the following years: 

 2010. Metro’s forecast uses an estimate of the number of households in 

2010 as the starting point of the forecast.  

 2025. As part of the forecasting process, Metro developed a forecast of 

households for 2025 to allow jurisdictions an opportunity to review and 

comment on the forecast for growth between 2010 and 2025. 

 2035. Metro’s forecast estimates household growth of 1,343 dwelling units 

or 20%, by 2035. Part of the forecasting process was providing 

jurisdictions an opportunity to review and comment on the forecast for 

growth through 2035.  

Table B-6 also shows Metro’s forecast for the Sherwood West area, which is 

forecast to grow by 4,844 dwelling units by 2035. 

Table B-6. Metro forecast for housing growth, Sherwood planning area, 2010 to 

2035 

 
Source: Metro Gamma Forecast, November 2012  

Note: The Sherwood City Limits are the following Metro Transportation Analysis Zones  

(TAZs): 989 to 997.  

The Brookman area is predominantly in Transportation Analysis Zone 978, with a small area in 988.  

Brookman is an area that the City expects to annex for residential growth over the planning period.  

Sherwood West is parts of Transportation Analysis Zones 1428, 1429, and 1432. 

Sherwood’s housing needs analysis must be based on a 20-year period, but 

Metro’s forecast describes growth over a 25-year period. Table B- 7 shows an 

extrapolation of Metro’s forecast for the 2015 to 2035 period. ECONorthwest 

extrapolated Metro’s forecast to 2015 based on the number of households in 2010 

and the growth rate in the forecast between 2010 and 2025. We assumed that 

little to no growth happened in Brookman or Sherwood West between 2010 and 

2015, an assumption that is supported by the relative lack of building permit 

activity in these areas.  

Year

Sherwood 

City Limits

Brookman 

Area

Sherwood 

Planning 

Area

Sherwood 

West

2010 6,476           101 6,577           270

2025 7,054           215 7,269           316

2035 7,269           651 7,920           5,114

Change 2010 to 2035

Households 793              550              1,343           4,844           

Percent 12% 545% 20% 1794%

AAGR 0.5% 7.7% 0.7% 12.5%

Households

119



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-26  

Table B- 7 shows that the Sherwood planning area will add 1,156 new 

households between 2015 and 2035, with 606 new households inside the existing 

city limits and 550 new households in outside the current city limits in the 

Brookman Area.  

Table B- 7. Extrapolated Metro forecast for housing growth,  

Sherwood planning area, 2015 to 2035 

 
Source: Metro Gamma Forecast, November 2012  

  

Year

Sherwood 

City Limits

Brookman 

Area

Sherwood 

Planning 

Area

Sherwood 

West

2015 6,663           101              6,764           270              

2035 7,269           651              7,920           5,114           

Change 2010 to 2035

Households 606              550              1,156           4,844           

Percent 9% 545% 17% 1794%

AAGR 0.4% 9.8% 0.8% 15.8%

Households

120



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-27  

Aging population 

In 2010, the median age in Sherwood was 34.3 years old, compared to the median 

of 35.3 in Washington County, and the State median of 38.4. Figure B- 7 shows 

the populations of Oregon, the Portland Region, Washington County, and 

Sherwood by age in 2010.  

 Figure B- 7. Population Distribution by Age for Oregon, Sherwood, Oregon, Portland 

Region, Washington County 

 
Source: U.S. Census 2010, Profile of General Population and Housing Characteristics 

Table B- 8 shows population by age in Sherwood for 2000 and 2010. Over the 

2000 to 2010 period, the population of people aged 45 to 64 years old grew the 

fastest, increasing from 1,936 to 3,917, or 102%. 

Table B- 8. Population by Age, Sherwood, 2000 and 2010 

 
Source: U.S. Census 2000 Table P12, U.S. Census 2010 Table P12 

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 

Under 10 

10-19 

20-29 

30-39 

40-49 

50-59 

60-69 

70 and older 

Percent of Population 

A
g
e

 

Sherwood Oregon Portland Region Washington County 

Age Group Number Percent Number Percent Number Percent Share

Under 5 1,351 11% 1,518 8% 167 12% -3%

5-17 2,383 20% 4,589 25% 2,206 93% 5%

18-24 644 5% 939 5% 295 46% 0%

25-44 4,854 41% 5,991 33% 1,137 23% -8%

45-64 1,936 16% 3,917 22% 1,981 102% 5%

65 and over 623 5% 1,240 7% 617 99% 2%

Total 11,791        100% 18,194 100% 6,403           54% 0%

2000 2010 Change 2000-2010

121



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-28  

Figure B- 8 shows the population distribution by generation and age in Oregon 

in 2015. The largest groups are the Millennials (27% of Oregon’s population) and 

the Baby Boomers (25% of Oregon’s population). By 2035, the end of the 

planning period for this analysis, Millennials will be between 35 and 54 years 

old. Baby Boomers will be 71 to 89 years old.  

Figure B- 8. Population Distribution by Generation and Age, Oregon, 2015 

 
Source: Oregon Office of Economic Analysis, “Population, Demographics, and Generations” by Josh Jehner, February 

5, 2015.  

http://oregoneconomicanalysis.com/2015/02/05/population-demographics-and-generations/ 

Figure B- 9 shows the Office of Economic Analysis’s (OEA) forecast of 

population change by age group, from 2015 to 2035, for the Portland Region. By 

2035, people 60 years and older will account for 24% of the population in 

Washington County (up from 18% in 2015). The percent of total population in 

each age group younger than 60 years old will decrease. The age distribution in 

the Portland Region will change in a similar pattern.  

122



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-29  

Figure B- 9. Current and projected population by age, Portland Region and Washington County, 

2015 and 2035 

 
Source: Oregon Office of Economic Analysis. 

http://www.oregon.gov/DAS/OEA/docs/demographic/pop_by_ageandsex.xls 

Increased ethnic diversity 

Figure B-10 shows the percentage of the total population that is of Hispanic or 

Latino origin for Oregon, the Portland Region, and Sherwood, in 2000 and 2009-

2013. Between 2000 and 2009-2013, Hispanic or Latino population increased from 

5% of the population to 6% of the population, adding 550 additional Hispanic or 

Latino residents. Sherwood has a smaller percentage of Hispanic or Latino 

population than the county or regional average.  

Figure B- 10 Hispanic or Latino population by percentage, Oregon, the Portland 

Region, Washington County, Sherwood, in 2000 and 2009-2013 

 
Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF1 Table P008, American Community Survey 2009-2013 Table B03003. 

  

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 

Under 20 

20-39 

40-59 

60 and older 

Percent of Population 

Washington County 

2015 2035 

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 

Under 20 

20-39 

40-59 

60 and older 

Percent of Population 

Portland Region 

2015 2035 

8% 

12% 

8% 

12% 11% 

16% 

5% 
6% 

0% 

2% 

4% 

6% 

8% 

10% 

12% 

14% 

16% 

18% 

2000 2009-2013 2000 2009-2013 2000 2009-2013 2000 2009-2013 

Oregon Portland Region Washington County Sherwood 

123



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-30  

Household size and composition 

Household size 

Table B- 9 shows average household sizes in Oregon, the Portland Region, 

Washington County, and Sherwood in 2000 and the 2009-2013 period.  

Table B- 9. Average household size, Oregon, Portland Region, Washington County, 

and Sherwood, 2000 to 2009-2013. 

 
Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF1 H012, American Community Survey 2009-2013 Table B25010. 

  

Oregon
Portland 

Region

Washington 

County
Sherwood

2000

Average household size 2.51 2.53 2.61 2.77

Owner-occupied units 2.59 2.67 2.75 2.85

Renter-occupied units 2.36 2.30 2.39 2.47

2009-2013

Average household size 2.49 2.54 2.64 2.89

Owner-occupied units 2.55 2.64 2.72 3.00

Renter-occupied units 2.41 2.37 2.53 2.57

Change 2000 to 2009-2013

Average household size -0.02 0.00 0.03 0.12

Owner-occupied units -0.04 -0.02 -0.03 0.15

Renter-occupied units 0.05 0.07 0.14 0.10

124



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-31  

Household composition 

Figure B- 11 shows household composition in Oregon, the Portland Region, 

Washington County, and Sherwood in 2009-2013. A larger share of Sherwood’s 

housing composition is family household with children (47%) compared to that 

of Washington County (33%), the Portland Region (29%), and Oregon (27%). 

Figure B- 11. Household composition, Oregon, Portland Region, Washington County, 

and Sherwood, 2009-2013. 

 
Source: American Community Survey 2009-2013 Tables DP02. 

  

27% 29% 
33% 

47% 

36% 33% 

34% 

30% 

36% 38% 
33% 

23% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Oregon Portland Region Washington 

County 

Sherwood 

Nonfamily households 

Family Households without Children 

Family Households with Children 

125



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-32  

Group Quarters 

Table B- 10 shows the population living in group quarters in Oregon, the 

Portland Region, Washington County, and Sherwood in 2000 and 2010. Only 

seven out of 18,194 Sherwood residents lived in group quarters in 2010, less than 

0.0%. In contrast, 2.3% of Oregon’s population and 1.8% of the Portland region’s 

population lives in group quarters. 

Table B- 10. Persons in group quarters, Oregon, Portland Region, Washington 

County, and Sherwood, 2000 to 2010. 

 
Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF1 Tables P1 and P37, U.S. Census 2010 SF1 Tables P1 and P42 

  

2000 2010

Oregon

Total Population 3,421,399 3,831,074

Persons in Group Quarters 77,491       86,642

Percent in Group Quarters 2.3% 2.3%

Percent in correctional institutions 0.6% 0.6%

Portland Region

Total Population 1,444,219 1,641,036

Persons in Group Quarters 23,667       29,124

Percent in Group Quarters 1.6% 1.8%

Percent in correctional institutions 0.0% 0.0%

Washington County

Total Population 445,342     529,710

Persons in Group Quarters 4,101         6,788

Percent in Group Quarters 0.9% 1.3%

Percent in correctional institutions 0.1% 0.4%

Sherwood
Total Population 11,791       18,194

Persons in Group Quarters 19              7

Percent in Group Quarters 0.2% 0.0%
Percent in correctional institutions 0.0% 0.0%

126



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-33  

Commuting trends 

Commuting within the Portland region is common, with small cities like 

Sherwood seeing the vast majority of workers commute out of the city for work 

and the majority of people working in the city commuting in from other parts of 

the region. Figure B- 12 shows this pattern in Sherwood, with the majority of 

people living in Sherwood commuting out for work and the majority of people 

working in Sherwood commuting into the city for work. 

Figure B- 12. Inflow and Outflow of Employment and Residence in Sherwood, 2011 

 
 Source: U.S. Census Bureau: LED on the Map, http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/themap3/ 

The U.S, Census bases this data on Unemployment Insurance earnings data and the Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW) 

data, combined with administrative data, additional administrative data and data from censuses and surveys. From these data, the 

program creates statistics on employment, earnings, and job flows at detailed levels of geography and industry and for different 

demographic groups. 

  

127

http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/themap3/


ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-34  

 Table B- 11 shows the places where Sherwood residents were employed in 2011. 

More than 90% of Sherwood residents worked outside of the city.   

Table B- 11. Places that residents of Sherwood were employed in, 2011. 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau: LED on the Map, 

http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/themap3/. 

Table B- 12 shows where employees of firms located Sherwood lived in 2011. 

More than 80% of people who worked in Sherwood commuted from outside the 

city. 

Table B- 12. Places where workers in Sherwood lived in 2011 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau: LED on the Map, 

http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/themap3/ 

Location Number Percent

Counties

Washington 3,616 49%

Multnomah 1,803 24%

Clackamas 1,147 16%

Yamhill 338 5%

Maion 330 4%

Clark 71 1%

Polk 13 0%

Columbia 12 0%

All other counties 54 1%

Cities

Portland 1,686 23%

Tigard 660 9%

Sherwood 658 9%

Beaverton 575 8%

Tualatin 575 8%

All other cities 3,230 44%

Total 7,384   100%

Location Number Percent

Counties

Washington 2,013 47%

Clackamas 602 14%

Multnomah 467 11%

Yamhill 460 11%

Marion 224 5%

Clark 76 2%

Linn 52 1%

Lane 46 1%

Polk 44 1%

All other counties 296 7%

Cities

Sherwood 658 15%

Portland 371 9%

Tigard 233 5%

Beaverton 224 5%

Newberg 207 5%

All other cities 2,587 60%

Total 4,280   100%

128

http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/themap3/
http://lehdmap3.did.census.gov/themap3/


ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-35  

MANUFACTURED HOMES 

Manufactured homes are and will be an important source of affordable housing 

in Sherwood. They provide a form of homeownership that can be made available 

to low- and moderate-income households. Cities are required to plan for 

manufactured homes—both on lots and in parks (ORS 197.475-492). 

Generally, manufactured homes in parks are owned by the occupants who pay 

rent for the space. Monthly housing costs are typically lower for a homeowner in 

a manufactured home park for several reasons, including the fact that property 

taxes levied on the value of the land are paid by the property owner rather than 

the manufactured homeowner. The value of the manufactured home generally 

does not appreciate in the way a conventional home would, however. 

Manufactured homeowners in parks are also subject to the mercy of the property 

owner in terms of rent rates and increases. It is generally not within the means of 

a manufactured homeowner to relocate a manufactured home to escape rent 

increases. Living in a park is desirable to some because it can provide a more 

secure community with on-site managers and amenities, such as laundry and 

recreation facilities. 

Sherwood had 258 manufactured homes in 2000 and 155 manufactured homes in 

the 2009-2013 period, a decrease of 103 dwellings. According to Census data, 

roughly 83% of the manufactured homes in Sherwood were owner-occupied in 

the 2009-2013 period. 

OAR 197.480(4) requires cities to inventory the mobile home or manufactured 

dwelling parks sited in areas planned and zoned or generally used for 

commercial, industrial, or high-density residential development. Table B- 13 

presents the inventory of mobile and manufactured home parks within 

Sherwood in 2014. The results show that Sherwood had 4 manufactured home 

parks with 186 spaces and 1 vacant space. 

Table B- 13. Inventory of Mobile/Manufactured Home Parks, City of Sherwood, 2014 

 
Source: Oregon Manufactured Dwelling Park Directory, http://o.hcs.state.or.us/MDPCRParks/ParkDirQuery.jsp. 

  

Name Location Park Type
Total 

Spaces

Vacant 

Spaces

Carriage Park Estates 23077 SW Main St Family 58           0

Crown Court 27300 SW Pacific Hwy Family 14           1

Orland Villa 22200 SW Orland Street Family 24           0

Smith Farm Estates 17197-17180 SW Smith Ave Family 90           0
Total 186 1

129

http://o.hcs.state.or.us/MDPCRParks/ParkDirQuery.jsp


ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-36  

Changes in housing cost 

According to Zillow, the median sales price of a home in Sherwood increased by 

about 30% between 2004 and 2014. Housing prices rose steeply prior to 2007, 

reaching a high of roughly $338,000, before the housing bubble and recession led 

to a period of declining housing prices. Housing prices in Sherwood, while 

following the same general pattern, remain higher than those observed in other 

parts of the region and the State as a whole. 

Housing values 

Figure B- 13 shows the median sales price in Oregon, the Portland MSA, 

Washington County, and Sherwood between 2004-2014. As of January 2015, 

median sales prices in Sherwood were $331,300, higher than in Washington 

County ($281,700), the Portland MSA ($269,900), and Oregon ($241,400).  

Figure B- 13. Median Sales Price, Oregon, Portland MSA, Washington County and Sherwood, 2004-

2014 

 
Source: Zillow Real Estate Research. 

Note: Gaps in Sherwood’s median sales price occur where data was not available. 

  

 $100,000  

 $150,000  

 $200,000  

 $250,000  

 $300,000  

 $350,000  

 $400,000  

Oct
 2

004 

Oct
 2

005 

Oct
 2

006 

O
ct

 2
007

 

Oct
 2

008 

Oct
 2

009 

Oct
 2

010 

O
ct

 2
011 

O
ct

 2
012 

O
ct

 2
013 

Oct
 2

014 

M
e

d
ia

n
 S

a
le

 P
ri

c
e

 (
$

) 

Oregon Washington County Portland MSA Sherwood 

130



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-37  

Figure B- 14 shows median home sales prices for Sherwood and regional cities in 

January 2015. In that month, median home sale prices in Sherwood were about 

$316,500, above sales prices in other Portland westside communities such as 

Tigard, Tualatin, and Beaverton. Median sales prices in Wilsonville and West 

Linn were higher than those in Sherwood. 

Figure B- 14. Median Home Sales Price, Sherwood, Tualatin, Tigard, Beaverton, Hillsboro, Forest 

Grove, Portland, January 2015 

 
Source: Zillow Real Estate Research. 

Figure B- 15 shows median home sales price per square foot for Oregon, the 

Portland MSA, Washington County and Sherwood from 2004-2013. Prices per 

square foot rose in Sherwood from $130 per square foot in October 2004 to $192 

in July 2007. Prices fell after 2007 and rose again starting in 2011. In October 2014, 

the median price per square foot in Sherwood was about $170 dollars, 

comparable to the price in Washington County and the Portland Region (both 

about $170) and above that of the state as a whole ($157 per square foot). 

 $-    

 $50,000  

 $100,000  

 $150,000  

 $200,000  

 $250,000  

 $300,000  

 $350,000  

 $400,000  

 $450,000  

Forest 

Grove 

Hillsboro Beaverton Tualatin Tigard Portland Sherwood Wilsonville West Linn 

131



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-38  

Figure B- 15. Median Sales Price per Square Foot, Oregon, Portland MSA, Washington County and 

Sherwood, 2004-2014 

 
Source: Zillow Real Estate Research. 

Note: Gaps in Sherwood’s median sales price occur where data was not available. 

Figure B- 16 shows median home sales price per square foot for Sherwood and 

regional cities in January 2015. Of the cities sampled, Sherwood had the third-

highest price per square foot, at $176 per square foot. Prices per square foot in 

West Linn and Portland were higher, at $180 and $237 respectively. While 

Sherwood’s prices were the third highest, they compared very closely to other 

cities such as Tigard ($174), Tualatin ($174), Beaverton ($173), and Wilsonville 

($171). 

 $100  

 $125  

 $150  

 $175  

 $200  

O
ct

-0
4 

O
ct

-0
5 

O
ct

-0
6 

Oct
-0

7 

O
ct

-0
8 

O
ct

-0
9 

O
ct

-1
0 

Oct
-1

1 

O
ct

-1
2 

O
ct

-1
3 

O
ct

-1
4 

M
e

d
ia

n
  

S
a

le
 P

ri
c
e

 p
e

r 
S

q
u

a
re

 F
o

o
t 

($
) 

Oregon Washington Portland MSA Sherwood 

132



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-39  

Figure B- 16. Median Sales Price Per Square Foot, Forest Grove, Hillsboro, Wilsonville, Beaverton, 

Tualatin, Tigard, Sherwood, West Linn, and Portland, January 2015. 

 
Source: Zillow Real Estate Research. 

Housing rental costs 

Table B- 14 shows the median contract rent in Oregon, Multnomah, Washington, 

and Clackamas counties, and Sherwood, in 2000 and 2009-2013. The median 

contract in Sherwood in 2009-2013 was $212 above the median in Washington 

County.  

Table B- 14. Median contract rent, inflation-adjusted dollars, Oregon, Multnomah 

Washington, and Clackamas Counties, and Sherwood, 2000 to 2009-2013 

 
Source: U.S. Census 2000 SF3 Table H56, American Community Survey 2012 Table B25058 

Note: All data reported in 2013 dollars; 2000 figures were updated using Consumer Price Index. 

  

$0 

$50 

$100 

$150 

$200 

$250 

Forest Grove Hillsboro Wilsonville Beaverton Tualatin Tigard Sherwood West Linn Portland 

2000
2009-

2013
Amount Percent

Oregon $741 $749 $8 1%

Multnomah County $771 $799 $28 4%

Washington County $878 $852 -$26 -3%

Clackamas County $853 $858 $5 1%

Sherwood $880 $1,064 $184 21%

Rent
Location

Change 2000 to 2009-

2013

133



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-40  

Figure B- 17 shows average rent per square foot for apartments in the 

Portland/Vancouver Metro region and selected submarkets, according to 

Multifamily NW data between 2010 and 2014. Average rent in the 

Tigard/Tualatin/Sherwood area submarket was $1.13 per square foot in Fall 2014, 

lower than the regional average of $1.22 per square foot. Between Spring 2010 

and Spring 2013, average rent in Tigard/Tualatin/Sherwood area increased by 

38%, consistent with the regional increase of 36%.  

Figure B- 17. Average rent per square foot, Portland/Vancouver Metro and selected submarkets, 2010-

2014 

 
Source: Multifamily NW Apartment Reports, Spring 2010 through Fall 2014.  

Note: The average rent price shown on the graph is for Fall 2014 

  

$1.22 
$1.25 

$1.03 

$1.13 
$1.08 

$1.17 

$1.01 

$0.00 

$0.20 

$0.40 

$0.60 

$0.80 

$1.00 

$1.20 

$1.40 

Portland / 

Vancouver Metro 

Lake Oswego / 

West Linn 

Milwaukie Tigard / Tualatin / 

Sherwood 

Wilsonville / Canby Beaverton Oregon City / 

Gladstone 

A
ve

ra
g

e
 r

e
n

t 
p

e
r 

s
q

u
a

re
 f

o
o

t 

Spring 2010 Fall 2010 Spring 2011 Fall 2011 Spring 2012 Fall 2012 Spring 2013 Fall 2013 Spring 2014 Fall 2014 

134



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-41  

Figure B- 18 shows a comparison of gross rent for renter-occupied housing units 

in Oregon, the Portland Region, Washington County, and Sherwood in 2009-

2013.49  

Figure B- 18. Gross rent, renter occupied housing units, Oregon, Portland Region, 

Washington County, and Sherwood, 2009-2013. 

 
Source: American Community Survey 2009-2013 Table B25063. 

  

                                                      

49 The U.S. Census defines gross rent as: “the amount of the contract rent plus the estimated 

average monthly cost of utilities (electricity, gas, and water and sewer) and fuels (oil, coal, 

kerosene, wood, etc.) if these are paid for by the renter (or paid for the renter by someone else).” 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 

No cash rent 

Less than $400 

$400 to $599 

$600 to $799 

$800 to $999 

$1,000 to $1,250 

$1,250 or more 

Percent of Renter-Occupied Housing Units 

G
ro

s
s
 R

e
n

t 

Oregon Portland Region Washington County Sherwood 

135



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-42  

INCOME AND AFFORDABILITY OF HOUSING 

This section summarizes regional and local income and housing cost trends. 

Income is a key determinant in housing choice and a households’ ability to afford 

housing. A review of historical income and housing price trends provides insight 

into the local and regional housing markets. 

The median household income in Sherwood was higher than in nearby counties 

and the state as a whole in the 2009-2013 period. Median household income in 

Sherwood was about $78,400, compared to $64,200 in Washington County, 

$64,400 in Clackamas County, and $52,500 in Multnomah County. Statewide, the 

median income was about $50,300. 

Figure B- 19 shows the distribution of household income in Oregon, the Portland 

Region, and Sherwood in the 2009-2013 period.  Sherwood had the highest share 

of households earning over $100,000 and the lowest share of households earning 

less than $25,000. 

Figure B- 19. Household Income, Oregon, Portland Region, Washington County, and 

Sherwood, 2009-2013. 

 
Source: American Community Survey 2009-2013 Table B19001. 

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 

Less than $24,999 

$25,000 to $49,999 

$50,000 to $74,999 

$75,000 to $99,999 

$100,000 to $149,999 

$150,000 or more 

Percent of Households 

H
o

u
s
e

h
o

ld
 I

n
c
o

m
e

 

Sherwood Oregon 

Portland Region Washington County 

136



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-43  

A typical standard used to determine housing affordability is that a household 

should pay no more than a certain percentage of household income for housing, 

including payments and interest or rent, utilities, and insurance. HUD guidelines 

indicate that households paying more than 30% of their income on housing 

experience “cost burden,” and households paying more than 50% of their income 

on housing experience “severe cost burden.” Using cost burden as an indicator of 

housing affordability is consistent with the Goal 10 requirement to provide 

housing that is affordable to all households in a community. 

According to the U.S. Census, nearly 2,345 households in Sherwood—or 38%—

paid more than 30% of their income for housing expenses in the 2009-2013 

period. About 44% of renter households in Sherwood were cost burdened, 

compared with 35% of owner households. In comparison, 40% of Oregon’s 

households were cost burdened in the 2009-2013 period, with 54% of renter 

households and 32% of owner households cost burdened. 

Figure B- 20 shows the percentage of the population experiencing housing cost 

burdens in Oregon, the Portland Region, Washington County, and Sherwood in 

2009-2013. 

Figure B- 20. Housing cost burden, Oregon, Portland Region, Washington County 

and Sherwood, 2009-2013. 

 
Source: American Community Survey 2009-2013 Tables B25070 and B25091. 

Note: Households which the Census classifies as “Not computed” were excluded from the above calculations. 

Figure B- 21 shows housing cost burden, by tenure, for Sherwood households in 

2009-2013. Forty-four percent of Sherwood’s renter households are cost 

burdened, compared to 49% of renter households in Washington County. Thirty-

38% 38% 41% 40% 

62% 62% 59% 60% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

 Sherwood  Washington County   Portland Region   Oregon 

Cost Burdened Not Cost Burdened 

137



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-44  

five percent of owner households are cost burdened, compared to 31% of owner 

households in Washington County. 

Figure B- 21. Housing cost burden by tenure, Sherwood, 2009-2013. 

 
Source: American Community Survey 2009-2013 Tables B25070 and B25091. 

While cost burden is a common measure of housing affordability, it does have 

some limitations. Two important limitations are:  

 A household is defined as cost burdened if the housing costs exceed 30% 

of their income, regardless of actual income. The remaining 70% of 

income is expected to be spent on non-discretionary expenses, such as 

food or medical care, and on discretionary expenses. Households with 

higher income may be able to pay more than 30% of their income on 

housing without impacting the household’s ability to pay for necessary 

non-discretionary expenses. 

 Cost burden compares income to housing costs and does not account for 

accumulated wealth. As a result, the estimate of how much a household 

44% 

35% 38% 

56% 

65% 62% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Renter Owner All Households 

Cost Burdened Not Cost Burdened 

138



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-45  

can afford to pay for housing does not include the impact of accumulated 

wealth on a household’s ability to pay for housing. For example, a 

household with retired people may have relatively low income but may 

have accumulated assets (such as profits from selling another house) that 

allow them to purchase a house that would be considered unaffordable to 

them based on the cost burden indicator.  

Cost burden is only one indicator of housing affordability. Another way of 

exploring the issue of financial need is to review wage rates and housing 

affordability. Table B- 15 shows an illustration of affordable housing wage and 

rent gap for households in the Portland MSA at different percentages of median 

family income (MFI). The data are for a typical family of four. The results 

indicate that a household must earn $17.73 an hour to afford a two-bedroom unit 

according to HUD's market rate rent estimate. 

Table B- 15. Affordable Housing Wage Gap, Portland MSA, 2014 

 
Source: FMR comes from HUD's FY 2014 Two-Bedroom FMR for Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro MSA. Minimum wage from Oregon's Bureau of 

Labor and Industries. MFI from HUD's FY 2014 MFI for Portland- Vancouver -Hillsboro MSA.  

Table B- 16 shows a rough estimate of affordable housing cost and units by 

income levels for Sherwood in 2014 based on Census data about household 

income, the value of owner-occupied housing in Sherwood, and rental costs in 

Sherwood. Several points should be kept in mind when interpreting this data: 

 Affordable monthly housing costs and estimate of affordable purchase 

prices are based on HUD income standards and assume that a 

household will not spend more than 30% of household income on 

housing costs. Some households pay more than 30% of household 

income on housing costs, generally because they are unable to find more 

affordable housing or because wealthier households are able to pay a 

larger share of income for housing costs.  

 HUD’s affordability guidelines for Fair Market Rent are based on 

median family income and provide a rough estimate of financial need. 

These guidelines may mask other barriers to affordable housing such as 

move-in costs, competition for housing from higher-income households, 

Value
Minimum 

Wage
30% MFI 50% MFI 80% MFI 100% MFI 120% MFI

Annual Hours 2,080       2,080      2,080      2,080     2,080      2,080       

Derived Hourly Wage $9.10 $10.01 $16.68 $26.69 $33.37 $40.04 

Annual Wage $18,928 $20,820 $34,700 $55,520  $69,400 $83,280 

Annual Affordable Rent $5,678 $6,246 $10,410 $16,656 $20,820 $24,984 

Monthly Affordable Rent $473 $521 $868 $1,388 $1,735 $2,082 

HUD Fair Market Rent (2 Bedroom) $922 $922 $922 $922 $922 $922 

Is HUD Fair Market Rent Higher Than The Monthly Affordable Rent? Yes Yes Yes No No No

Rent Paid Monthly OVER 30% of Income $449 $402 na na na na

Rent Paid Annually OVER 30% of Income $5,386 $4,818 na na na na

Percentage of Income Paid OVER 30% of Income for Rent 28% 23% na na na na

Percentage of Income Spent on Housing 58% 53% 32% 20% 16% 13%

For this area what would the "Affordable Housing Wage" be? $17.73 $17.73 $17.73 $17.73 $17.73 $17.73 

The Affordable Housing Wage Gap IS: $8.63 $7.72 $1.05 na na na

139



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-46  

and availability of suitable units. They also ignore other important 

factors such as accumulated assets, purchasing housing as an 

investment, and the effect of down payments and interest rates on 

housing affordability. 

 Households compete for housing in the marketplace. In other words, 

affordable housing units are not necessarily available to low-income 

households. For example, if an area has a total of 50 dwelling units that 

are affordable to households earning 30% of median family income, 50% 

of those units may already be occupied by households that earn more 

than 30% of median family income. 

The data in Table B- 16 indicate that in 2014: 

 About 20% of households in Sherwood could not afford a two-bedroom 

apartment at HUD's fair market rent level of $922. 

 A household earning median family income ($69,400) could afford a 

home valued up to about $173,500. 

 Sherwood has a deficit of about 660 dwellings to households earning 

less than $35,000 (or 50% of the Portland metropolitan area’s median 

family income). 

 Table B- 16. Rough estimates of housing affordability, Sherwood, 2009-2013 

 
Source: FMR comes from HUD's FY 2014 Two-Bedroom FMR for Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro MSA. Minimum wage from Oregon's Bureau of 

Labor and Industries. MFI from HUD's FY 2014 MFI for Portland-Vancouver-Hillsboro MSA; Data about the share of owner and renter households 

and their income in Sherwood comes from the American Community Survey, 2009-2013 Tables B25075, B25063, B19001.  

  

Income Level
Number 

of HH
Percent

Affordable 

Monthly Housing 

Cost

Crude Estimate of 

Affordable Purchase 

Owner-Occupied Unit

Est. Number 

of Owner 

Units

Est. Number 

of Renter 

Units

Surplus 

(Deficit)

HUD Fair Market 

Rent (FMR) in 

2014

Less than $10,000 186 3% $0 to $250 $0 to $25,000 44 60 (82)

$10,000 to $14,999 280 4% $250 to $375 $25,000 to $37,000 40 69 (171)

$15,000 to $24,999 364 6% $375 to $625 $37,500 to $62,500 35 36 (293)

$25,000 to $34,999 298 5% $625 to $875 $62,500 to $87,500 71 111 (116)

Studio: $666

1 bdrm: $774

$35,000 to $49,999 618 10% $875 to $1,250 $87,500 to $125,000 77 510 (31) 2 bdrm: $922

$50,000 to $74,999 1,333 21% $1,250 to $1,875 $125,000 to $187,500 360 678 (295)

3 bdrm: $1,359

4 bdrm: $1,633

Portland  MSA 2014 MFI: $69,400 $1,735 $173,500

$75,000 to $99,999 922 14% $1,875 to $2,450 $187,500 to $245,000 748 172 (2)

$100,000 to $149,999 1,543 24% $2,450 to $3,750 $245,000 to $375,000 2,172 23 652

$150,000 or more 836 13% More than $3,750 More than $375,000 1,151 23 338

  Total 6,380 100% 4,698 1,682 0

140



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  B-47  

Table B- 17 shows that between 2000 and 2009-2013, both median household 

income and housing values increased substantially, with increases in home value 

outpacing growth in income. Median household income increased between 2000 

and the 2009-2013 period. 

Housing in Sherwood has become less affordable since 2000, consistent with 

county and statewide trends. In 2009-2013, the median home value was 3.8 times 

the median household income in Sherwood, up from 2.9 in 2000.  

Housing in Sherwood is relatively affordable, compared to the county and state. 

In 2009-2013, the median home value was 4.4 times the median household 

income in Washington County, with a statewide average of 4.7. 

Table B- 17. Household income to home value, 2013 dollars, Oregon, Washington 

County, and Sherwood, 2000 and 2009-2013. 

 
Source: Census 2000 SF1 P53 P77 P82 P87, SF3 H7 H63 H76, American Community Survey 2009-2013 DP03, 

B25003, B25064, B25077.

Number Percent

Oregon

Median HH Income $57,282 $50,229 -$7,053 -12%

Median Owner Value $204,120 $238,000 $33,880 17%

Ratio of Home Value to Income 3.56 4.74 1.17 33%

Change 2000 to 2013
2000 2009-2013

Washington County

Median HH Income $72,971 $64,180 -$8,791 -12%

Median Owner Value $252,560 $282,400 $29,840 12%

Ratio of Home Value to Income 3.46 4.40 0.94 27%

Sherwood

Median HH Income $87,525 $78,355 -$9,170 -10%

Median Owner Value $254,100 $300,300 $46,200 18%

Ratio of Home Value to Income 2.90 3.83 0.93 32%

141



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  C-1  

Appendix C: Alternative Housing Forecasts 

Metro’s forecast for new housing in Sherwood shows that households will grow 

at less than 1% per year. In comparison, Sherwood’s population grew at 3.4% per 

year between 2000 and 2013 and 8% per year between 1990 and 2013. This 

appendix presents three alternatives to Metro’s forecast for growth in Sherwood.  

Table C- 1 shows three alterative forecasts for population growth in Sherwood 

for the 2015 to 2035 period. The estimate of population in 2014 is for Sherwood 

city limits based on the official population estimate from Portland State 

University’s Population Research Center. The alternative forecasts are: 

 Low growth at 2% growth per year. This forecast assumes that Sherwood 

will grow at 2% per year, which is faster than the Portland Region’s growth 

rate over the 1990 to 2013 period (1.6%) and slower than Washington 

County’s growth rate over the same period (2.5%). At this growth rate, the 

would add 9,800 people over the 20-year period.  

 Middle growth at 3% growth per year. This forecast assumes that 

Sherwood will grow at 3% per year, which is a little slower than the City 

grew over the 1990 to 2013 period (3.4%). At this growth rate, the would 

add 16,300 people over the 20-year period.  

 High growth at 4% growth per year. This forecast assumes that Sherwood 

will grow at 4% per year, which is a little faster than the City grew over the 

1990 to 2013 period (3.4%). At this growth rate, the would add 24,200 

people over the 20-year period.  

Table C- 1. Alternative population forecast, Sherwood, 2015 to 2035 

 
Source: 2014 population from Portland State University’s Population Research  

Center; Calculations by ECONorthwest 

The forecast of number of new housing units in Table C- 2 uses the following 

assumptions: 

 Group Quarters. According to the 2009-2013 American Community 

Survey, Sherwood has fewer than 0.1% of its population in group quarters. 

This forecast assumes no growth in group quarters. 

Low Middle High

2014 18,955 18,955 18,955

2015 19,334 19,524 19,713

2035 28,729 35,263 43,194

Change 2015 to 2035

Population 9,774 16,308 24,239

Percent 52% 86% 128%

AAGR 2.0% 3.0% 4.0%

142



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  C-2  

 Household size. According to the 2009-2013 American Community 

Survey, Sherwood household size is 2.89 persons per household. This 

forecast assumes that the household size in Sherwood will hold constant 

over the planning period. 

 Vacancy Rate. According to the 2009-2013 American Community Survey, 

Sherwood’s vacancy rate was 2.7%. This forecast assumes that the that 

Sherwood’s average vacancy rate will hold stable over the planning period. 

Table C- 2. Alternative housing forecast, Sherwood, 2015 to 2035 

 
Source: American Community Survey 5-year Estimate for 2009-2013 for Group Quarters, Average Household Size, 

and Vacancy rates; Calculations by ECONorthwest 

Table C- 3 uses the same assumptions about housing mix used in the housing 

needs analysis (Table 2), consistent with the requirements of OAR 660-007. Half 

of Sherwood’s housing growth will be single-family detached, 10% will be 

single-family attached, and 40% will be multifamily.  

Table C- 3. Alternative housing forecast by type of housing, Sherwood, 2015 to 

2035 

 
Source: ECONorthwest 

Table C- 4 uses the assumptions about the allocation of new housing to 

Sherwood’s existing plan designations used in the housing needs analysis (Table 

3). The capacity shown in Table C- 4 is capacity for vacant and partially vacant 

land within the Sherwood city limits and Brookman Area used in the housing 

needs analysis (Table 7). In the discussion below, we assume the capacity in 

Variable Low Middle High

Change in persons 9,774        16,308       24,239      

minus Change in persons in group quarters -           -            -            

equals Persons in households 9,774        16,308       24,239      

Average household size 2.89 2.89 2.89

New occupied DU 3,382        5,643        8,387        

times Aggregate vacancy rate 2.7% 2.7% 2.7%

equals Vacant dwelling units 91            152           226           

Total new dwelling units (2015-2035) 3,473 5,795 8,613

Annual average of new dwelling units 174 290 431

Variable Low Middle High

Total new dwelling units (2015-2035) 3,473 5,795 8,613

Dwelling units by structure type

Single-family detached

Percent single-family detached DU 50% 50% 50%

equals Total new single-family detached DU 1,737 2,898 4,307

Single-family attached

Percent single-family attached DU 10% 10% 10%

equals Total new single-family attached DU 347 580 861

Multifamily

Percent multifamily detached DU 40% 40% 40%

Total new multifamily DU 1,389 2,318 3,445

equals Total new dwelling units (2015-2035) 3,473 5,796 8,613

143



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  C-3  

Sherwood West will be between 3,300 and 6,500 dwelling units, depending on 

zoning and other development regulations (Table 8). 

Table C- 4. Alternative comparison of capacity of existing residential land with 

demand for new dwelling units, dwelling units, Sherwood planning area, 2015 to 

2035 

 
Source: ECONorthwest 

Table C- 4 shows that Sherwood has a deficit of capacity housing under all of the 

alternative forecasts for land within the city limits and Brookman Area. The 

analysis in Table C- 4 leads to the following conclusions:   

If Sherwood grows at 2% average population growth per year (slower than 

growth since 2000): 

 All new growth could be accommodated in the city limits and Sherwood 

West, even if the Brookman Area is not annexed. 

 Land within Sherwood’s city limits and Brookman area could 

accommodate about seven to ten years worth of growth at this rate. Land 

within Sherwood’s city limits only could accommodate about five years 

worth of growth at this rate.  

 Assuming the Brookman Area is annexed, Sherwood West would need to 

be within the UGB, annexed, and serviced by about 2022 to 2025 to allow 

Sherwood to be able to continue to grow. 

Zone

Capacity 

(Needed 

Densities)

Housing 

Demand

Comparison 

Capacity minus 

Demand

(dwelling units)

Low Forecast

Very Low Density Residential 76 191 (115)

Low Density Residential 144 365 (221)

Medium Density Residential-Low 416 1,077 (661)

Medium Density Residential-High 318 932 (614)

High Density Residential 327 909 (582)

Low Total 1,281 3,474 (2,193)

Middle Forecast

Very Low Density Residential 76 319 (243)

Low Density Residential 144 609 (465)

Medium Density Residential-Low 416 1,797 (1,381)

Medium Density Residential-High 318 1,557 (1,239)

High Density Residential 327 1,516 (1,189)

Middle Total 1,281 5,798 (4,517)

High Forecast

Very Low Density Residential 76 474 (398)

Low Density Residential 144 904 (760)

Medium Density Residential-Low 416 2,670 (2,254)

Medium Density Residential-High 318 2,313 (1,995)

High Density Residential 327 2,253 (1,926)

High Total 1,281 8,614 (7,333)

144



ECONorthwest     Sherwood Housing Needs Analysis – DRAFT  C-4  

 If the Brookman Area does not annex or Sherwood West is not 

development-ready by 2025 (or sooner), Sherwood is likely to grow slower 

than 2% over the 2015 to 2025 period. 

 Given the cyclic nature of development and growth and time necessary for 

development to happen, Sherwood West would need to be brought into 

the UGB during the next evaluation period for the Metro UGB and concept 

planning, annexation, and facility planning would need to be completed 

relatively quickly. If Sherwood West is not prepared for development early 

in the 2015 to 2035 period, Sherwood is likely to grow substantially slower 

as a result of the scarcity of buildable land in the city.  

If Sherwood grows at 3% average population growth per year (a little slower 

than growth since 2000): 

 All new growth could be accommodated in the city limits, Brookman Area, 

and Sherwood West, assuming that the Sherwood West develops with an 

average density of at least 8 dwelling units per acre. 

 All new growth could be accommodated in the city limits and Sherwood 

West, if the Brookman Area is not annexed, assuming that the Sherwood 

West develops with an average density of at least 10 dwelling units per 

acre. 

 Land within Sherwood’s city limits and Brookman area could 

accommodate about four to five years worth of growth at this rate. Land 

within Sherwood’s city limits only could accommodate about three years 

worth of growth at this rate. 

 Assuming the Brookman Area is annexed, Sherwood West would need to 

be within the UGB, annexed, and serviced by about 2019 to 2020. 

 The fact that the Brookman Area is not annexed and there is a significant 

amount of planning and facilities work to do before Sherwood West is 

development-ready, it is unlikely that Sherwood will grow at this rate. 

If Sherwood grows at 4% average population growth per year (a little faster 

than growth since 2000): 

 All new growth could be nearly accommodated in the city limits and 

Sherwood West, if the Brookman Area is not annexed, assuming that the 

Sherwood West develops with an average density of at least 12 dwelling 

units per acre. 

 The fact that the Brookman Area is not annexed and there is a significant 

amount of planning and facilities work to do before Sherwood West is 

development-ready, it is almost certain that Sherwood will not grow at this 

rate. 

145


	April 2 CAC Meeting Agenda
	Februrary 5, 2015 CAC Meeting Summary
	Project Organizational Chart
	Sherwood West Citizen Advisory Committee Charter 
	Sherwood West PI Plan 
	Sherwood West Existing Conditions Summary 
	Sherwood HNA Summary 
	HNA March 25 2015
	Blank Page



